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HEARING ON UNDERSTANDING VIOLENT CHILDREN
April 28, 1998

U.S. House of Representatives
Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families
Committee on Education and the Workforce
Washington, DC

The Subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:05 P.M., in Room 2175, Rayburn House
Office Building, Hon. Frank Riggs [Chairman of the Subcommittee] presiding.

Present: Representatives Riggs, Greenwood, Peterson, Payne, Roemer, Scott, Kucinich, and
McCarthy.

Staff present: Sally Lovejoy, Senior Education Policy Advisor; Lynn Selmser, Professional
Stuaff; Rich Stombres, Legislative Assistant; Alex Nock, Minority Legislative Associate;
Roxana Folescu, Minority Staff Assistant; Cheryl Johnson, Minority Legislative Associate, and
June Harris, Minority Education Coordinator.

Chairman Riggs. (presiding] I'm calling the Subcommittee to order, and I want thank my
colleagues for their attendance and participation and want to thank our audience for being here
as well today. I'm sure I join with my colleagues in telling our witnesses that we very much
look forward to their timely and, I'm sure, insightful testimony on the very important topic
before the House Subcommiittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families today, which is an
endeavor to understand violent children, and to do that in light of the recent tragic episodes of
youth violence that have taken place in and around schools in rural communities in the country.

I'm Frank Riggs, and I represent the first district of California and chair the Subcommittee.
And before I became a Congressman, in my previous life, and I guess I could say in the real
world, I worked as a police officer and deputy sheriff in California Jaw enforcement for a
number of years. And.I want to tell you that I am personally, despite my professional
background in law enforcement, amazed at the increasingly violent acts that our children
commit. . This was certainly not a part of my experience as a Jaw enforcement officer. Those
incidences when young people, particularly young people at such a tender age, were involved
in violent crimes perpetrated on their peers were very, very rare. It seems to, however, have

.- become more commonplace, and, therefore, as I look back on my experience in the late
1970's, early 1980's, in Jaw enforcement, I really must shake my head at how much California
and how much: American society has changed in so little time.

This Subcommittee has been working now for a period of a year and a half about the entire
length of this current session of Congress, the 105th meeting of Congress in our country's
history, to enact Jegislation that would help prevent and reduce juvenile crime.

9y
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We've had an opportunity to hear from researchers, law enforcement officials, prosecutors,
social workers, and individuals that operate prevention programs for young people at risk of
engaging in deviant or delinquent behavior. We've heard from individuals around the country
to operate successful prevention and intervention programs, and we've also heard from those,
and there are many voices, both in and out of Congress, who advocate increased penalties for
violent crimes perpetrated by young people, and so that our young people who are present here
today know exactly what I'm talking about. They advocate trying more young people as adults
under our criminal and juvenile justice system when they commit serious, oftentimes violent,
felony crimes for which they could be incarcerated in prisons if they committed those same
acts as adults. However, there hasn't been enough focus, in my opinion, on why children
commit violent crimes. i -

And I want to say at the outset of our hearing today that we're really gathered here largely at
the initiative of Congressman Jim Greenwood, my colleague from Pennsylvania who worked
with me, and Congressman Bobby Scott from Virginia, in crafting a bipartisan juvenile crime
control measure that is both tough on punishment and smart on prevention. And Bobby, who
will be acting as the ranking Democrat today, just whispered on the side to me that I should
also mention Congressman Marty—Matthew Martinez, my good friend who is the ranking
Member of the Subcommittee who also played a very instrumental role in crafting that
legislation.

In fact, it was when we were in southern California to conduct a field hearing on the
legislation, in or near Congressman Martinez's district, that we heard juvenile probation and
law enforcement officials talk about "kids in pajamas.” ‘And this was a kind of a term that they
used to describe the phenomenon of the younger siblings who were present in the home,
oftentimes dressed in their pajamas, as the older sibling was being taken into custody.

This official who told us about the "pajama kids" was talking about the necessity of going
beyond merely taking into custody the young person charged with the crime to actually target
the younger siblings in the household who, as a result in part of their sibling's behavior, were
very much at risk of also becoming involved in delinquent or criminal activity and often at risk

-of becoming, if you will, the next generation of juvenile offenders.

We know this isn’t an easy job. We know that successful juvenile crime control programs
have to focus on education, job training, after-school activities as methods of preventing
juvenile crime.

I'd like to believe that the legislation, the bipartisan legislation, that we crafted is both tough
on punishment and smart on prevention. It focuses a lot on, as I've alluded, on early
intervention. '

But I'm also hopeful that today's witnesses can shine additional light on this topic. In
particular, I hope that we will be able to hear from them if they know, or if there's a way to
determine, the precursors of violent behavior stemming from factors that manifest themselves
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in individual families and in society as a whole.

As I mentioned, our legislation has passed the House of Representatives. Maybe I didn't
mention that, but it did on an overwhelming basis, or overwhelmingly bipartisan basis, and is
now pending in the United States Senate. And we might use the occasion of today's hearing to
urge our colleagues in the Senate, or the other body, as we refer to them, to give this
legislation the priority attention that it deserves.

Just a couple of other quick background facts before I recognize my colleagues, in particular,
because I see that we have so many young people here today:

We know that the recent shootings were very young children, sometimes as young as ages 13
and 11, who have been charged with committing violent acts. There has been a fair amount of
speculation in the media as to why these young people act in such a violent manner with
seemingly little remorse, or even understanding, of the consequences of their actions.

According to the Uniformed Crime Reports, which are published by the FBI and the
Department of Justice, in 1996 alone—I guess these are the most recent statistics that are
available—there were a total of 102,231 arrests of children and youth under the age of 18, that
is to say, under the age of adulthood, for violent crimes; 1,344 of these youth were under the
age of 10. That just doesn't seem possible to me because I have a very precocious daughter
who is 11 going on 21.

[Laughter.]
And 6,610 crimes were committed by young people ages 10 to 12.

Although adolescent years are often viewed as years of turmoil, especially for the parents—
(Laughter.]—when youth are more prone to be engaged in delinquent acts, the commission of
violent acts by younger children, younger and younger children, has caused a great deal of
concern among the law enforcement community and others working with our young people.

In addition, there's growing alarm about the severity of the acts, the violent acts, in our
Nation's schools, and concern has been expressed that children cannot learn, obviously, in an
environment where they fear for their own safety.

According to a recent report by the National Center for Education Statistics entitled, "Violence
and Discipline Problems in U.S. Public Schools 1996-1997," more than half of U.S. public
schools reported experiencing at least one crime incident during the course of the school year.
And 1 in 10 schools reported at least one serious violent crime during that school year. The
executive summary of the report has been made available to the members of the committee
and, obviously, is available to the public.

In order to effectively address the issue of violent behavior in young people, it's important to

understand, as I said earlier, why youth are inclined to commit violent acts. Over the years, a
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number of factors have been advanced and linked to youth violence, including child abuse;
failure to achieve a bonding or attachment with the parent or parents or another adult
caretaker; the problem of absentee fathers, which is still too widespread in our society; access
to firearms; media influences, and exposure to violence in the family or even in the local
community. And again, we are hoping that our witnesses today will discuss these factors and
successful interventions. ‘

The last thing that I want to say in my opening comments is that I personally believe that,
despite all the work that this committee has done on education and prevention initiatives, there
is nothing more important than personal morality and the lessons that we teach our kids. And
I'm afraid that too many of our young people are getting a message today from adult role
models, or particularly those of us in positions of public responsibility. We're in the public
eye and where I think we should be held up to a higher standard, and we should understand
that we must conduct ourselves as moral exemplars, especially for our young people. And
they're getting a message, I think, all too often that's a little bit confused.

And so I want to say today, unequivocally, to our young people attending and to the young
people who might view these proceedings that, "The truth matters and character counts,”
despite what you may occasionally hear from Washington.

The problems that plague our Nation—the problems that plague our Nation arise, in my view,
primarily from bad moral choices made by adults, whether it's illegitimacy or crime, drugs,
divorce, drug abuse, child abuse and neglect, pornography, or abortion. It’s the full litany,
and in my personal view, the most pressing issue affecting child welfare—and again, I'll be
interested to have our witnesses to respond to this point—is family breakdown.

So, I conclude by suggesting that we need to focus more on the spiritual state of our Nation—
which is, after all, our real national product—and we can begin that task by making personal
accountability as important as fiscal accountability in our country.

With that, I turn to my colleague, the ranking Member of —the acting, ranking Member of the
Subcommittee today, Congressman Scott, for his opening comments.

Mr. Scott. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I'm pleased to join you and other colleagues at this
very important hearing. I know all of us are looking forward to the testimony from the expert
panel of witnesses that are in attendance today.

Violent behavior by children in youth has always been a concern for educators, parents, and
families. However, recent incidents in Jonesboro, Arkansas, and Kentucky, and now in
Pennsylvania, have brought the extreme scrutiny to the causal factors of violent acts by
children in youth. Regardless of whether the violent behavior involved guns, knives, or other
weapons, or whether it happened during the school day, or—as in Edinboro—at a school
function, all such acts leave many in society—and this Member included—confused and
saddened.
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Our research has shown that a history of family violence and abuse of drugs and alcohol can
contribute to violent behavior. We need to know to what extent other factors also play a role,
and most importantly, what we can do as legislators and concerned citizens to limit acts of
violence. -

Earlier, this Congress—as you mentioned, Mr. Chairman—the House, on a bipartisan basis,
approved a juvenile justice bill which was the culmination of many hours of work between
myself, Chairman Riggs, ranking Member Martinez, and Representative Greenwood. This bill
centered heavily on prevention rather than punishment, reinforcing the family and community
rather than tearing it apart.

Unfortunately, the House also passed another juvenile justice bill. That bill focused entirely on
the punishment side of the delinquency equation.

Clearly, there are differences of opinion as to which focus to take in reducing violent behavior
among our children. We already lock up more children and more adults than anywhere on
earth. So obviously, the punishment side has gotten all that we can possibly get from a
juvenile delinquency prevention basis, and we need to focus more on the prevention initiatives.

Mr. Chairman, I noticed from the witness list that this list of witnesses is uncharacteristic and
a stark contrast to the witnesses we usually have on criminal justice issues because their
background is from a scientific perspective, research based, and will provide us with some
things we can actually do to reduce crime, rather than the presentations that we usually get
which are basically an emotional appeal to help us get elected.

So I'm looking forward to some constructive testimony from the witnesses, and I want to
congratulate you on your selection of witnesses and look forward to their testimony today.
Thank you.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Congressman Scott, and I just want to, again, say for the record
that our legislation, H.R. 1818, would not have moved through the House with such
overwhelmingly bipartisan support without the hard work of Congressman Scott. He was
absolutely key to drafting that legislation.

I next turn to Congressman Greenwood, but before I recognize him for his opening remarks, I
want to sort of make a—if you will—a housekeeping statement, or administrative statement.

At the conclusion of Members' opening statements, I'm going to ask Congressman Greenwood
to take the Chair and conduct the rest of today's Subcommittee hearing. Iintend to stay. I'm
very much looking forward to the testimony of our witnesses, but I think it's more appropriate,
since we wouldn't be convened today without Jim's leadership on this particular issue, that he
chair the remainder of the Subcommittee hearing. Congressman Greenwood.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you for that courtesy. It's very much
appreciated.

o



There has been juvenile crime forever. There have been acts of violence perpetrated by young
people. There have been seriously mentally ill children who have committed horrific acts. But
the reason that I thought we should have this hearing is that the recent series of incidences of
shootings on schoolyards seems to me to tell us something that I can't quite get my arms
around, and that's why we've asked these experts to come in and try to give us a hand.

There is something about the level of the detachment from the consequences of this behavior
that strikes m= as profoundly different from what our world has known before. There is
something about the ability of these kids to objectify their victims. It strikes me as very
different. There's something about the randomness of the choice of victims. These weren't
people of which necessarily grudges were held or there was some history of conflict, but just
the terrible randomness that has produced this range of behavior that seems to me to be just
outside of the margins of what we're used to. It just seems to be a lack of bookends, if you
will, to the behavior that kids, our young kids, are contemplating.

The purpose of our hearing today is to begin to gain a better understanding of what causes
certain children to commit partiqularly deadly crimes.

I want to thank each of our witnesses ahead of time for joining us as we seek to make sense of
this profoundly disturbing phenomena.

This is not—you're academics, but this is not an academic exercise for us. On the contrary,
there's an urgency to our purpose here. The senseless and tragic schoolyard murders in recent
months has caused every American to answer a question for which we have no answer and that
is why.

Research has pointed to both family and cultural factors 'such as child abuse, failure to bond
with parent or significant other, media violence—I'd add Nintendo and that sort of what's
available on the computers, absent fathers, peer influences, the availability of firearms,
exposure to family and community violence, and there's also been the note in these recent
cases that the perpetrators of these crimes have all been males. What does that tell us? And
nearly—up until this last incident, the victims were all schoolgirls and female teachers. What
can we understand about that?

In just the past few days, an eighth grade student from a rural school district in my own State
of Pennsylvania, stands accused of murdering a teacher he may not even have known. And we
were all stunned, I think, by the videotapes of the young man in the back seat of a police car
within, I assume, an hour of these cold-blooded murders laughing and looking for some sort of
reaction from his peers. :

This comes hard on the heels of another deadly encounter where two young boys from
Arkansas—one as young as 11—turned a schoolyard, their own schoolyard, into a killing field.
Jonesboro, Arkansas; Stamps, Arkansas; Paducah, Kentucky; Norwalk, California; Pearl,
Mississippi; and now little Edinboro, Pennsylvania, will no longer be remembered for their
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school’s championship seasons, but for the deadly, senseless violence that happened there.

And as frightening as this is, these are not mere isolated incidences. Our witnesses already
know what I am about to say, but it bears repeating. Nearly 3 million thefts and violent crimes
occurred on, or near, school campuses in 1993, alone. Guns in schools have reached the point
where approximately one in four major school districts now use metal detectors for the
entrance of the children to the buildings. Between 1985 and 1992, the number of homicides
committed by young people doubled. How ironic this awful and senseless violence takes place
against a backdrop of a nation whose wealth is unparalleled, whose military might is
unchallenged, whose technology is unsurpassed, and whose opportunity for an abundant future
is unmatched. :

I have been pondering in recent months the strange dichotomy between our wealth of things
and the increasing poverty of our culture. And I am increasingly reminded of the words of
Charles Dickens when he begins the "Tale of Two Cities,” it was, he wrote, "The best of times
and it was the worst of times. "

I began—the Chairman mentioned he has a career in law enforcement. I began my career as a
social worker and where I worked with troubled children, abused children, neglected children,
and with their families. And I know from experience, how traumatized children can become.
But, I will tell you that nothing has prepared me—or I don't think any of us—for a nation in
which an average of approximately 14 children, nearly 1 every 100 minutes, dies each day
from a violent act. :

While this violence is deeply disturbing, it is important to remember it is not the norm.
Millions of our sons and daughters will have a happy and productive school year again this
year. They'll play in the schoolyard. They'll join the chess club. They'll compete in girls'
softball leagues. They'll go to dances, and they'll play with their friends. And they're not
planning to steal anyone's "Walkman," they're. planning to steal second base. And if they die
in school, it will only be of embarrassment.

But unless we understand the causes behind the alarming number of violent acts by young
children, then we will watch these horrific scenes repeated across our Nation. Our obligation
is to try to understand why some children become so completely detached from acts of deadly
violence and whether the causes of this violence are, in fact, affecting all of our children.

And we look forward to the witnesses testifying. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I yield back.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Jim, for your eloquent opening statement. Congressman
Roemer.

Mr. Roemer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I, first of all, want to join my ranking Member
today, Mr. Scott, from the State of Virginia, in holding out our hands as Democrats to the
Republican party on a very, very serious issue and extend all the helping hands that we can in
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trying to find some solutions to this vexing and growing-problem in our nation.

As a father of three children, and as a representative that represents thousands of children in
my home State of Indiana, I worry when my children go to school with a cold. I worry when
my children get called a name on the playground. I worry if my children miss a couple days .
of school and fall behind in their academics. It is almost unfathomable to me to have to begin
to worry—as some of our parents are across this country—about the-impact on safety for our
children simply surviving in school. Simply surviving from guns or violence.

So [ think that this effort to try to understand better this growing violence in our Nation's
school, try to understand better what causes it, try to better understand why children resort to
this, try to better understand how we prevent it in the future.

I know that we've experienced this terrible loss in Arkansas where we lost six children and a
teacher who committed an heroic act. I don't think, you know—that's replicated only in—
almost only in situations of combat overseas when the teacher stepped in front of a bullet in
Arkansas and saved a child who's living today. That was a true hero, that teacher.

Then, in Pennsylvania, just recently on Friday night, a teacher lost their life due to a shooting.
My understanding, from the AP story is the theme of the dance was, "I've had the time of my
life.” "I've had the time of my life,"” was the theme at the dance and, certainly, the student
didn't respect life, and a teacher lost their life. A 48-year-old teacher is dead today. How
ironic that the theme was, "I've had the time of my life."

In trying to understand better how we prevent this, I was very interested to note in The New
York Times just the other day, on April 25th, an article appeared which the headline reads,
"Early Aid is Shown to Benefit At-Risk Children.” There are nine studies that the Rand
Corporation undertook to try to see how early intervention programs helped reduce the
likelihood of high at-risk children getting involved in crime, welfare, and other costs to
society. They found in studying two in particular, the Peri Pre-School Program, which had
123 disadvantaged children. They followed them over a long period of time until they were
27-years old. For every $12,000 that was spent on those children, the program yielded
$25,000 in future benefits to society—future costs that were avoided. These children were
more likely to graduate from high school, less likely to be involved in crime.

Another study, the Elmira Pre-Natal Early Infancy Project, with 400 disadvantaged children.
These children were tracked until they were 15. The higher-risk ones, the study found, for
every $6,000 spent, there were savings of $24,000 in future costs to society. That is a
profound benefit for humanity that these children, then, are doing things spiritually and
economically for our country. It is a profound benefit to the costs of taxpayers in this country
as well, too. Maybe our panelists will be able to talk a little bit about some of these programs
that may assist. .

As my distinguished Chairman said from the State of California, he said, "Well, the moral
responsibility, the family responsibility is key.” And I completely agree with him. When our
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families break down, our schools begin to show breakdown, and I think that these intervention
programs are attempts that try to fill in the cracks of families that are falling apart increasingly
in this country. We need these intervention and pro-active programs for our children.

Finally, let me just conclude, Mr. Chairman, and again I applaud you for holding this hearing.
We had a 1984 study in this country that was called the "Nation At Risk,” when we had such
disparate outcomes in terms of our education opportunities. We don't want a 1998 study to be
called, "A Nation at War,"” where our young people are killing each other and killing teachers,
and where this becomes more and more likely to happen in our schools. And I hope that we
can get a better understanding of exactly why and how we prevent it at today's hearing.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Congressman Roemer. Are other members seeking recognition
for the purposes of offering an opening statement? Mr. Kucinich. -

Mr. Kucinich. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and members of the committee. Once
again the Nation's airwaves are filled with disturbing stories about children using guns to
murder other children in schools. There are no easy answers here, and people agree that a
wide range of factors can push young people over the edge into serious acts of violence.

We live in an era in which violence has pervaded all aspects of our culture, yet we seem to
know little about how different individuals react to the same exposure to violent TV shows,
video games, and movies.

I welcome the hearing today and look forward to our witnesses helping to shed some light on
the underlying cause of youth violence and what we can do about it. 1 would submit that the
answers are not simply legislative, nor the experiments of behaviorists.

The answers are, also, spiritual. We need to—if we learn anything from these events—we may
learn that we need to reach out to our youth by showing them that children's lives count by
showing them that children's lives have value, that children's lives can have meaning, that
what children think matters, that what children do matters, that children are needed, that
children are our future.

We need to teach children respect, yes, but we also need to show children love. . Adults need
to set better examples, and we need to take responsibility. Troubled children are not someone

. else's problem; they're our Nation's challenge.

Where does the violence which afflicts children begin? One could say that it's a disease of the
human heart and since children are so open and so openhearted, violence would affect them
first. So we have to ask where violence is created in our culture. We have to ask where
violence enters our thoughts and-our words and our deeds. And as we confront that violence
in ourselves, we can learn how our children inherited it, and then, we may begin to create,
through the pain, a legacy of peace so that we can remember the benediction, "Blessed are the
peacemakers, for they shall be called the children of God.” Thank you.

A mi)
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Chairman Riggs. Ms. McCarthy.

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. Mr. Chairman, No. 1, I would like to thank you for allowing
me to join this panel.” This is certainly a subject that I care very much about. And Mr.
Greenwood, I mourn with you for what happened in your State.

Yesterday, I spent some time in my schools—which is what I do on Mondays and Fridays—
and, certainly, the children were talking to me about it. And a number of parents also said,
"Should we be setting up metal detectors?" And I said, "No." I said, "Let's look at the root."
I said, "We're doing enough to scare our young children.” And, as you said, the majority of
our young people—the majority of our children in this world are good.

Yes, we have to find the solutions to those that are troubled and, hopefully, we’ll find that
through the panel. But to put metal detectors on our schools throughout the country is, I think,
wrong. If anything, I think that sets up that we, as adults, are looking at our children and
saying they are going to do wrong. And we shouldn't condemn all the children for what goes
on.

I think the saddest thing and, yet, probably the best thing is my old grade school—and I'm still
in my same town—at kindergarten they start conflict resolution, which I think is terrific. But
isn't it a shame that we've come to that point that we start working with our children at
kindergarten for conflict resolution?

I'm looking forward to the panel and I hope we don't overreact, again, on legislation to things
that happen in the newspaper. Yes, we're looking for solutions. Yes, we want to make this a
better world, but we have to reallylook at it closely. Because, as I said, the majority of
people in this country, and especially our children, are good. And we have to remember that,
and let's work with those children that we know need help. - -

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman Riggs. Thank you, Ms. McCarthy, and we appreciate your joining us today because
we know you have real expertise to share as well.

With that, I call forward the ﬁrst panel of witnesses; Mr. Stephens, Dr. Patterson, Dr. Cantor,
Dr. Poland, and Congressman Greenwood will take the Chair and make a more formal
introduction of our witnesses.

Mr. Greenwood. [presiding] Welcome witnesses. Thank you for traveling across the
country on barely short notice, and thank you for your patience in coming to testify. We are
looking very much forward to both your testimony and our opportunity to query you.

I will begin with Mr. Ron Stephens who is the—pardon me. It is "Doctor,"” excuse me. Dr.

Ron Stephens, Executive Director of the National School Safety Center. Sir, if you could limit
your testimony to five minutes, we would appreciate that. Thank you.

15
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STATEMENT OF RON STEPHENS, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, NATIONAL SCHOOL
SAFETY CENTER

Mr. Stephens. Thank you, Chairmen Riggs and Greenwood, together, and committee
members. You helped to graciously set the stage, and rather ominously set the stage for what
we need to discuss today.

Clearly, crime and violence has invaded far too many of our campuses. One in four students
and one in nine teachers is a victim of assault or attack each year in schools.

Since 1992, the National School Safety Center has been tracking violent-associated school
deaths on campuses across the country. There have been 211 of these. Here's what we know
about some of the common factors right now: 40 percent of the youngsters involved had a past
background of criminal misbehavior; 24 percent were drug involved in some way; 35 percent
were gang involved; 70 percent had previously brought a weapon to school.

What this doesn't say is that if we know that 40 percent had a background of criminal
misbehavior, it suggests that 60 percent did not. If 24 percent had a background of drug

abuse, it suggests that 76 percent did not. And so, as we look at the inverse of all of these
factors, from the gang involvement—if 35 percent were gang involved, 65 percent were not. If
70 percent of them previously brought a weapon to school, it suggests that 30 percent didn't.

So the question is, what caused the behavior to have them gang involved, to be drug involved,
to use the weapon to cause the violence? And these are incredibly difficult questions for us to
try to come up with answers for because so many of the causes go from economic, political,
social, to individual matters.

Some of the things that various committee members have identified are certainly causes which,
in addition, I would suggest are incredibly important. One is the absence of a responsible
adult.

Despite all the high-tech strategies for the metal detectors, the intrusion control systems, or
high-tech mechanisms to monitor youngsters, that one thing that we do know is that still the
single, most effective strategy for keeping our schools safe is the physical presence of a
responsible adult. We've seen a pattern of past victimization. We know that, typically, of
bullies and criminals, that 80 percent of them were first victims themselves.

Youngsters who feel isolated and ignored and neglected or abused and teased are another factor
when you look at who has been doing this shooting. There's a significant amount of teasing
that has been involved and harassing on the campuses, alcohol and other drugs, availability of
guns, and then, lack of training, not only on the part of students but staff.

At one school where a youngster had shot a couple of other students, we learned that 54
children had seen the weapon on campus that day, but nobody reported it. And when I asked
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one young lady, "Why not?", she said, "I didn't think it was any of my business.” And part of
our goal is to let youngsters know that they play a key part in their own safety.

The teachers' standpoint, the training, just as much—I went through one of the best teacher
training institutions, I thought, anywhere in the country, but they never taught me how to deal
with a weapon-wielding student or a violent student.

The bottom line is: Youngsters don't go onto the campus and just start pulling the trigger of a
gun. Generally, there's some warning signs. They may be subtle. It could be a rumor; it
could be a threat; it could be an argument; it might be something as simple as name-calling.

It's interesting, in Jonesboro, Mitchell Johnson warned that something big might happen today.
Michael Carneal, in Paducah, warned students to stay away from school the day that he shot
the other children. And then, even Barry Loukaitis, in Moses Lake, Washington, he wrote
about his violence in an English essay. So there's a lot of subtle indicators that may come like
that. We've got to work with youngsters and others to share that information.

For the most part, violence doesn’t begin at school, but it comes onto the campus. It is not
detectable by the metal detectors oftentimes, counselors, or teachers because fear, anger, and
hopelessness, and frustration are so often carried invisibly in hearts and minds.

Whatever the source of the violence—the home, the community, or elsewhere—the effects are
still extremely destructive. As a father of three, as a father of a Los Angeles County Sheriff
officer and father-in-law of two teachers, I have a very strong personal interest in the
continuing search to identify what we cando. Here's some things that I think Congress can do
in particular to help:

First, to place school safety on the educational agenda.

Secondly, to continue to fund the National School Safety Center and organizations like this
until the problem subsides. And this is important to us, inasmuch as our funding has recently
expired, but the work is not yet done. We still need to work as a central resource for model
programs to provide training and technical assistance and to provide national leadership as a
catalyst for the schools.

Secondly, to continue to provide grant funds for research and evaluation of violence prevention
programs. It's interesting—whenever a plane crashes, we have a National Transportation
Safety Board that will investigate. We need to do the same thing in school violence.

It's difficult for local communities or States to make those individual efforts, and yet, there are
lessons that we need to learn which I believe will emerge as we look into these.

We need to ascertain the conditions that encouraged or allowed these tragedies to happen, and
then look at not only the causal factors, but protective, prevention, and intervention factors.

-
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And then, finally, if the Congress will continue to encourage State legislators to pass -
comprehensive safe school legislation. Clearly, education is a Federal concern, but it is a State
function. We've got to continue to do things such as mandating school crime reporting,
mandate safe school planning. An administrator without a safe school plan is like a pilot
without a flight plan.

We need to expand our alternative programs, expand after-school activities, truancy
prevention, interagency cooperation, and finally, teacher training. But I think, as much as
anything else, we need to decide how we're going to invest our resources, either in terms of
education or incarceration.

Thank you.

SEE APPENDIX A -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF RON S IEPHENS, EXECUTIVE
DIRECTOR, NATIONAL SCHOOL SAFETY CENTER

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you very much, Dr. Stephens, and I would now like to turn to Dr.
Gerald R. Patterson for his testimony. He is a research scientist of the Oregon Social Learning
Center.

Thank you, Dr. Patterson, for being with us and we look forward to hearing from you, sir.

STATEMENT OF GERALD R. PATTERSON, RESEARCH SCIENTIST, OREGON
SOCIAL LEARNING CENTER

Mr. Patterson. My pleasure, although I find it difficult to compress 35 years of research into
5 minutes. But I'm going to make three points covering the several decades of work on
aggressive children turned out by our institute.

The first point will concern our understanding of where aggression in children comes from; at
least we have a model that we think explains a good deal of this.

And the second focus would be in briefly describing our efforts to develop an effective
treatment for aggressive children and adolescents.

And the third point, to briefly describe the prevention studies that have emerged in the last five
years that are based on these ideas about the theory and about intervention.

To go back to the first point, we started about 20 years ago. A group of us decided that, even
though we were teaching graduate students how to do therapy with aggressive children, we
were convinced it didn't work and decided that we would build a better way of intervening.
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And to do that, we found it necessary to train observers to actually go to homes and
classrooms, so that we could see what was going on. And we needed the observation data to
tell us when behavior had changed because the parents involved in these families gave us very
bias reports. No matter what we did, they reported improvement. If we did experiments
where there's nothing going on, they still saw improvement, so we needed the lever that would
give accurate feedback.

And when we went into the homes and the classrooms to actually observe hundreds of families,
we began to see a very interesting thing that was going on that we had not suspected before
going in. And very briefly, it's that in the myriad exchanges among family members, they
were actually training not only the target child, but the siblings as well—these really highly
interconnected—to be aggressive. And that's very counterintuitive I know, but the training for
aggression in very young children starting as early as 18 to 24 months—does that mean I'm
halfway there?

{Laughter.}
Chairman Riggs. We'll give you some indulgence in time, Doctor.
Mr. Patterson. Well, I'll speed it up.

The siblings and the parents were actually training the child to be aggressive during conflict
episodes. And conflict episodes in these families occurred once every three minutes. Even in
normal families like yours and mine, there's an incredibly high rate of conflict going on—like
once every eight or nine minutes in a normal family. That's the training ground for coercion
and anti-social behavior, during the early stages.

When the child goes to school, the peer group picks that up and they provide positive
support—the victims do. And during adolescence, we have videotapes of adolescent exchanges
that just document, you know, in a crystal-clear fzshion how the deviant peer is training our
problem child in new forms of anti-social behavior.

And in using these variables to test them to say, "Well, do they really work?", we've found
that when you measure these carefully in the family, it accounts for 40 to 60 percent of the
information about aggression 2 and 3 years later, or in statistical terms, 40 percent of the
variance, 60 percent of the variance.

Now, we also find that this same process works so that the form of the coercive behavior—the
temper tantrums and the hitting and yelling—become increased and amplitude over time, and
by the same little mechanism.

The point of everything I've said to this point can be summarized in one sentence. The sad
thing is that aggression works. - It has a function on the playground and in the family as well,
and these observation studies show that very clearly, I think.
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Another point about, you know; these early beginnings, there's a regular progression that
eventually leads to violence. Now that's where I want to end up here. But to start at the
young age in the observation studies in the homes, it starts with the simple thing that all
children show, and that is noncompliance, then it moves on. Most children have a few temper
tantrums, and some children hit once in awhile, but these children are moving through that
progression at a very much higher level than your children do and mine.

And for our kids, it ends. For these kids, that progression keeps going on, in our longitudinal
studies, to the point where the mother can see the noncompliance and temper tantrums at high -
rates in the toddler. The teacher in the second grade in these studies says, "Yes, and that kid

is fighting and he's stealing.”

You see, there's a pattern. It's identifiable; it's measurable, and it's going somewhere. And
where it's going to go—and I had all these beautiful transparencies but I don't have an
overhead projector.

[Laughter.]

But anyway—just picture a probabilistic trajectory going from childhood to violent juveniles
and to career adult criminals over here. And the progression goes extremely anti-social at age
10. So parents see it; teachers see it; peers see it, and even the child sees it. So do observers.
So the risk is that that child is going to move towards early arrest.

By age 14, the police will have arrested him at least once—so anti-social, early arrest, and then
to chronic offending. If you're arrested early, the odds are .75 that you're going to be a '
chronic offender. That means being arrested three times before you're 18 years old. And if
you're a chronic offender, the likelihood is very strong that you're going to be one of that
select few that we call violent in a physical assault, rape, attack with weapons, and so on.

Now I'm not talking about inner cities. I'm talking about a little metropolitan area in Eugene,
Oregon, of 200,000. So our model fits that. We need to know if it fits your cities and—I
mean that should be an object of study.

And the odds of going from juvenile chronicity to adult offending are like .7 and .8 that's—it's
your chronic juvenile offenders who move on to become adult offenders. I mean it's kind of
common sense, but I'm saying there's a lot of studies showing very high linkages there. It's a
bridge—it's a bridge; it's a pattern; it's predictable, and it's identifiable. .Eighty-eight percent
of all of our violent offenders in Eugene come through all that whole trajectory, by the way.
One more—

Mr. Greenwood. This would be a good time to summarize your testimony; and then we'll all
have many questions for you, sir.

Mr. Patterson. Yes, why don't I just add one more point to the theory, then I'll stop.
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So there's a path—maybe a single path—going to chronic and violent offending is point number
one. Point No. 2 is, our studies show that the disrupted family process variables that you can
see in children predict every one of those points in that trajectory. So a single theory can
explain the movement through the trajectory. It's on a single path. i

I'll not take the time to tryto talk about treatment or prevention studies. I mean if that's
useful, I can talk about it later.

Thank you.
hrfr. Greenwood. I'm sure it will be. Thank you, sir, for your testimony.

I'd like to now turn to Dr. Joanne Cantor, Communication Arts Department at the University
of Wisconsin. Thank you for being here. We look forward to your testimony.

STATEMENT OF JOANNE CANTOR, COMMUNICATION ARTS DEPARTMENT,
UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN

Ms. Cantor. Thank you. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I am pleased to
appear before you to present my views on the causes of violence in children. For the past 23
years, I have been a professor at the University of Wisconsin, focusing my teaching and
research on the effects of the mass media on children. Recently, I have participated in the
National Television Violence study, research that explores the television landscape and the
harm done to children by exposure to television violence. I have a book due out in September

 titled, "Mommy I'm Scared," which helps parents protect their children from the effects of

media violence. Finally, and not the least important, I am the mother of a 9-year-old son, so I
can address these issues as a parent as well as a researcher and author.

As you will hear today, there are many factors that contribute to children behaving violently.
Having done research on this issue myself, and having reviewed the vast literature on the
topic, I can say without hesitation that media violence is a substantial contributor to our
children becoming violent, becoming desensitized to the consequences of violence, and
becoming fearful of being a victim of violence. There is an overwhelming consensus on this
point among researchers and among public health organizations.

Research shows that the way violence is portrayed can make it more or less likely that a child
will adopt violent attitudes or become violent. For example, violence that is committed by
good guys that is shown as justified and that shows little visible pain or harm is more likely to

“be imitated than violence committed by evil characters or violence that brings pain or

punishment. The National Television Violence study, which recently released its final report
on the most representative and extensive sample of television programs ever studied, showed
that not only has violence remained at a high level on television, the way most violence is
portrayed is destined to promote children’s aggression.

",
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For example, in more than 40 percent of programs with violence, the bad violent characters
are never punished, and only 4 percent of violent programs portray a theme that promotes non-
violence. Moreover, more than half of the violent interactions on television show no pain, and
almost 40 percent of violent interactions show good guys behaving violently. If someone set
out to design an ad campaign to promote violence by making it seem glamorous, effective,
risk-free, and painless, they could hardly do better if they tried.

When we see children commit unspeakable and unexplainable acts of violence, it is natural to
ask whether repeated exposure to media violence that is glamorized, sanitized, and trivialized
contributed to their behavior. There is no doubt that each tragedy is the result of many
unhealthy influences working together. But when a child resorts to gunfire to correct what he
sees as an injustice, is it unreasonable to think that repeated exposure to violent incidents on
television—25 percent of which involve guns—might have provided encouragement to act that
way? In many of these well-publicized incidents, the young perpetrators seem surprised at the
severity of the consequences to themselves and their victims. Maybe the fact that violence on
television usually underplays its negative effects has something to do with this.

Although television violence is not the strongest contributor to children's violent behavior, it is
the one over which we may have the most control. Producers and distributors of television
programs make choices of what to show, and it is in their power to provide programming that
is more or less likely to produce harm.

What else can we do besides urging the media to be more responsible?

We need better parent education about the effects of media violence on children. When
parents understand the harmful effects, they will be motivated to act in protective ways. We
also need to promote media literacy education for children. Teaching children about the effect
of television and teaching them the ways in which television distorts reality can help reduce
many of the negative effects of what they see.

Speaking personally as a parent, a major problem is that TV automatically makes available in
my home thousands of programs I would never select if I were making the choice. Rather than
having the option of selecting what I want my child to see, everything is accessible at the touch
of a remote, and I only have the option of playing defense—actively working to shield my child
from what I consider the worst of it. Given this situation, I need accurate information about
the content of programs. TV ratings can help, but only if all stations, including NBC, use
ratings that at least point to where the violence is. And the ratings will need to be assigned
accurately and consistently. Blocking technologies like the V-chip that will permit parents to
keep the most harmful programs from entering their homes will need to be effective and user-
friendly.

If all of us want to help parents socialize their children well, it will be important that research
be continued to monitor the TV environment. Unfortunately, funding for the National
Television Violence study has now ended.
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We must keep tabs on how appropriately television programs are being rated, whether the
existing rating system needs to be modified further and how well the V-chip and other blocking
devices are working. We need ensure that these tools really help parents reduce TV's negative
influences and help promote children’s healthy development. In spite of the enormity and
complexity of the problem of child violence and the fact that aggression-promoting images

. seem firmly entrenched in the television landscape.

1 believe that media education for parents and children, better labeling of programs, and
effective blocking tools can really make a difference.

Thank you.

SEE APPENDIX B -- WRITTEN STATEMENT OF JOANNE CANTOR,
COMMUNICATION ARTS DEPARTMENT, UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you very much, Dr. Cantor.

And now we turn to Dr. Scott Poland, who is the director of Psychological Services at the
Cypress Fairbanks Intermediate School District. Thank you for being with us, sir, and we
look forward to hearing your testimony.

STATEMENT OF SCOTT POLAND, DIRECTOR OF PSYCHOLOGICAL SERVICES,
CYPRESS FAIRBANKS INTERMEDIATE SCHOOL DISTRICT

Mr. Poland. Thank you, Mr. Greenwood, and members of the committee. I'm here
répresenting my school district, where 1 have worked for the past 20 years where crisis
intervention and prevention are our highest priority. I work with teachers, students, and
parents every day. I'm also here representing the National Association of School
Psychologists, which I'll refer to as NASP. 1 serve as the National Chairman of the
Emergency Assistance Team for that organization.

This past few months, I've been extremely busy as I was also the National Crisis Team Leader
in Paducah, Kentucky, and Jonesboro, Arkansas, for the National Organization for Victims
Assistance. This past weekend, I spent considerable time on the telephone consulting with
school personnel in key positions in Edinboro, Pennsylvania, Mr. Greenwood.

1 can tell you that these communities have been staggered by these tragic events, and I will
never forget, for example, in Jonesboro, Arkansas, 25 hours after the shooting standing up in
front of the gymnasium full of 500 students and parents who were tortured by the "whys?" and
"how?" questions, who were understandably so angry at these perpetrators and the laws in
Arkansas which don't allow lengthy enough incarceration in the—for the belief of the parents
and the students.

1 was able to change the focus of that meeting to dealing with, "But what are we going to do
now? What is going to be the path of recovery here in Jonesboro?" And I answered the
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questions from students about, "Will that fire' alarm ring tomorrow? Do I have to g0 outside?
How do I face going back into the classroom where my teacher was killed and she will never
return?”

I think we are all tortured by the "why?" questions, and I have several points I'd like to
outline. And these are not easy answers as you all weil know.

First of all, we have to recognize that most children, and even many adolescents, in our society
do not understand the finality of death. Psychological theorists would tell us by age 13 they're
supposed to understand death is permanent, it's biological, our organs stop working. My
experience in working with children is,. indeed, they do not understand that. :

Secondly, I certainly concur with the many things mentioned by Dr. Cantor that we must
examine the effects of motion picture and television violence on our children. Indeed, I think
many times they are simply carrying out acts that they have seen hundreds—and, yes, even
thousands—of times through television and motion pictures. And unfortunately, many children
are also exposed to violence in their homes, in their schools, and in their communities. And
they see people getting their way through violence. So we have some tough issues to tackle
with regards to the way violence is portrayed in our society, and frankly, it is glamorized.

The other issue that we must address is that in every school crisis that I've ever been involved
in, children always know. They know about warning signs. They know about danger. They
know about homicidal and suicidal behavior. And Dr. Stephens has given you further
examples of that. We must teach children at a very early age. If I feel unsafe, if there's
danger, if there's homicidal and suicidal talk, I must get the help of an adult right away. Now
that's an easy thing to say, but how do we put that into practice? How do we ensure that every
17-year-old in America will approach the nearest adult and tell them about that gun that is on
the school campus? Estirnates are there's as many as 270,000 guns go to school in this country

) every day, and we should not be surprised that we have injuries and death because of that—
which is another question that we have to examine closely. We must end the conspiracy of
silence in our schools that allows drugs, weapons, and guns to be on our campuses.

The other issue that we must address is firearm-access to children. - There is a gun in every
third home in America. Very few children in America could not get a gun within a few hours.
And one of the phrases that's in the literature that I would like to share with you today is this
one: "The trigger pulls the finger.” What that means to me is that a child today who is angry,
who is impulsive, who does not understand the finality of death, and who is greatly influenced
by medial portrayals of violence just might use that gun and injure or kill someone and change
lives forever.

Ard as I look around the room, I know that there are people here that went to school about the
time that I did, and I know that many of you were not concerned about someone coming into
your school and shooting at you. You also were not concerned that someone in the midst of an
argument might pull a gun and shoot you. I know how we settled arguments 20 and 30 years
ago—and I'm not going to say that I can condone fist fights as an acceptable way to manage
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anger and emotions and settle arguments—but I think that we all know that it was very rare that
someone was injured and extremely rare that someone was killed. Today, children have access
to guns and "the trigger pulls the finger." ’

The other issue that we must deal with is—it is my opinion, that we must set aside 30 minutes
a day in every school classroom in America to work on solving problems, to work on anger
management, to work on controlling impulses, to work on feeling good about ourselves, and
learning to get along with other people. Those are the issues we must deal with. I have
personally counseled with the victims of violent acts, the survivors of suicide. It saddens me
to tell you that six percent of all suicides in this country involve a gun and that holds true for
children. I'm reminded by the pained words of one adult—one parent—that I worked with who
said, "But I thought I taught all of my children never to touch the loaded pistol that I left on the
dresser.” Unfortunately, his daughter used that gun:to kill herself. The final note she left to
her parents were, "Why did you make this so easy? Why did you make this gun so available
to me?" I actively support legislation that makes it more difficult for children to get access to
firearms, and legislation that holds adults accountable when that firearm they purchased finds
its ways into the hands of a child or adolescent.

I'd like to close my comments today with a quote. The quote is from Dack who said, "The
future is the past in preparation.” What that quote means to me is that if we do not make
major societal changes, we will have more school crises, we will have more youth violence in
the 1998-99 school year than we've had during the 1997-98 school year.

They're not easy answers, and I applaud all of you for your efforts in trying to figure out what
we can do as a society to move forward and to make changes so that we will have no more
incidents like we had in Pearl, Mississippi; Paducah, Kentucky; Jonesboro, Arkansas, and
Edinboro, Pennsylvania.

And I certainly support Dr. Stephens’ comment, "We very much need the National School
Safety Center,” and we need national studies on school violence and why these events are
happening, and what we can learn from them.

And I thank you very much for the opportunity to talk with you.

SEE APPENDIX C — WRITTEN STATEMENT OF SCOTT POLAND, DIRECTOR OF
PSYCHOLOGICAL SERVICES, CYPRESS FAIRBANKS INTERMEDIATE SCHOOL
DISTRICT

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you very much, Dr. Poland, for your testimony as well, and let me—
the Chairman and I have been chatting here, and we’ve come up with a thought. It's
somewhat experimental; I hope we'll have the indulgence.

But there are some many young people in the audience that what we would like to suggest to

you is, that while the members of the Subcommittee here ask our witnesses some questions and
while they answer, if you would like to think about how this has impacted you, and what your
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thoughts and how you might want to advise Congress on this; and maybe in about a half an
hour, we'll ask if any of you would like to come forward and make some comments into the
microphones.

I'd like to, Mr. Chairman, do—I'd like to—the Chairman of the Subcommittee, Congressman
Riggs, has to go to another meeting, and so I would like to have him begin the questioning.

Chairman Riggs. I want to thank you, Congressman Greenwood, for assuming the
responsibility as the acting Chairman of the Subcommittee. I, also, want to thank our
witnesses. I apologize to the witness-on our second panel in advance if I have to leave before
he concludes his testimony or before we have the opportunity for any give and take.

And I guess the question that I want to pose—well, both the theory and, then, the question that
I'd like to pose: My theory is, obviously, that students—young people—who are enjoying their
academic experience, their experience going to school, learning, and all that that entails—
extra-curricular activities as well as actually in-classroom learning—are probably fairly well-
adjusted young people and not inclined to perpetrate an act of violence against a peer. So I'm
wondering if—what kind of students the accused perpetrators are in these incidents? If any of
you know, or if anyone is going to look at that, No. 1?

And more broadly, in terms of any data that's out there, in your discipline, if there is a way
that educators can detect young people who might be likely to be involved in an act of violence
against their peers because they 're apathetic about school or just generally alienated towards
life?

Because, again, it just seems to me since so many of these incidents have actually occurred on
school campuses or in conjunction with school activities that healthy, well-adjusted, young
people who are learning and enjoying going to school and who are, on the whole, showing—I
guess you would say—healthy progress from childhood to adulthood are not going to engage in
these kind of acts no matter what kind of messages that they are bombarded with outside the
home or inside the home, certainly, at school in what passes for the mainstream media and
popular culture today. :

So do we have any way of knowing what kind of students the accused perpetrators are? And
then, again, more broadly or generally, is there a way to detect early on? And what should
educators—or what should school officials—do to try and intervene with those young people to
see if they can't get them more involved and, therefore, more enthusiastic about going to
school and learning—which is after all obviously their primary responsibility at that young
age? Dr. Poland?

Mr. Poland. Mr. Riggs, yes, I have a couple of comments having been to two of those
communities and having consulted with personnel in the third. I think essentially these are not
young people who are having academic difficulty. But I can tell you, in working with school
personnel all the time, they know who is at risk.
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They want children to be placed first in our society. They want low-cost or no-cost mental
health services available to children. They can spot children, and they do all the time, who are
having extreme difficulty.

And we know the predictors of youth violence. We know they’re things like media exposure,
violence in the homes, substance abuse, gun access, child abuse, and ineffective parenting.
And we need programs to work in all of those areas.

Mr. Stephens. Oftentimes that information, in terms of their past background of misbehavior,
getting into fights or intimidation or simple things as name calling, those represent some good
early warning signs. But for school officials, in a number of these shootings, they had no idea
of the background of misbehavior that these youngsters had because, in a number of cases,
they were transfer students who came to the district from another place. And typically, we
shield juvenile information records, and school officials very often are quite blind-sided to
whether or not they have Charlie Manson, Jr. in their school or in their class.

Chairman Riggs. Well, let me ask you then, Dr. Stephens, my other question. Is there a way,
through your organization or through your organization in conjunction with Dr. Hammond's
organization, the National Center for Injury Prevention and Control at the Centers for Disease
Control and Prevention—which is, I guess, it's somewhat of an offshoot NIH or works with
NIH is some way—is that correct, Dr. Hammond? Or is this completely separate? Okay, I
know of the good work that you do.

I just want to establish that is there a way to do a study and report back your findings to
Congress? I don't know how expensive such a study would be. I would assume that any kind
of study could, hopefully, be taken out of existing funds that wouldn't require new budget
authorization and appropriation. But where we could compare and contrast these incidents and
see if, in fact, there are any common causes or factors related to these incidents which the
young people and their families share, number one?

And No. 2, to get more extensive information on the family situation, the—if you will—the
environment where that young person is being raised. Maybe we can learn some lessons from
that and then look at whether or not there is some basis for an additional—you know—Federal
rule or response, although I'm very leery about replacing the welfare state with the nanny
state, and I generally have reservations about how paternalistic government can or should be.
But I think we're a little bit handicapped because we don't know a whole lot more about what
happened here, about the young people, about their families, about their upbringing, and that's
the kind of information I think that we, as elected policy decision makers, need.

Mr. Stephens. I'm sure Dr. Hammond will discuss that further and, in terms of the base line,
we have the list of all the places where this has occurred, but quite frankly, we haven't gone in
or had the time or resources to make those individual analyses. But it's something that I hope
that can come, and it will provide a tremendous benefit when we can identify those common
themes and then develop appropriate prevention and intervention strategies. ’
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Chairman Riggs. Okay. Well, if there is a way to delve into that and maybe get a quick
return—a response—it might be possible to incorporate any recommendations or suggestions
that you made based on your research findings into the juvenile crime control legislation
whether it is our bill, H.R. 1818, or some hybrid of our bill, and Mr. McCollum's bill or a
Senate version of the legislation. So I am interested in getting more detailed research
information. And with that, I want to thank the witnesses again, and I'll yield back to you,
Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and we'll yield five minutes now to the ranking
Member, Mr. Scott. :

Mr. Scott. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank the witnesses for a very helpful
testimony. I have several questions and, first, to Dr. Stephens,. You indicated from your
testimony that sometimes teachers are blind-sided. You pointed out that a lot of students, in
fact, do not exhibit the risk factors where you could have identified them before. Is that to
suggest that our prevention initiatives ought to be global and not case specific, and we ought to
have initiatives that would help all children to cope and not try to aim the services at this one
or that one? :

Mr. Stephens. It really requires an investment of time in every child to get to know them. I
think we've made some tremendous steps in many of our states by lowering class size, but it's
a matter of how we want to utilize our resources.

At one school in New York City, for instance, they have 40 officers who roll up every day to
metal scan 1,800 students. It takes two and a half hours to get them through the line. Ita
function of, how do we want to invest our time and resources? And so the extent we can do it
with mentoring, with motivating, with addressing special needs we will have done a good day's
work. :

Mr. Scott. You mentioned the responsible adult as an important factor in a child's life.
Obviously, some children are coming with that responsible adult either in the home, or next
door, or an uncle, or something. For those that don't, I assume you would be looking at the
boys' and girls' clubs staff, Boy Scout troop leaders, or maybe guidance counselors. Would
those be helpful for those children that do not have responsible adults in their lives?

Mr. Stephens. Absolutely, we've got to put together a very comprehensive team. In Seattle,
Washington, for instance, the superintendent of schools there has developed a cadre of nearly
10,000 volunteers that are linked up one-on-one with youngsters who have special needs. But
I think as much as anything else, school districts have to look at what their individual problems
are, bring together their local resources, and determine what best strategies can be put in
place. ’

Mr. Scott. So if you had funding for a community to help go through that proéess, like we did
in the bill that we have referred to on numerous occasions in this hearing, that would be the
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strategy that we ought to pursue to reduce crime?

Mr. Stephens. That could be one of a number of strategies. Simply encouraging schools to
develop appropriate safe school plans and to have, perhaps, some demonstration sites.

Mr. Scott. You mentioned a number of things that we need to do. Have you evaluated what
these things might cost?

Mr. Stephens. Many of the things do not have a great deal of cost. It's more about
community will and commitment as opposed to tremendous amount of resources for
equipment.

Mr. Scott. I say that because we are willing to invest billions of dollars in prisons, and a lot
of these things that you've mentioned have very little cost at all.

Dr. Patterson, you've gone to great length to talk about this trajectory towards adult chronic
criminal, life and crime, so that we can sit back and watch a child from very early on go
through these various steps. I assume you recognize that we'd like to know what we can do
about it. You promised testimony on treatment and prevention. What should we do?

Mr. Patterson. I'll be much briefer. In the 1970's, three different groups worked on the
development of parent training approaches to intervening with anti-social children who were
between the ages 3 and 12, the younger set. And these are beautifully controlled, well-
designed random assignment studies with one, two, and three-year follow-up. And the data
says, "Yes," that there's some modest success in getting these children to function at a normal
level.

-And in the last five years, these same ideas are being built into prevention studies of which

there are now four or five, and there are some of them in their fifth and sixth year of follow-
up.

And I'd like to go back to the point you raised a moment ago about, you know, what could we
do with in some of these school settings. You might consider trying some of the prevention
studies which begin with the unlikely invitation to all of the parents of fifth grade boys, or first
grade boys in another study, to come into this study of where you are going to focus, mainly,
on parent training skills. Parent training or parenting is not an instinct, and the ideas and the
skills are being lost in our society for a lot of different reasons. So when you set these group
training sessions up, we were surprised to find that up to 80 percent of the families invited,
you know, actually came.

And then to your second question, well, does this really work? These are large-scale studies
involving several hundred families in the experimental and control groups. And a rough
answer to your question is, "Yes, it looks very promising.” Do they prevent delinquencies?
It's too early to say, I don't know. And they're much more expensive than the techniques that
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were being discussed before, so that’s a problem.
Mr. Scott. When you say they don't prevent delinquency, does it reduce delinquency?

Mr. Patterson. No, I'm saying we don't know yet that intervening in the first and fifth grades
with just all the families in the given area is going to reduce delinquency. We haven't
followed them up long enough.

Mr. Greenwood. I'd like to make an observation or two and then ask a fairly narrow and
specific question. But, first off, with regard to the kinds of things that can go on in a routine
basis in the school, I had the—in the Pennsbury school district, in my district I was visiting
recently, and in an elementary school I sat in on what they called "morning meeting, " just a
big way they began their day. It's part of a somewhat of a private project having to do with—
it's called the Responsive Classroom, and just reading from the materials associated with that
program they say how children are treated and how they learn to treat others is the central
educational issue confronting our nation. We do not face, so much, a crisis in learning, as a
crisis in learning to care. And Dr. Patterson mentioned that in family, there are conflicts
every eight or nine minutes, and in a more dysfunctional family there are conflicts every three
minutes. When you bring several hundred or several thousand students together—kids—
together into one place, it's like a nuclear reaction.

[Laughter.]

There are conflicts incessantly. And it seems to me that’s appropriate for some faction of
what—some part of what we do in school to be associated with helping to deal with that very
conflicting conflict-producing environment. And if schools are first and foremost about
socialization, then that seems to be fundamental to socialization.

Clearly, there is—all of you have said there is no one single cause for these kinds of
incidences. We anticipated that. It seems to me that when you start with one element, and
maybe that's poor parenting, and then you add another element to the scale which is domestic
violence, and then you add another element to the scale which might be the fact that the child
is exposed to an awful lot of terrible violence in the media or is playing violent computer
games or is listening to horrific, violent music Iyrics, and then you add to that the fact that the
student is teased or ostracized in school, and then you add to that the availability of a weapon.
In those instances you're going to get a fairly predictable result.

But many of those elements have been around for a long time. There have always been
ineffective parents. . There have always been domestic violence in the home, always been kids
who were teased and ostracized. One of the relatively newer elements, of course, is the
media. And I'd like to focus my question to Dr. Cantor—and then ask others to respond if
they have time—and that is have there, in fact, been good, well-controlled studies to take a
look at the fact that this seems to be a fairly American phenomena—the birthplace of television
and where television is so prevalent. It seems to be—there seems to be a correlation there, and
the question is; do we know enough about the relationship between violence in individuals and
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violence in societies and the amount of violence that they're exposed to in the media?

Ms. Cantor. Well, we do know a lot and it's not simply an American phenomenon. As
American television gets distributed now around the world, we're seeing similar findings. But
a recent MEDA analysis of all the studies that have been done for the past 20 years, 200
studies looking at more than a thousand comparisons between violence viewing in control
groups, shows overwhelming that the effects—the relationship between viewing violence and
aggressive behavior is very strong in the short term; that is, children are more likely to commit
violence right after they watch it. And also, in a cumulative sense, that watching violence over
a long period of time adds up to a child becoming more violent. It contributes to children
becoming more violent. It's especially strong in the youngest children, I think, because
youngest children are just forming their ideas of right and wrong, and they have the least
appreciation for the difference between fantasy and reality. So there's an overwhelming
consensus in the literature that violence in the media—not just TV, but all of these areas that
you mentioned—contributes.

If it's the only unhealthy thing in a child's environment, we probably won't see it result in
criminal behavior, but it might result in desensitization, lack of empathy, or just hostility
towards others. But when it's combined with any of these things, it really creates an explosive
situation.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you. Just one final comment, and that is what I thought was perhaps
the most interesting of your testimony was the aspect you referred to the fact that when
violence is seen to be perpetrated by the good guy, when it's rationalized and justified as
justice—you know, with the fist or the gun—that it may have more than a damaging effect
when the perpetrator is, in fact, perceived as the bad guy because then—I guess in every
individual's heart we want to consider ourselves somehow, our actions justified—that we have
a good purpose for what we're doing no matter what it is.

Ms. Cantor. That's right; and this is particularly true in children's—programming aimed at
young children.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you. Congressman Roemer.

Mr. Roemer. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. [ was just discussing how enamored my children
are with some of the super heroes out there and, that in your testimony, Dr. Cantor, when you
said that when it's a good guy, our children seem to-be even more taken in by it and then being
able to justify the subsequent action, or punching, or reaction to a negative hero. My children
are really into—although we try to make sure that they watch public television, and Barney and
Arthur, and Sesame Street are some of their favorite shows—they are, also, into Star Wars
these days, and Luke and Han are their heroes because these are good guys that can fight evil.

You say in your testimony that so often times the shows that are on television do not show,
then, the consequences of the violent behavior, and I think that, generally, that's very true.
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There is a foundation called the Just Think Foundation that I've worked with, and they try to
develop media literacy curriculum for children. I wanted to ask you if you're aware of the Just
Think Foundation or other kinds of foundations that work with our schools? What kinds of
programs are more effective than others? Does it help to have some trained professionals or
teachers who do the training with the children? Should the programs be family or school
based? And is the school the best place to do these kinds of programs?

Ms. Cantor. I would say, "Yes," to everything you said.
[Laughter.]

There are any number of media literacy organizations that are trying to promote media literacy
through parent groups, through school groups, through community groups. They—there hasn't
been any large-scale study to compare the effectiveness of one approach or the other, but it
seems to me that the best approaches will be based on the results of research on how children
comprehend television and how they can be made to view things differently.

My—I thought you were going to ask me for advice to you, what you should do about your
kids because they're going to watch this anyway. One of the problems is, of course, that kids
like to watch this stuff. And so as parents, one of the two roles of media literacy are, first of
all, to make sure parents know what the impact is, and second of all, to give them tools to talk
with their children about what they—watch television with your child, and to have media
literacy education in the schools. It is amazingly effective to bring these considerations in
because most children watch television without a critical view, and bringing critical viewing
skills in can have a very positive effect.

Mr. Roemer. I also wanted to ask, since Dr. Stephens is with the National School Safety
Center and Dr. Poland is a meémber of the National Emergency Assistance Team and the
National Organization for Victim Assistance, obviously, there is a national or a Federal role
here. Can you, again, repeat for the committee what that national or Federal role is as part of
the solution? And I want to emphasize that I think the solutions are family-based and parent-
based, primarily. But when so many of our children are coming to school without the
resources and the foundation of family, then we need to look at other alternatives as well, too,
and hence, some of these prevention and intervention programs as well.

Mr. Stephens. The entire concept of creating safe schools on the national agenda because it
shouldn’t require an act of courage for you, as a parent, to send your child to school. Our
role, as much as anything else, is to identify some of the best practices, best strategies and
share those with school administrators around the country because they're all looking for
answers. And there is some remarkable things being tried in different states all over the
country in a variety of these areas, so I think as an information resource, national catalyst, and
really focusing on everything that we can do to encourage the success of each child.

Mr. Roemer. Dr. Poland.
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Mr. Poland. The National Association of School Psychologists is very committed to school
children, teachers, administrators, and to parents. In particular, we'd like to help school
administrators to make safe school plans and to not just focus on what to do after something
bad has happened, but to think about what we can do to prevent it. We know the leading
causes of death for children are accidents, homicides, and suicide. Where are our prevention
programs?

And we certainly want to provide direct services to children and families whenever there are
mental health problems. We see the role of a mental health provider as a very viable one for a
school psychologist, and we want to work towards these very important curriculum programs
that will make a difference and will teach kids to stop and think before they act and will help
them understand that there are non-violent ways to manage anger and, in fact, anger is a
normal emotion. We all have it, but we have to teach children ways that they can express
anger without hurting themselves and other people.

Mr. Roemer. I thank the panel for their expertise and their help, and I hope that we can
continue to work together on some solutions for this very profound problem.

Mr. Greenwood. Congressman McCarthy.

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. Again, thank you, Mr. Greenwood, for bringing this panel
together. It has been fascinating. I guess I feel like there's never enough time to get all the
answers. You know, usually—and we're lucky today because we're going over that five
minutes because it always seems when you get into a subject then the light goes on and I'm
going, "Wait a minute, we need more time. We need more time.”

One of the things that I certainly am interested in is because we had Janet Reno back here—I
guess—last spring, and one of the things that she talked about is that we usually can pick a lot
of these kids out who had a long juvenile delinquency by second grade. The teachers can pick
them out. So that goes with your theory.

Are any of you familiar with the program that's called Project Achieve, where they work with
the whole school—there's the whole school system? Because that to me certainly is—especially
when we see our children going pre-l(—our school system seems to be the nucleus of where
we can work with these children, and certainly working with educators up in Vermont where
they have started reaching out, almost from birth, with working with families. And, you
know, the more I start studying this, the more I'm starting to see that we can usually tell those
families at risk, and I think those are the things that we have to really start looking into.

I happen to believe in prevention and, certainly, with the teams going out after an incident is of
great comfort. But when we see the majority of the time, the warning signs way before, that's
where we have to start working and intervening with the young children—younger and

younger.
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Last week;, or a couple of weeks ago, was really the first time I ever heard of media literacy.
Someone was talking to me and telling me the work that she was doing. She happened to be a
radio announcer, and she was excited about this project that she was working on with school
children—not just on violence, but also; why does a child want to buy this? :

So I mean it's a whole—you know—fascinating subject that's opening up to me and, of course,
you're the teachers. You're teaching us, and I think that's probably one of the most important
things. Ihope we can come full circle and figure out—and we'll never come up with all the
answers. There's no such thing as that. But our obligation is to, certainly, start working with
the youngest of the young and, hopefully, in time—and this is where we have to be patient, and
I am a patient person. If we start really doing this, then in time we will have our children
safer. But, of course, we want to try and come up with any solutions that we can so our
younger people feel safe, too.

Any response to anything I've said?

Mr. Patterson. Yes; there is some prevention programs that are still being evaluated but to
follow exactly along these lines—and I think they're very promising—where if a school, early
on, sees a child who's really not fitting in and really not learning very well, and they contact
the parent and not scold or punish in any way but say, you know, "We are running some
parenting groups for parents of normal kids and we think you might like to work with them."

And they've also organized the police department into this kind of web so that if the police
officer sees the child out on the street late at night, they stop and find out who he is and what
the address is, and then send the family—not a citation—but a letter saying, "Last night at
11:30, I found Johnny," and so on, "And there is a parenting group in your area at this
address. Here's the telephone number. You might want to use it." So that all of us in the
community who see these early start, have something to feed it into as a way of helping the
families instead of isolating them.

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. And I'agree with you, but I found a number of times when we
tried to approach a parent that there might be a slight problem, "Not my child." So I think it
has to—I wish parents would. I think a lot of times parents are guilty nowadays because
they're both working, and I think that's a shame where they're feeling—not supplying the time
to their children. I happen to know that you can work full-time and still spend a lot of time
with your child. It takes a little bit of extra effort, and maybe you £0 to bed an'hour earlier,
but you cando it. There's too many of us that have done it.

Tdon't have the answers, and I don't think anybody has all the answers. But at least we're
opening up a dialogue, and I think that's the important thing. And to bring it on the national
level, and I think that's important, for a dialogue to start speaking and addressing why we have
violence. That's probably the most important thing that we can do.

Mr. Poland. Mrs. McCarthy, I wanted to say that I am familiar with the Project Achieve
program. It was developed by school psychologists. It is a school-wide program that
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improves discipline in the school climate and teaches kids to solve a problem. And there are
excellent programs like that that are available, but they're not going to be implemented in all of
our schools or—in fact—many schools unless legislators tell them that it is important, and it is
what must be done.

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. And I think a number of us—certainly after the committee
meetings and everything else—will be probably looking forward to that to answer that, and that
means, obviously, money.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you. We're going to—since there are three of us left, we're going
to—we've decided—the ranking Member and I have decided, we'll give ourselves each one
more chance to answer a question, and ask a question. And we'll try to be fairly strict with the
time for the next 15 minutes here.

I'd like to address my question to Dr. Poland—and, again, because of your particular
experience—in looking at this recent rash of horrific incidences of firearms, violence in
schools, and looking at some of the—turning away from the media for a moment, and turning
away from the school environment, and turning back to the home environment from which
these kids came, I'd like to ask you; did you—is it your observation, and anyone else who has
made a study of this—that there was any single component within the family that seemed to be
a common denominator? Whether it was these Kids had been abused or whether it was—there
had been a failure to establish a significant emotional bond with an adult in the children’s lives,
or anything else, from a sort of a socio-psychological perspective, that seemed to be a factor
that took these kids out of the envelope—if you will—and out of the margins?

Mr. Poland. Mr. Greenwood, that’s a very difficult question to answer because these families
are not sharing much information understandably, and any information that I might have would
be confidential and somewhat speculative.

I do think we have to recognize that, in most of these incidences we were talking about, the
families had the guns and the families did not keep those guns out of the hands of their
children. So that is one uniform—not true in every single case, not true in Paducah, but true in
the other cases—and the other important information, I'm afraid, the families are not going to
share with us.

Mr. Greenwood. Any of the other members care to comment on or respord to that question?

Mr. Stephens. Much of what we’ve seen in—at least individual cases that I have looked at
have been, simply, parents who did not keep in touch with their children. It's interesting, even
in Paducah, Kentucky, the youngsters there, they were truant from school—something that,
hopefully, a parent would know—I"m sorry, in Jonesboro was the case.

When you look at shootings that have occurred in some of the other cities, it's been situations
where parents simply have not monitored their children that closely; so the role the parents can
play and establishing some parent centers on the campus could, certainly, be a way to
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intervene in some of these cases where there appears to be greater level of supervision.

Mr. Greenwood. I must tell you that I'm intrigued by your notion of sort of using the model
of the National Transportation Safety Board. I recognize that, in these incidences, we would
have to wait until trials are completed and then we would—there's the process of gaining the
cooperation of both the perpetrators and the families and so forth. But it is an intriguing notion
to me that a research project—federally funded, if you will—would make a very rigorous
analysis of these incidences because we really do have to learn from them.

It is just irresponsible for us, as a nation, to allow these kinds of things to occur in our midst,
and then shrug our shoulders and come to the conclusion that we can’t come to an conclusion.
1 think we have to learn from these, and we have to act on what we learn. Mr. Scott.

Mr. Scott. Thank you. Dr. Poland, one of the problems we have with the incidences that
have been recently reported is the copycat phenomenon. What kind of intervention is
appropriate on the scene and nationally to prevent the incident from repeating itself?

Mr. Poland. Mr. Scott, that's a difficult question. I think we all question, "Do we have to
have such excessive news coverage?” I know it upsets everyone to see the perpetrator in
Edinboro in the police car laughing. I think we have to look, not only on our coverage of the
actual event, but I think we have to look at the fictional things that, also, our children view.
And it's a combination of those things, and I think we all hope that there will not be further
events. But, we've had these occur together, and it's very difficult to know what will be next.

Mr. Scott. Is it appropriate for teachers in other localities to use this as a teaching moment to
try to take advantage and make some progress, or is that counter-productive?

Mr. Poland. Absolutely. I believe that—
Mr. Scott. Absolutely, what?
[Laughter.]

Mr. Poland. —it should be used as a teaching moment. In my own school district, when I
returned to Jonesboro, they gathered hundreds of sixth graders who wanted to know about the
incident and what I did to help other people, and the teachers were able to tie it all the way
back to, "You know those units that we had on managing anger and managing impulsive
behavior? These are the things that are important to do when you're having violent thoughts.

I believe it is certainly a very teachable moment throughout the country. Every school child in
America is aware, and we need to all work together. First of all, I'm learning to report
dangerous behavior, guns on campus, and in working towards every child being better able to
solve their problems.
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Mr. Scott. Dr. Cantor.

Ms. Cantor. Yes; I would just like to suggest that it's very impdrtar_lt to make these teachable
moments age appropriate to the children. And one thing that television news doesn't do, it
doesn't take into account that a lot of very young children are seeing this coverage which is
frenzied and overblown. When things like this happen, it's important for schools to, maybe,
take the information in a gentler dose and bring it to the level of the child's age. Otherwise,
we find—I find in my research, enormous numbers of children with nightmares and not
wanting to go to school after they see news coverage of this type of event.

Mr. Scott. What can we do about it?

Mr. Poland. Well, I'd like to make one comment—and I certainly agree—and I will tell you
when I was in Jonesboro, what bothered me the most was hearing the 911 call, the incredible
emotionality and the fear and pain over and over on the television days after the incident. And
that is the time when we should have been running features; how can we help each other move
forward on the new path for this community instead of repeating the horror of the moment.

Mr. Scott. Dr. Patterson, you indicated that we needed more studies on prevention. Are you
familiar with studies on Three Strike and You're Out?

Mr. Patterson. Yes.

Mr. Scott. And that they concluded that they was a waste of money?

Mr. Patterson. The California review by the Rand Corporation concluded that it was an
extremely expensive program and one that was going to banknipt the State of California as

well as the rest of us.

Mr. Scott. And that same study concluded that parental education was a much better "bang
for the buck?" )

Mr. Patterson. The parent training therapies, yes.

Mr. Scott. Yes. Thank you.

Mr. Patterson. By the way, there is a group that in the State of Washington called together
for the same purpose—I mean—what are we going to do in the State of Washington? And
they 're evaluating all of the treatment and prevention programs they can find and carrying out
a cost-utility analysis. I submitted that with the papers, and that might be useful to you.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you, and we have been joined by the gentleman from New Jersey,
Mr. Payne, who is recognized for five minutes. '

-
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Mr. Payne. Thank you very much. Iapologize for missing most of the testimony. I've
heard some of the response, but I could not think of anything that's more important at this time
than what you all have presented.

As a former schoolteacher in Newark, Passaic, and New Jersey—often elementary, middle
school, and in secondary school—I know—and that was some time ago—of problems that we
did have. But today, they've simply been exacerbated, I think, by the—and I might just ask a
question there. Those who say that what's seen on television has no impact on young people,
that it’s—some defenders of those shows say that they fee] that it has no negative impact.
Could you ask—if you haven't done it already—would you give me a response to that—any of
you or all of you, please?

Ms. Cantor. Well, we have—I will just summarize what I said earlier. There's just an
overwheiming amount of research that shows that what children watch influences their
behavior. And watching a lot of television violence over the course of a child's life is
associated with becoming more violent or becoming desensitized to violence. And, also, even
immediately after viewing, children often imitate what they see. It's not just—it's not true only
of violence, but violence is prominent on television, and it's shown in ways that's designed to
promote imitation.

Mr. Poland. I'd like to say that I agree totally with that statement, and I think that if we ever
have the national study after the fact and really get to work with those children and families,
that we'll be able to specify exactly which program, exactly which movie gave them the idea
and led them to commit that particular violent act.

Mr. Stephens. It's not only the movies and the media but, also, sometimes the other books
that different-ones read. It's been interesting to look at, in a couple of the cases, where
particular writings of various authors such as Stephen King have had a dramatic influence upon

- students. That's not to say we can control now everything that young people read, but I think
we just have to be aware of some of the other factors that are out there that come to play in.
some of these school violence incidents. '

Mr. Payne. Thank you. I'd just like to also mention that, you know, being a First

Amendment supporter, I feel that when it was written it really served a real—so useful

purpose, and it still does. Idon't get concerned about a First:Amendment right to show these

- violent and some of the lyrics of words of some of the music that comes out and young people

-hear. I'm opposed to this question about right to bear arms. - I think we need to take another

look at opposition to gun control that the proliferation of weapons are around and I think that
we're wrong by saying, "Well, the Constitution once said that there's a right to bear arms and,

-therefore, it's all right for 11-year-olds to stand outside a school and mow people down with
automatic weapons.” Things have changed, and I think we need to look at that.

And, also, finally, the change—in. 1973, I was national president of the YMCA of the USA,
and I testified before Senator Birch Bayh, who at that time initially introduced the Juvenile
- Justice, Delinquency, and Prevention Act which it was called at that time. I came back four
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years later for the re-authorization when Senator Culver from Iowa was in the Chair then, and
the whole thrust of that time was the prevention.of delinquency. It was trying to work.

Now, of course, I don't know the new name, it certainly doesn't deal that much with
prevention. I think that, as public policy people, we have a responsibility to try to deal with
intervention and try to get parents involved, to try to talk about mentoring, but this whole
punitive thing about, "Three strikes, you're out. Lock them up for good." The question about
things that happen in inner cities—you know—we've seen when drugs first came about it was
just an inner city problem. It didn't bother anybody else.- Now we have an epidemic. The
whole question about guns and delinquent youth, that's an inner-city problem, so just lock
them up or forget about it.

Well, you know, things continue to grow out. And now we see some of the most horrendous
problems dealing with these things happening in the suburbs. Just looking at the names with
the endings in the "o," the "boros," it gives a connotation of a pleasant, peaceful, tranquil—
none of the problems of those cities, but unless we deal with the problems, uniformly, -
wherever, whomever, or whatever group they impact on initially, it simply just grows and
grows like a cancer and it will finally consume the whole body politic.

Thank you. I think my time has expired.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you. I would like to, on behalf of the entire Subcommiittee, thank
each of the.witnesses for joining us and for your testimony. We all understand how difficult it
is to compress a life's body of knowledge into a relatively short period of time. We want you
to know that this is not the end of our dialogue. We hope we can rely upon you for future
consultation. We hope that you will feel free to send us additional comments or suggestions or
recommendations, because this panel does not intend to leave this issue at the end of today's
hearing. ) . . :

So thank you again, and you are dismissed.

We'd like to call Dr. Rodney Hammond to the witness table. He is the director for the
Division of Violence Prevention, National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers
for Disease Control and Prevention. Dr. Hammond, we thank you for waiting so patiently to
join us, and we look forward to your testimony.

And without. further interruption, we'd like you to begin, please.

STATEMENT OF RODNEY HAMMOND, DIRECTOR FOR THE DIVISION OF
VIOLENCE PREVENTION, NATIONAL CENTER FOR INJURY PREVENTION AND
CONTROL, CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND PREVENTION
Mr. Hammond. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am Dr. Rodney Hammond, director of the
Division of Violence Prevention at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, and I'm
quite pleased to be here today to discuss what we know about youth violence; some ways we
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can intervene, even how to prevent it, and how the public health approach can contribute to the
prevention of youth violence.

First, what we know; although there's been a slight decrease in the national rates of youth
homicides since 1993, the number of young people who die violently remains unacceptably
high. Homicide is the second leading cause of death for young Americans between the ages of
15 and 24 and the leading cause of death for African Americans in this age group. And for
children ages 10 to 14, homicide is the third leading cause of death.

Now, violence in school settings has been, in the past, relatively uncommon. As Dr. Stephens
mentioned earlier in his testimony, between 1992 and 1994 less than one percent of violence-
related deaths—that includes both homicide and suicide—occurred in or around schools.
However, the problems in Jonesboro, Paducah, Pearl, and most recently, in Edinboro, cause
us to focus on school-related youth violence now.

" What is troubling is that there appears to be an increase in school-associated incidents with

multiple deaths in the past three years. And I have a time-line at the end of my statement
which lays out the number of multiple deaths that have occurred in the last three years, and
that amplifies my point about the increase.

Now, we don't have all of the answers yet that will prevent more incidence of school or
community youth violence, but I feel we do know enough to act now. And I'd like to make
just four points in this regard.

First, this is a problem, largely, of children killing children. What's shocking about these
incidences is the age of the perpetrators and the victims, between 13 and 14 years of age. In
recent years, the average age of homicide offenders and victims has grown younger and
younger. Data suggests that youth violence has become worse—not because children are
fighting a lot more—but because their assaults have become more lethal.

Second, the problem is not limited to inner cities. The recent school shooting in small towns
have countered the stereotype that so many of us previously may have had that youth violence
is an inner city gang-related problem. In fact, while youth homicide rates in major urban areas
have dropped in recent years, rates in mid-sized urban areas are constant, and even increasing
in some areas.

Third, homicides are only the tip of an iceberg in terms of youth violence. There's an
underlying layer of violent behavior that should concern us, both for its own sake and as a
precursor to lethal violence. According to CDC's Youth Risk Behavior Survey, a national
survey of high school students in 1995, 40 percent of high school students reported being in at
least one physical fight in the past 12 months, 20 percent reported carrying a weapon at least
once in the previous 30 days, and nearly 8 percent carried a gun. Approximately one-half of
the students who reported carrying a weapon also reported carrying the weapon at school.

f1s=N
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Fourth, the majority of school violence appears to occur among acquaintances, not strangers.
The 1992 to 1994 School-Associated Violence study found that 85 of the 105 deaths resulted
from interpersonal disputes, not random violence inflicted by strangers. In other words, the
young person's inability to handle anger, perceived provocation or rejection by friends too
often fuels a violent and oftén lethal response.

What can we do about this problem now? There are actions we can take now that could have a
tremendous impact. We could increase programmatic efforts to prevent young people from
using anger or any kind of force as a response to interpersonal problems. And we can prevent
the escalation of violent behavior into lethal actions. Prevention research indicates that many
strategies have promise such as parenting programs that focus on parents of young children and
school-based training that enhances students’ social and problem-solving skills. Recent
evaluations of such programs confirmed that they do have an impact on reducing aggressive
behavior and violent acts. This past spring, the Journal of the American Medical Association
described the evaluation of a school-based violence prevention program showing a reduction of
physical aggression and fighting in the school and its surroundings. :

This finding added to the growing list of youth violence prévention strategies that we're
supporting at CDC and appear to be making a difference. For example, an earlier report in the
American Journal of Preventive Medicine described CDC youth violence prevention
products—projects, and the preliminary results of the school-based projects such as Peace
Builders which is based in Tucson, Arizona, and the Richmond program are a good indication
that strategies such as creating a culture of peace in the schools and developing positive adult
role models within the school or teaching alternative methods to deal with violence in with the
students in school settings are, indeed, effective.

What does public health offer? Together with education, law enforcement, and the other
sectors, public health can make an important contribution to preventing youth violence. We're
pursuing projects in the following areas: quality, school-based violence prevention. Schools
need to know about effective violence prevention programs. Many schools have programs that
are not based on the best scientific knowledge and some that have programs that are based on
good scientific knowledge are not implementing them as designed. This needs to be addressed.

Parenting programs—parenting programs are important, because the behavior of adults in the
home can have an enormous influence on children, and parenting skills training can make a
difference in preventing violence and anti-social behavior. We need to find ways to reach out
to very high-risk youth. Many youth are not accessible in traditional setting such as schools.
We need to support implementation of efforts to identify and recruit high-risk youth into
programs intended to reduce the risk of violence.

So, violence is with us, regrettably, still. The recent school-associated killings should cause us
to redouble our efforts at prevention. The time to take action is now. And along with our
partners in other Federal agencies, such as the Department of Justice and Education, I think the
public health community can make a substantial contribution to preventing violence among
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children.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my testimony, and I'm happy to answer any questions you or
other members of the Subcommittee may have.

SEE APPENDIX D - WRITTEN STATEMENT OF RODNEY HAMMOND, DIRECTOR
FOR THE DIVISION OF VIOLENCE PREVENTION, NATIONAL CENTER FOR
INJURY PREVENTION AND CONTROL, CENTERS FOR DISEASE CONTROL AND

PREVENTION

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you very much, Dr. Hammond, for your testimony and for—again,
for your patience with us this afternoon.

Yesterday I visited an elementary school in the school district where I grew up, and it
happened to be we were celebrating a program for National Turn Off the Television Week—
Dr. Cantor will be happy to know that—and we were giving out some certificates, and so
forth, to the kids. And I spoke with a woman who was the principal of the school, and she had
been with that school district teaching and in various administrative roles for 25 years. And I
asked her if she had noticed a change in the children over that 25 years. And she immediately
answered, "Yes.” Now this is in a upper-middle class community where the teachers at the top
end of the scale are paid $80,000-some dollars a year. This is—every lawn is nicely trimmed,
and this is the, sort of, model American community. And she said the difference is that these
kids are bringing all kinds of methodology in from the home to the classroom. ‘And I said,
"Even here? Here in Holland, Pennsylvania?" And she said, "Yes."”

I noticed that a lot of your recommendations were for school-based programs, and I made
some comments about the value that, I think, the school-based programs can have. There are
two sets of comments you hear from teachers. One is, "Gosh, we’ve got to deal with all this
stuff coming in from the home.” And, two, "Why do you legislators keep telling us to teach,
adding to our curriculum? You want us to teach this and then that, and then this, and then
basic science, and basic math, and then you want us to teach the kids values at the same time.
The school day isn’t long encugh.” '

So I just would like you to respond to that. How, without lengthening the school day, how do
we in good conscience tell our teachers; make these kids competitive internationally in the
basics, teach them social values and peace keeping and all of that? Is that—are those
expectation reasonable? Do we need to completely change the model of the way we educate
the children if we're going to do all of this in the school?

Mr. Hammond. Thank you for the question, it’s—and you raise a very complicated issue
about how much can we burden the existing school structure with broader agenda items that
affect society—and in violence that's certainly one of those. Actually, we’ve seen a number of
very good examples of adoption of violence prevention programs in school settings which the
schools tell us don’t seem to overburden them. For one thing, a lot of curriculum development
is going on that eases the opportunity for teachers to work with boys and girls in the classroom
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in a limited amount of time and not imposing on the other elements of the curriculum to deal
with things like conflict resolution, how we deal with anger, the meaning of violence.

The other point I would like to make is that doing good violence prevention programs in a
school setting doesn't necessarily mean it all has to happen in the classroom. The Peace
Builders project, which I alluded to, actually does a very good job and with firm outcome data
by working with those outside of the classroom including the building principal, the
counselors, and the kids, themselves, in spot events outside of the classroom day to build a
positive environment that gives peace messages and suggests alternative ways of responding.

In some cases for high-risk—I think—communities, it will be necessary to supplement the
teaching personnel with school psychologists, counselors, etc., who can implement some of the
programs and techniques that we know work very well, but for which the training that is more
common to the school psychologist will be better suited to implement the program. And I
think that these things are very adaptable.

Last point; we, already, in schools build into the curriculum in many states a requirement for
health education. That already happens, particularly, in the middle school environments and
beyond. What not reserve some of that time to deal with what is getting to be one of the
number one health problems we face in the Nation, V|olence prevention?

Mr. Greenwood. Do you think that might be as important as naming the bones in the body?
[Laughter.]

Of course, we need practitioners who are capable of doing that.

Thank you, sir. Mr. Scott.

Mr. Scott. Thank you, Dr. Hammond You mentioned a lot of programs. Are there any
components or elemients that are common to the successful programs? -

Mr. Hammond. Yes. The strategies that we've seen that seem to cut across successful
programs—and I might add, we are still evaluating and we're finding more and more about
what works to prevent violence—seem to involve a number of elements. Programs that focus,
again, on the basic skills that children can use to respond appropriately rather than violently to
a sense of provocation. Most children don't get in any kind of organized way an opportunity
to learn how to cope and manage anger which is a very normal response to provocation. But
we don’t actually teach how to manage it. Nowadays, it turns out, that is probably one of the
things that we can do to prevent children from choosing the option of violence, and very good
program emphasis anger management, skills building, mild assertion skills, ways of talking
through a problem without having to resort to violence, and for high-risk youth, programs that
feature intensive interaction with the boys and girls in a very, very rich setting in terms of the
opportunity to interact with responsible adults seem to be helpful, too.
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Mr. Scott. How much do these initiatives cost?
Mr. Hammond. I don't have exact figures on that for you, Mr. Scott.

Mr. Scott. Well, let me put it in perspective. A couple of years ago, Virginia passed a prison
construction plan that will cost, after the prisons are built, about $100 million dollars per
congressional district per year which multiplies out to about $30 to $50 billion dollars
nationally. I mean, are you talking anything that would compete with this kind of funding?

Mr. Hammond. Not at all. These programs would cost far less.

Mr. Scott. I mean, you're talking about funding that would be lost in rounding off to what
we're willing to spend on prisons after we've ignored the problem. Is that essentially true?

Mr. Hammond. I'm not sure I understand the question.

Mr. Scott. I mean, I mean for a couple of billion dollars you could fund everything you've
got in this—

Mr. Hammond. Well—
Mr. Scott. —in your presentation.

Mr. Hammond. Certainly that amount would fund a lot of programs. There's no question
about it.

Mr. Scott. And the program that we funded in Virginia didn't promise to reduce crime by any
statistically significant amount, and it breezed through our legislature about a 90 to 10—90
percent vote.

Mr. Hammond. Right.

Mr. Scott. Do you have evidence to show that if we cut the trajectory towards violence that
we can significantly reduce the incidents of violence? Dr. Patterson mentioned you can pretty
much track what's going on. And if you can cut that anywhere along the lines, do you have
evidence to show that that makes a difference?

Mr. Hammond. Dr. Patterson's work is noted and well-respected by us at CDC and the
others. And there's no question that early intervention programs seem to make a difference.
We have—the evidence is growing. Some studies, because they take a long time—if they
intervene early—to get to the point when you see very, very high risk to prove their results.
And so, I would say that the evidence is very, very promising that early intervention programs
which can be implemented in schools, especially, make a difference, yes.
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Mr. Scott. And the research on treating juveniles as adults is fairly clear that the juveniles will
get less punishment, and the crime rate will go up. That evidence is fairly well established,
too, isn't it?

Mr. Hammond. I'm not precisely familiar with all of the studies that you may be referring to.

Mr. Scott. Do you know any study that suggests that treating juveniles as adults will reduce
crime? . :

Mr. Hammond. No, I don't.

Mr. Scott. Are you famiiiar with the studies on Three Strikes and You're Out that conclude
that that's a waste of money?

Mr. Hammond. I'm not intimately familiar with those studies, but I certainly am aware of the
summary results.

Mr. Scott. And so, if you had a couple of extra billion dollars, you'd want to put it into
effective programs to reduce crime?

Mr. Hammond. Certainly, we're interested in prevention at CDC. We think resources
directed at prevention programs in the long run will make the biggest difference.

Mr. Greenwood. The gentleman from New Jersey for five minutes.

Mr. Payne. Thank you very much. When it gets to domestic violence, people say it's very
difficult to predict when crimes will occur. You've indicated that these recent crimes have
been committed by people who know each other, therefore, would you conclude that it will be
as difficult to predict and, therefore, perhaps to actually prevent these kinds of crimes if things
remain the same?

Mr. Hammond. Quite the contrary. [ think our best hope for prevention is in dealing with
the type of violence that's associated with people who know each other and that get into
arguments because there we know—if you can gather from the testimony previously given—a
lot about what we can do to intervene early with relationship issues, if you will. And I think
that is our greatest hope in contrast to the prevention of other types of violence committed by
strangers. That seems more in the domain, strictly of control in law enforcement.

Mr. Payne. So you feel that, perhaps, in the schools—as you indicated before—that more
attention should be. paid to this whole sort of violence prevention and to look at the areas or
programs that are working?

Mr. Hammond. Abs;olutely, I really do. Yes.

Mr. Payne. Just some questions, too—it's been indicated by Representative Scott—we hear
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about the cost of facilities. I've got some information here that says a typical juvenile
correction facility costs $102,000 per bed to build. That's not talking about running it once
it's in. The question of the fact that in 1994, statistics—and I assume it's higher now—that
there are nearly 200 million firearms in American homes—200 million, almost one for every
person in the country, maybe 50 million short, but these are 1994 statistics. I wouldn't be
surprised if it's caught up to the population. And the fact that we have seen in the new
Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act—that I call it—that there is the move to have
young people incarcerated with adult prisoners, to let them stay in an adult facility for longer
periods of time when statistics show that children in adult prisons are eight times more likely to
commit suicide. And so I just wonder, in our public policy that we see here today, do I simply
read these things differently since the move is to put them in with adults, the move is to allow

" weapons to continue to proliferate our society?

Well, I guess it's hard to ask the question because, you know, the answers are really—to me—
so basically clearly. But—well maybe I'll ask this; what do you think a person like myself
would believe that these things are going in the wrong direction? How can we educate,
perhaps, more people to understand that these things are public policy going in the wrong
direction, and that we should take a look at it and, perhaps, change?

Mr. Hammond. I'm not sure that I can answer your question, Mr. Payne. Many of the
things you refer to are, in some ways, a response that society has to protect itself. Our main
interest is to see that prevention is supported. Youth violence prevention works. . There are
things that we can do, on the prevention side, before we ever have to address those broader
issues and policy questions that you refer to. And I think that we should. There's no reason
that we shouldn’t. These incidents certainly give us a chance now to focus in that way.

Mr. Scott. Thank you.
Mr. Greenwood. Thank the gentieman. The gentlelady from New York for further inquiry.

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. Thank you. Going along with the lines of prevention—and I
think almost everybody here agrees—that prevention to me is the best medicine. I mean—and
‘it doesn't matter whether its violence, common cold, anything. Prevention is still the number
one issue. ' And I would like to kind of comment with Mr. Payne. I think sometimes here—
especially in this legislative body, not here, but the whole body—people look at it politically.
We're too soft on crime, and that's too bad because prevention, I do believe, will work longer
long-term than being soft on crime. I'm not-soft on crime. You do violence, you do the time.
But, again, we have to reach out to our young people, and I think that's the most important
thing we can do.

This is probably side-tracked a little'bit. You said homicides are down in this country. Is that
among with young people, also?

Mr. Hammond. Yes, "Down,” I said, "slightly.” There's an 11 percent decrease since 1993
in the homicide rates for ages 15 to 19, and a similar slight decrease for the younger ages.
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However, you have to put that in context. The overall homicide rates are very, very, very
high when you compare the U.S. to other industrialized countries.

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. Oh, now that [ know.

{Laughter.]

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. Just out of curiosity, has anyone done a study—because I can
probably name three or four people that I know that were involved in homicides but they
survived. Is anyone domg studies along those lines?

Mr. Hammond I'm not familiar. There may be someone. I'm not familiar with such
studies.

Mrs. McCarthy of New York. Okay. Thank you.
Mr. Greenwood. Thank the gentle lady.

Dr. Hammond, thank you again very much for your testimony. We appreciate your words of
wisdom this afternoon.

Mr. Hammond. Thank you.
Mr. Greenwood. And you are excused.

I had said earlier that I would offer the opportunity for any of the young people who are with
us and who have patiently listened to all this testimony, if they would—if any one of you thinks:
you would like to take this opportunity to offer this panel some words of your wisdom from
your perspective, we would welcome your comments. Have any of you decided to choose that
option?

Yes, sir. Well, you two éentlemen are welcome to come to the table with the unanimous
consent of the Subcommittee.. And if you gentlemen would identify—give us your names and
where you're from and we'll start with the gentleman in the green shirt. i

[Laughter.]

STATEMENT OF JUSTIN GASKIN, MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE FROM .
MOORECROFT, WYOMING; ACCOMPANIED BY KEVIN SUNSTROM, MEMBER OF
THE AUDIENCE FROM MOORECROFT, WYOMING

Mr. Gaskin. All right. My name's Justin Gaskin. I'm from Moorecroft, Wyoming, which is -
a very small town of about 800 in the northeastern part of the State.
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Mr. Greenwood. And the other gentleman?
Mr. Sundstrom. My name's Kevin Sundstrom. I'm also from Moorecroft, quming.
Mr. Greenwood. Okay, and what would you like to recommend to this Subcommittee?

Mr. Sundstrom. My personal view on the issue, I believe that a lot of the juvenile crime is
related to home issues. I believe that Congressman Roemer suggests a good issue when a lot
of it is family-based. And when we look at a lot of the crime, a lot of it is committed with
guns, and so forth, but I think there's problems in the home that can drive people to go and use

guns.

And I think that a lot of the solutions should tend to be family based, because when kids grow
up in families that teach good morals and they teach good things. I don't think that the media
will have an effect on children, because if they're taught good morals and so forth, I believe
that they can grow up and watch bad shows and it shouldn’t have any effect on them because
they've been taught well throughout their family. In, whereas, they've been trying to have
schoolteachers teach morals in school, I think it's not really the school’s place to teach morals.
I think it's a home-based issue where morals and values should be taught. And I think that the
best way to address the issue would be through family-and home-based solution.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you, sir. And if I can offer an editorial opinion; the gentleman's
words are well made and well taken. I think part of the struggle for this committee is what to
do with the kids who come from families where those values are not taught at home and where
society takes over.

Yes, sir?

Mr. Gaskin. Okay. Listening to all of these comments, one fact remains, is that juvenile
crime is a problem and it has to be faced by Congress, by the American people, to try to find
the solution. But as we look at the problem, we see that it's not really one certain rite, or one
cause of it. There's many types of the causes. We see that many states have identified links
on juvenile crime to poverty to media and the violence, guns at home, the lack of morals in the
home. And I think what has to be done is, you know, there can be initiatives made by
Congress that, you know, focuses on juvenile crime, but there has to be, you know, in my
opinion, there has to be other factors. I mean, poverty has to be also looked at, too, and that

has to be addressed. There, you know, handgun laws or assault weapon laws also have to be

enforced better. Media and the violence has to be enforced. And I don’t know if Congress
can do all of those at once, but I think in order to solve the juvenile crime problem, they have
to be addressed all at one time to get the solution.

Mr. Greenwood. Well, I thank both of you gentleman for your courage and your poise and,

also, for showing us that there—you're typical of most American young people who are, in
fact, well raised and composed of good values, and a reflection of what's good about our
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school systems. You gentleman may be excused.
Mr. Gaskin. All right. Thanks a lot for the opportunity.
Mr. Greenwood. [ thank all the members for your participation.

If you gentleman would give your names to the clerk, that would be helpful. Thank all the
members for—

Mr. Payne. I think there's a lady that would like to speak there. This little girl in the—
Mr. Greenwood. Oh, we have some additional witnesses.
Mr. Payne. I wouldn't want anyone to think you were disregarding the ladies—
[Laughter.]
I mean that's not your nature, I know.
[Laughter.]
Mr. Greenwood. I'm the father of two daughters. I have learned to not to disreggrd females.
[Laughter.)
STATEMENT OF ORIANA HAIR, MEMBER OF THE AUDIENCE FROM ALBANY,
CALIFORNIA; ACCOMPANIED BY MARISA GREENBERG, MEMBER OF THE
AUDIENCE FROM ALBANY, CALIFORNIA; BRIDGET McNICHOLAS, MEMBER OF

THE AUDIENCE FROM CHICAGO, ILLINOIS, AND SETH FARNSWORTH, MEMBER
OF THE AUDIENCE FROM MOORECROFT, WYOMING

Ms. Hair. Thank you. My name is Oriana Hair, and I'm from Albany, California, which is a
small town outside of Berkeley.

Ms. Greenberg. I'm Marisa Greenberg, and I'm from Albany, also.

Ms. McNichelas. Hi, my name is Bridget McNicholas, and I'm from Chicago, Illinois. I'm a
junior at the University of Notre Dame.

Mr. Farnsworth. I'm Seth Farnsworth and also from Moorecroft, Wyoming, like the other
two.

Mr. Greenwood. Okay. Why don’t we start with the young lady on the far right?
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Ms. McNicholas. First of all, I just wanted to thank you and commend you on the importance
you're placing on the spiritual and moral development of children and that the importance that
spiritual and moral development plays in violence prevention. And, I just want to say that I
probably come from not a typical family because my mom's a social worker and my dad’s an
attorney and they both do divorce mediation. Well, they mediate together. And, so much of
what I've grown up with is my parents teaching us proper ways of communicating and—
because that's what they do for a living—and proper conflict resolution.

And, as I get older, I can see with my friends and with other people I'm involved with in the
community service I do at Notre Dame, that people don't know how to communicate with each
other a lot of times. And what is mild for them at home or from adults is what they learn and
what—and that is how they act. And so I think it's very important that emphasis be placed on
parenting classes and parenting skills and teaching parents how to resolve conflict in the home,
because so much of what young people see and learn is what their parents teach them. -So, I
think that's really—importance should be placed on that, on the parenting.

Ms. Greenberg. I was listening earlier and a lot—someone said that morals should be taught
in school, but who's to say that the teachers' morals are going to be what should be taught?
And I also think that—you know—it should come from the home, but if it's not, then like
myself, personally, I found it from a coach or—you know—someone outside of the home who
taught me—you know—what I should, well not what I should, but what she thought. And I
respected her views, and so I learned a lot of my opinions from her. And so, who's to say that
my teacher's going to have the same opinion?

And also, that a lot of—there's also an emphasis on kids hiding what happens at school and—
you know—they saw the gun but they didn't say anything. There's was a drive-by at my
school. It's a very small school—900 kids. There was a drive-by and nobody reported it for
three weeks because they didn't want people to know what was going on. And the
administrators didn't know about it, the staff didn't know about it, the kids—a lot of the kids
didn't know about it. I was at work and a teacher came up to me and said, "Hey, do you know
what happened with this? Because, you know, nobody’s releasing any details to us, and we
don't know.” And then it all came out, but who's to say—you know—why they didn't tell.
And then—okay, go.

Ms. Hair. I think the problem is seeded in the home, but you can’t solve everything in one
place, and it needs to be taken on by the public schools. And I've seen great, great strides
taken in peer mediation where students, themselves, are taught how to deal with talking to
other students and deal with their emotions, and I find that's a really great program.

Mr. Greenwood. Thank you. Yes, sir?

Mr. Farnsworth. [ also think it goes back to the home and the idea of appeasement and giving
in to a child's demands, and it starts at a young age. And then the child begins to be more and
more self-centered on themselves instead of other people and thinking more about themselves
instead of their peers and the rest of the people around them. And then, when something bad
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happens to them in a more public place where their parents or guardians aren't there to appease
them or give them what they want, then they take their actions out on their peers or people
around them. And that's why, I think, that it goes back to the home, but you can't fix every
home in America, so you have to also bring it into schools and make it as public as possible.

Thank you.

Mr. Greenwood. Well, thank the four of you for your very valued testimony. We appreciate
your willingness to do that. Thank you.

Again, thank the members of the panel for your participation. This is a profound issue. We
are not going to walk away from it this afternoon. We will return to this issue and look
forward to working with other members of this committee towards developing some solutions.
Thank you.

SEE APPENDIX E — WRITTEN STATEMENT OF CONGRESSMAN MARTINEZ FROM
THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

This Committee meeting is adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 4:30 P.M., the Subcommittee adjourned subject to the call of the Chair.)
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Youth Violence: Coming Soon to a School Near You

Recent réports from the US Departments of Justice and Education reflect a slight reduction in
school crime. but try to explain this to parents in Jonesboro. Arkansas; Pearl, Mississippi;
Paducah. Kentucky; or to citizens and parents in Edinboro, Pennsylvania who experienced the
killing of a teacher. along with the wounding of another teacher and two students this past
weekend.  Since 1992, there have been 211 violent-associated school deaths that we can
document. The incidents are just as likely to occur in rural and suburban America as they are in
the inner city.. We are all still reeling from the recent shocking reminder in Jonesboro,
Arkansas, that violent juvenile crimes -- even when they invade only 10 percent of our nation’s
schools -- are symptoms of danger and dysfunction that must not be ignored.

It should not require an act of courage for parents to send their children to school. Although the
incidence of crime and violence may have declined slightly, the severity of those incidents
continues to escalate. Fistfights and fire drills in schools have been replaced by gun fights and
crisis drills. Violence is no respecter of persons, geography, class, color or ethnic origin. And it
can happen anywhere. While the average American can no doubt name the five largest urban
metroplexes in the country where violence often occurs, who could predict that it would
galvanize towns such as Grayson. Olathe. Blackville, Lynnville, Moses Lake, Bethel, Jonesboro,
Pearl. West Paducah and now Edinboro?

For the most part, violence does not begin in schools. It walks onto school premises from the
neighborhood. It enters the school doors with students, educators, visitors, volunteers and
predators and sometimes even campus supervisors. Violence evades metal detectors, counselors
and teachers because fear. anger. hopelessness, longing, and frustration are carried invisibly in
hearts and minds. Whatever the source of that violence, whether from the home, the community
or elsewhere. the effects of violence on learning are so destructive that educators are placing
school security on the education agenda out of self-defense and necessity. Teachers can’t teach
and students can’t learn in an environment of intimidation and fear.

Despite our best intentions. school safety cannot be legislated. It must be grown and developed
from within. True crime prevention begins with heartware, not hardware. It is supported with
positive attitudes and actions, which promote the safety, success and well-being of all children.
Thus, it behooves us to eliminate those aspects of American life that conspire to rob all too many
children, youth, parents. workers and citizens in general of their energy, hope and desire to learn
and succeed.

Understanding Youth Violence

Before we can identify the causes of youth violence, we must first examine its pervasiveness and
the scope of the school violence problem. One out of twelve young people who stay away from
school do so because of fear. This is a national tragedy.

A 1994 study produced by Metropolitan Life Insurance indicated that one in four students and
one in nine teachers are annually attacked in schools.

According to “Violence and Discipline Problems in U.S. Public Schools: 1996-97,” a study by
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the National Center for Education Statistics. 10 percent of all public schools experienced one or
more serious violent crimes (i.e.. murder. rape or other sexual battery, suicide. physical attack or
fight witli a weapon. or robbery) that were reported to police or other law enforcement officials
during the 1996-97 school year.

According to the U.S. Department of Justice's report, “Juvenile Offenders and Victims: 1997
Update on Violence.™ the rate of violent victimization of juveniles (ages 12 through 17) was
nearly three times that of adults in 1994. In 1995. 10 percent of high school students sand they
had carried a weapon to school in the 30 days- precedmg the survey.

According to the Federal Interagency Forum on Child and Family Statistics’ “America’s
Children: Key National Indicators of Well-Being,” in 1994. almost 2.6 million youth ages 12 to
17 were victims of violent crimes.

The U.S. Department of Justice’s “Juvenile Arrests 1995 summarizes arrest statistics of
juveniles. Findings are derived from data reported to the FBI’s Uniform Crime Reporting
Program. In 1995. juveniles were involved in 32 percent of all robbery arrests; 23 percent of all
weapons arrests; 15 percent of all murder and aggravated assault arrests; and 13 percent of all
drug arrests.

The Public Agenda’s Getting By: What American Teenagers Really Think About Their Schools,
the results of a fall 1996 random telephone survey of 1,300 high school students nationwide
revealed that 48 percent of public school students said that drugs and violence are serious
problems in their schools.

Causes of youth violence _
Understanding youth violence is a complex issue which is atfected by a wide variety of social,
economic, political and individual factors.

In a cooperative study involving the National School Safety Center and the Centers for Disease
Control. an analysis was made of “School Associated Violent Deaths™ during the 1992 to 1994
school years. Specific common tactors were identified among perpetrators:

e 40 percent had a past background of criminal misbehavior:

24 percent had been previously involved with substance abuse;

35 percent were involved in gangs; and

70 percent had previously brought a weapon to school.

Since July of 1992. the National School Safety Center has identified 211 school-associated
violent deaths, most of which involved intention to cause personal injury. Using these factors and
percentages, consider this:

¢ If 40 percent of the perpetrators had a criminal background the inverse of this data is that 60
percent did not;

¢ [If 35 percent were gang-involved, the inverse suggests that 65 percent were not;
¢ [f 24 percent were drug-involved. the inverse suggests that 76 percent were not.

The data suggests that even with all we know, what we don’t know is greater than what we do
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know. This suggests that there are many other factors that influence the development of youth
violence.

Researchers and youth-serving professionals have identified many risk factors which contribute

1o violence. Perhaps the top two such factors are a history of victimization and perceptions of
isolation. :

Past victimization. Research involving schoolyard bullies reflects that about 80 percent of
bullies were first victims of bullies — in the form of parents, peers, siblings or others. Many
victims become perpetrators of crime in response to their own experiences with ridicule, physical
punishment, torment and abuse. The combination of being both a victim and a perpetrator makes
it more difficult to understand and sort through the causes of violent behavior. The way
youngsters are treated by parents is perhaps the most influential predictor of child behavior.
Most psychologists agree that bullying and aggression are leaned behaviors. If they are learned,
the implication is that they can be unlearned.

Youngsters who feel isolated, neglected, ignored and ridiculed. This factor itself is

complicated. Some suggested causes of perceptions of isolation and neglect include:

¢ economic deprivation that distances children and youth from peers who have advantages and
comforts they lack: :

¢ lack of growth and enrichment activities such as conversation with family members,
childhood reading experiences. exposure to social activities with family members and
friends. pre-school classes:

¢ lack of nurturing role models and persons who can serve as caring supervisors, mentors or
advocates;
youngsters' perceptions that they are not understood and not appreciated;
conflicts and isolation perceived due to differences among the culture of the family and
varieties of cultures in the school or larger community; -

o family disorganization and lack of meaningful rituals (for example, shared mealtimes,
birthday celebrations and family outings)

Other causes of violence in youth include:

A background of misconduct and trouble at home, at school and with the law. One of the
best predictors of future behavior is past behavior. Youngsters who begin at home to act out,
withdraw, bully others and evidence impaired attention spans reveal potential indicators of future
trouble. Such children are candidates for immediate and early intervention. Consequently,
prevention and early intervention activities and programs through churches, social services
agencies and schools can go far to ensure that disruptive, delinquent behavior does not become
ingrained.

It is critical to guide children through positive role modeling, encourage them through positive
mentoring, and help them achieve success through supervision and support.

Social skills deficit disorder.
A common patiern among perpetrators is a social skills deficit disorder, which is often

c.
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characterized by rage, defiance. thoughtlessness, detachment and nonconnectivity. Often these
youngsters feel powerless and hopeless: but with a gun, they feel powerful and in control.
Several riew teims have been developed over the years to describe these kinds of individuals,
including ADHD (attention deficit hyperactive disorder), ODD (oppositional defiant disorder)
and IED (Intermitted Explosive Disorder). Whatever the label, the result of disruptive,
delinquent behavior is-unacceptable.

School failure. School failure is a significant predictor of later offending. Because such failure
is'a consistent predictor or correlate of violent behavior. it may be useful to identify children who

" are at risk of school failure due to living in high-risk, economically deprived neighborhoods.

Such children must be targeted for preschool intellectual enrichment programs, which have
correlated positively with reductions among at-risk children in school failure and later offending.

Alcohol and other drugs. Use of alcohol and other drugs tends to diminish inhibitions and
lower an individual’s threshold for violence. .School administrators across the country are
looking for ways to identify early the potential for violence. For instance, Carmel High School
in Indiana mandates a drug test when a youngster is suspended or expelled from school for an
infraction. Early results have shown that 40 percent of students tested because of fighting tested
positive for illegal substances. 42 percent of students violating the tobacco policy also tested
positive for illegal substances. The good news about Carmel High’s testing program is that after
the testing, 64 percent of all students who tested positive for an illegal substance received
treatment. )

Gang involvement and gang violence. Involvement in gangs is a vicious cycle of intimidation,
violence and retaliation masquerading as “belonging” and taking part in peer rituals. A sample
study of 1,000 youth reported in the November/December 1997 issue of Juvenile Offender
reveals that adolescents who join ‘street gangs are more involved in delinquent acts than are
adolescents who are not gang-involved. Gang members_ were responsible for 65 percent of
general delinquency, 86 percent of serious crime, 60 percent of public disorder, 70 percent of
drug sales. 63 percent of alcohol abuse and 61 percent of drug use. In addition, gang members
often escalate violence through their rivalries and retaliation activities. In several of the major
school shootings, individuals were gang-involved or negatively influenced by peer groups. For
instance, in Pearl, Mississippi, the perpetrator was a member of satanic cult; in Bethel, Alaska,
and Lynneville, Tennessee, the shooters were influenced by other students.

Prejudice and discrimination. Emphasis on differences, along with acts of bigotry based on
differences, has perhaps done more to fuel gang membership and involvement than anything else
in American society. The way others are treated, particularly newcomers, has a great deal to do
with the alliances and affiliations that are formed. However, prejudice and discrimination are
pervasive in society at large, not simply instrumental in encouraging the formation of gangs or
other social groups. Inbred fear, hate and discrimination are often imperceptibly passed from
one generation to another without any defensible justification or understanding.

Violence publicized in the media and sports. Violence is woven throughout our culture in
movies, sports and the media. Our societal attraction to violence is exhibited in our crime rates
and in the media. Such publicity has a significant effect on stimulating youth violence. Young
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people tend to become what they see and what they experience. The United States has one of the
highest rates ‘of interpersonal violence among all nations of the world. In addition, the United
States has the highest homicide rate of any Western industrialized society.

‘When it comes to the media. the theme seems to be “if it bleeds, it leads.” There is a tendency to
showcase the most violent acts in daily news reports. Oftentimes fights at school are not reported
unless there is a serious injury. Even video and arcade games have taken on a deadly and violent
character. The marketing language tells the story. We’ve gone from “Mortal Combat” to
“Mortal Combat II” to ultimate annihilation and even worse. The way we die says so much
about the way we live. Death review boards across the country have observed that now when
youngsters kill each other. it is often not simply a single shot that brings death to the victim, but
multiple shots to the head. chest or groin, reflecting not simply violence, but raging violence.

Easy availability of guns. Despite the argument that people kill, guns don't, the easy

accessibility of weapons to young people in this country is staggering.

e A 1993 study of juvenile possession of firearms drawn from questionnaire volunteer
responses of 835 male serious offenders in 6 juvenile correctionat facilities in 4 states and
758 male students in 10 inner-city schools near those facilities revealed:

¢ 83 percent of inmates and 22 percent of the students had possessed guns;

e 55 percent of inmates carried guns all or most of the time in the year or two before
being incarcerated: 12 percent of the students did so, with another 23 percent carrying
guns now and then. ) '

* When asked how they would get a gun. 45 percent of the inmates and 53 percent of
the students would “borrow” one from family or friends; 54 percent of the inmates
and 37 percent of the students said they would get one “off the street.”

e A Harvard School of Public Health survey in 1993 revealed that of the 2,508 students
surveyed (in 96 public and private elementary, middle and senior high schools, grades 6
through 12), 59 percent said that they could get a handgun if they wanted one. Two or three
who knew where to get a handgun said that they could get one within a 24-hour period.

In the old days. when fistfights were the way to settle arguments, young people would walk away
with a few bruises or black eyes. Today, however, with guns it is about body counts, not bruises.

"We have transitioned from the single shot zip guns to the six shooter to semi-automatic weapons.

There seems to be a tendency to see how much more violent the next school-associated violent
death can be.

Absence of responsible adult supervision. Despite all of the high-tech strategies including —
camera surveillance, metal detectors, motion sensors and access control systems — still the
single most effective strategy for preventing youth violence is the physical presence of a
responsible adult in the immediate vicinity.

The above are just a few of the causes associated with violent juvenile behavior. We must
develop recommendations for actions that parents, educators and students themselves must take
to eliminate this threat to the education and development of skilled, knowledgeable, socially
responsible citizens.
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What can be done?

Teachers are so frustrated about school safety that such issues are now becoming part of their
collectivé bargaining agreements. Emerging components of collectlve bargaining agreements
include recommendations such as the following:

zero tolerance policy. applicable to all students, for assaults or any weapons or
dangerous devices capable of producing bodily harm;

expulsnon of students who repeatedly engage in actions resulting in serious V|olanons,
cooperative problem-solving to develop impruved security procedures mvolvmg
teachers and school staff:

automatic and immediate expulsion for assaults on educators;

requirement for students expelled for violent behavior to successfully complete a
behavior modification program prior to school readmittance;

reassignment to another school for students who have assaulted an educational
employee (Receiving schools will be given all information, available concerning
assaultive students.):

immediate investigation of allegations of assault or weapons possessnon followed by
prompt and reasonable action to protect all parties: _

prompt reporting to appropriate school security or police personnel of incidents of
assault or weapons possession; ' . ' ‘

prioritizing the establishment of area safety and sccurity before providing emergency
treatment; S

requirement for school district to file criminal charges against any student or any
patron found to be on school premises under the influence of drugs and or alcohol
(School district will support any employee who chooses to file such criminal civil
charges.); '

annual evaluation of hearing officers for student due process hearings;

school district authonzauon for employees to use force to prevent injury to self or
another;

requirement for school district to train all employees to deal wnh threatening students
in a non threatening manner; .

requirement for the school district to continue payment of an employee’s salary

_ without charging sick leave when employee has been injured due to school violence;

requirement for school district to provide leave with pay for one week for any
educator assaulted by a student or patron, whether or not the employee has been
injured;

requirement for school district to pay any legal fees incurred in holding students and
parents liable for damages; and

requirement for school district to provide leave with pay if the employee is injured as
a result of school violence. .

What Congress Can Do
What can be done at the federal level to mediate against causes of youth violence such as those [
have outlined?

1. Place school safety on the national agenda.
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2. Permanently fund the National School Safety Center:
** to serve as a central resource for model programs;
¢ to provide training and technical assistance; and

¢ to provide national leadership as a catalyst for promoting and pteserving school
safety.

. The National School Safety Center is the nation’s leading schooj crime prevention resource
and brings with it a wealth of resources and experience. Funding for this much-needed
program has expired. :

3. Continue to provide grant funds for research and evaluation of violence prevention
programs and strategies.

4. Fund rigorous longitudinal studies of populations of at-risk children and youth to
“identify. causal factors influencing youth violence and to identify protective factors that
demonstrate effective prevention/intervention results.

5. Encourage state legislation which focuses on:

¢ comprehensive safe school legislation;
improved information sharing;
expanded alternative school programs for troubled youth;
expanded after-school programs for children and youth;
youth community service and involvement through volunteering;
development of truancy prevention/intervention programs;
interagency cooperation and collaboration; and
encouragement of teacher training in school violence prevention.

Action at the local level

This nation’s educational system has its foundation at the local level. Education is a federal
concemn, a state function and a local responsibility. Assigning such responsibility to parents,
students, educators and other citizens closest to the need for schooling is both appropriate and
demanding. There is much to do in carrying out the educational mission of the schools and in
preserving schools as safe havens for leamning. The following list details ways in which school
administrators, law enforcers. parents. students and local citizens can promote the educational
mission of schools and preserve schools as safe havens in which children can lean and develop
their skills as successful, socially responsible citizens. :

No. 1: Place school safety on the top of the educational agenda on each campus and within
the community. =

School administrators tend to get not only what they expect and deserve, but also what they
measure. When the district makes a conscious decision that safe and welcoming schools are a
high priority-and measures its progress by assessing aspects of school safety, that commitment
provides the basis for the development of strategies to achieve this.goal. Placing school safety on
the educational agenda is a mandatory first step toward safer and better schools.
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No. 2: Develop a comprehensive systemwide safe schools'plan. -

"A districtwide safe schools plan should be established, complemented by a safe schools plan for

each school site. These plans benetit from the collaborative input of parents, students, educators,
law enforcers, the courts. probation and social service personnel, and religious. corporate, and
other community leaders who represent the racial and ethnic balance of the community. Safe
school planning requires vigorous. ongoing interagency support. Community and corporate
partnerships should not focus merely on security and supervision but also on education. Plans
should be annually updated and broadly disseminated to students, parents and staff.

No. 3: Ampllfy the mission statement.

The school's mission statement should reflect the context in which the school and district wishes
academic leamning to take place. For instance, the phrase "To learn in a safe and secure
environment free of violence. drugs, and fear" enhances the school's legal position to create and
enforce policies promoting a safe. caring and disciplined school climate. A statement of this
nature can markedly increase the validity and credibility of the district's efforts to create and
preserve a safe environment.

No. 4: Enhance multicultural understanding.

Stress the unique worth of every person. Polarization among student groups and the rise in gang
activity indicate a need to develop educational programs that bring students together and focus
on cultural competence and cooperation, not merely tolerance.

No. 5: Ban forms of nonphysical intimidation.

"Hard looks,” "stare downs.” "mad-dogging” and “mean-mugging” should be added as
actionable offenses to the student code of conduct. Such threatening behavior should not be
tolerated. Psychological intimidation can be as damaging as physical assaults.

No. 6: Create an active student component.

Students should be involved in their own safety and in safety planning. Consult with students on
safety strategies and recommendations. Devise a life skills curriculum that focuses on good
decision-making, responsible citizenship and conflict resolution. School violence is the tangible

- expression of  unresolved conflict. If we can help children and youth identify and implement

constructive conflict resolution techniques, our campuses can be made much safer. A curriculum
that emphasizes courtesy and thoughtfulness will contribute toward this goal. Involve students in
planning and managing student events, campus beautification and crime reporting. Encourage
students to report any suspicious individuals on school grounds. Provide students and staff with a
toll-free, anonymous hotline for reporting weapons offenses and other criminal activity. Student
participation promotes responsible student development and maturity, enablmg students to be
part of the solution rather than being perceived only as part of the problem.

No. 7: Implement a peer counseling and peer mediation program.

Students represent one of the best agents for promoting and maintaining a safe campus. An
effective peer counseling program can head off many problems before they reach explosive
levels. Students trained as peer counselors can serve as influential resources for nonviolent
problem solving.
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No. 8: Make the campus welcoming.

School safety leadership begins at the top. Unquestionably, the best principals know their
students and spend much of their time outside their offices. Staying in touch cannot be
accomplished in a cloistered office. The way the day begins affects the climate of the entire day.
Greeting students at the front door. being present in the hall during class changes, visiting
classrooms and participation in special events is crucial.

No. 9: Establish an engaging system of extracurricular programs and services.

Without positive and challenging activities, students tend to fill the void with negative activities.
A safe school provides students with several options before, during and after school. Schools
must work with the community’s local recreation department, social services agencies and youth
and civic groups to ensure that children and youth and their families have a safety net of
agencies, advocates and services available to them.

No. 10: Develop and enforce a school dress code.

Students and staff tend to behave the way they are allowed to dress. Establish a districtwide dress
code policy that sets specific and unambiguous appearance standards for both students and staff.
Gang attire should be prohibited. and dress code expectations should be consistently enforced.
Contradictory policies and procedures and inconsistent enforcement by staff send mixed
messages to students. School statf should serve as role models for students. Involve students and

parents in developing appearance standards. Studems and parents will support and preserve what
they help create.

No. 11: Ensure that behavior expectations are clearly communicated, consistently enforced
and fairly applied.

School policies should reflect behavior expectations outlined in federal, state, county and local
statutes or ordinances. Review the student and teacher handbooks and place students, parents and
staff on notice. Require that students and parents provide written acknowledgment that they have
received and read the student behavior code.

No. 12: Carefully screen and select new employees.

One key decision parents and communities make involves deciding who will teach, train, coach,
counsel and lead their children. Keeping child molesters and pedophiles out of classrooms,
schools and youth-serving organizations is a major task. Responsible parenting and thoughtful
leadership on the part of schools and other youth-serving agencies should provide enough
reasons to establish appropriate safeguards for keeping child molesters away from children.
Increasing litigation against school systems and child-care providers has created a financial
reason to conduct appropriate background checks to protect the safety of children. Some school
systems and youth-service organizations already have faced multimillion-dollar lawsuits for their
failure to appropriately screen, properly supervise and/or remove employees who may present
risks to children. Every school system should have clear policy guidelines and procedures to
weed out individuals with criminal backgrounds of misbehavior involving children. Any record-
screening program must consider the rights of privacy and due process as well as the right to a
hearing when disqualification is involved. But the screening program also must balance these
rights against the rights of the children who will be served by the individual.

o
oo
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No. 13: Create a climate of ownership and school pride. :
Campus pride begins with a clean and orderly school. School maintenance efforts may also
include the development of a graffiti abatement and community clean-up program. School
officials should also work with police and community leaders to ensure the walk to and from
school is crime-free and nonthreatening. Together they can work on ways to-shut down drug
houses and stop illegal group activities in school neighborhoods. The local U.S. attorney and city .
and county officials represent some excellent resources to cultivate. Their support is critical to
abate gangs. drug activity and graffiti.

No. 14: Provide adequate adult supervision.

Young people need continuous responsible supervision. This may include teachers,
administrators, parents. campus supervisors. or law enforcement officers. By all means, do not
forget senior citizens. Like many young people. many senior citizens with talents and are looking
for something to do. Recent studies show that most young people believe adults play a major role
in counseling and encouraging kids toward nonviolence. .

No. 15: Identify specifically assigned roles and responsibilities. i

Policies and procedures that detail staff members' and parent-volunteers' responsibilities for
security should be developed. These responsibilities may include monitoring hallways and
restrooms, patrolling parking lots. and providing supervision at before-school and after-school
activities.

No. 16: Mandate crime reporting and tracking.

A uniform school crime-reporting and record-keeping system is critical to maintaining a safe,
secure campus. When administrators know what crimes are being committed on their campuses,
when and where the’ crimes are committed and who is involved. appropriate supervision can be
implemented. In addition. school leaders must analyze crime data to determine whether linkages
exist among criminal activities on campus.

No. 17: 1dentify and track repeat offenders.

Most school crime problems are caused by a small percentage of students. To discourage their
continued misbehavior and criminal acts. school leaders should track. monitor and closely
supervise these youngsters. <o

No. 18: Maintain close supervision and ensure remedial training for offenders.
Troublemakers should not be rewarded with more time off from school or lighter class
schedules. Their training and supervision should be intensified. Consider the following actions
when planning close supervision: Place such students with experienced teachers; develop
individual behavior and education plans; assign a specific counselor to each student; and assign
these students to lockers in areas that are clearly visible and easily supervised. Create a local
network of resources and youth-serving referral agencies in your community.

No. 19: Expand alternative placement options for troubled youth.

Youngsters who have committed weapons violations and other serious disruptions should be
rémoved from the mainstream educational setting and relocated to an in-school suspension
program or alternate education site within the district where closer supervision and greater
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No. 20: Consider placing a probation officer on campus.

Probation officers can provide additional intensive supervision_ for students on probation who
attend school. Exercising such an option can complement the efforts of student personnel staff,
who then can invest more time reinforcing positive behavior among all students. rather than
simply disciplining troublemakers.

No. 21: Require restitution and community service for all juvenile offenders.

Work with the presiding juvenile judge. the chief probation officer, and community or
government leaders to establish a community service and restitution program at the school.
Individuals involved in vandalism and malicious mischief should have positive means of making
amends to society for their offenses.

No. 22: Control campus access.

Parking lots and school buildings with multiple entrances and exits maximize the potential for
vandalism and defacement of vehicles and school property. Continuing efforts should be made to
minimize the number of campus entrance and exit points used daily. Access poitits to school
grounds should be supervised regularly by individuals familiar with the student body. Campus
traffic, both pedestrian and vehicular. should flow through aréas that can be easily and naturally
supervised. Delivery entrances used by vendors also should be checked regularly. Perimeter
fencing should also be considered as a means of restricting access to campus.

No. 23: Establish uniform screening procedures to monitor visitors and potential campus
intruders.

Signs directing persons to the office should be placed in strategic, visible locations and should be
large enough to attract visitors” notice. Visitors should be required to sign in at the school office,
state their specific school business. and be required to visibly display a visitor's badge. All
school employees should be trained to courteously challenge unidentified persons and direct
them to the main office. “May 1 help you?" is a kind, nonthreatening way to begin.

No. 24: Require picture identification cards for each student and staff member.

A school administrator is responsible not only for keeping students away from trouble, but also
for keeping trouble away from students. Being able to distinguish enrolled students from
nonstudents and guests is critical. An effective picture identification system enhances the control
and management of the campus. Authorized parent volunteers and school visitors also should
display clearly identifiable badges or name tags.

No. 25: Articulate a clearly defined locker policy.

The locker policy at each” school should appropriately reflect the district's custodial interest.
Students and parents should be notified that the lockers are school property. Students should be
advised in the student handbook that lockers "and their contents” may be searched at any time for
reasons of health and safety. Distributing district-owned locks to students or requiring that
students use only locks for which the school has combinations will further enhance the school's
custodial position in conducting routine locker checks.
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No. 26: Disseminate a summary of laws pertaining to school disorder. . .
The summary should be drafted by the district's legal counsel and disseminated through the
director of security to all site administrators and security personnel to ensure consistency of

student supervision and management. .

No. 27: Review discipline and weapons possession policies.

Ensure that policies attack the problem. and not simply the symptoms. Clearly distinguish
between disciplinary matters and criminal offenses. Identify top discipline problems and then
establish a task force of students. teachers, administrators and parents to review and/or develop
effective strategies and programs that promote a safe and secure campus.

No. 28: Establish a crisis response plan. .

Many problems can be avoided through responsible planning. However, sometimes a crisis is
unavoidable. A good crisis plan focuses on crisis prevention, preparation, management and
resolution. It also identifies community resources that serve students. The crisis response plan
should include step-by-step procedures for crisis situations.

No. 29: Establish an emergency communications center.

Use the latest technology 10 enable site administrators to make immediate contact with teachers
and school safety personnel. A school communications network should-link classrooms and
schoolyard supervisors with the front office or security staff, as well as with local law
enforcement and fire departments. At least one radio with cellular phone capability should be
available on campus for ‘emergencies. Detention classrooms or facilities for behaviorally
disruptive students also should have emergency call buttons. A fully computerized public safety
emergency frequency is recommended. .

No. 30: Promote crime prevention through environmental design. - . .
Trim or remove shrubbery that interferes with natural surveillance. Provide maxim
supervision in heavy traffic areas. Provide strategically located public telephones with dial-free
connections to emergency services. Relocate safe activities near typical trouble spots. For
instance, consider relocating a counselor's office near a corridor or locker bay where problems
have occurred. Conduct ticket sales or concession activities in or near problem areas. Eliminate
obstacles such as trash cans and architectural barriers that block or impede traffic flow as well as
supervision and surveillance. Use parabolic/convex mirrors in stairwells and locations that
require improved supervision. Replace double-entry restroom doors with an open zigzag design
to better monitor behavior in restroom areas. Use automatic flush valves and automatic water
faucets to reduce vandalism and control water consumption.

No. 31: Remove posters from all windows. i

Posters arid construction paper covering windows block natural supervision. Unless glaring sun
or the need for privacy mandates the covering of windows, they should be left clear to enhance
supervision.

No. 32: Use current technologies that promote crime prevention. .

A host of options exists relative to access control, property identification and supervision. For
example, consider electromagnetic door.locking systems. Proper control strategies such -as

53-221 99-3
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microdot systems. ‘surveillance cameras for difficult-to-supervise public areas and other high-
tech strategies may be appropriate. ’ o

No. 33: Limit opportunities to transport and store contraband. '

School systems have put in place crime prevention policies that include: allowing only clear
plastic or mesh book bags. or no book bags at all; eliminating lockers; establishing a'coat check
area for oversized articles of clothing capable of shielding weapons; and providing siudents with
two sets of textbooks. one for home and one for school, to eliminate the need for book bags and
to reduce the time for class changes. ’

No. 34: Stress that campus parking is a privilege, not a right. ..

The parking policy should emphasize that when students drive their vehicles on school property,
they agree to abide by campus rules and o having ‘their vehicles searched. Diminishing the
privacy expectation can deter the presence of contraband or weapons. The policy also enhances
the district's position for legal action relative to search and seizure.

No. 35: Enbance interagency cooperation among youth-serving professionals.

Creating safe schools is a community function. Schools cannot accomplish this task alone. Safe
schools actively cooperate with community agencies. Campus security operations should be
coordinated with local law enforcement agencies. Include law enforcers in your curriculum,
supervision and crisis planning. Community support agencies such as county mental health, child
protective services, department of parks and recreation, juvenile probation and the courts
together must identify students who are potentially dangerous and provide services to preclude
juvenile offenders from causing further problems. These agencies must also provide services that
assist in troubled students’ educational and personal development. "

No. 36: Consistently enforce the information-sharing agreements.

At least once annually. ‘school administrators should review their ‘information-sharing
agreements to ensure they comply with federal and state laws and to ensure school administrators
and staff are doing everything possible to share such information with those who have a
legitimate need to know. Special follow-up should be given by the court to ensure that court )
orders and other information-sharing agreements among agencies comply with court guidelines.
The student record policy should state that student records may be shared with any teacher, staff
member or youth-serving professional who has a legitimate need to know.

No. 37: Establish a parent/volunteer center on-each campus.’

The center can recruit, coordinate and encourage parents to participate in the educational
process. Possible activities include helping supervise hallways, playgrounds, restrooms or other
trouble spots. Classroom visits and participation in special events is encouraged. A special
training program that outlines expectations and responsibilities for parents in volunteer roles can
be particularly helpful. School crime decreases when responsible adult supervision is present.

No. 38: Conduct annual school safety training programs.
Prior to the start of each school year, training sessions should be held for all site administrators
and security personnel to review school safety procedures. Staff should be regularly updated on
safety plans through in-service training. The training should include certificated and classified
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staff as well as part-time and substitute employees.

No. 39: Provide teacher training programs.

Special in-house training on student behavior management should be offered for teachers and
administrators. Strategies that worked 20 years ago no longer may be effective. Teachers must
develop coping skills and techniques for controlling classroom behavior and dealing with
disruptive youth and angry parents.

No. 40: Conduct an annual review.

Every school should conduct an annual safety assessment of its safe school. The evaluation
component is a continuing reality check and refinement of the safe school actions and attitudes
that the school wishes to create and maintain. The assessment may reveal that additional steps
should be taken to improve adult supervision. revise curricula, pass legislation, redesign facilities
or establish new programs. )

Conviction and Commitment .

Well-educated. socially responsible citizens constitute this country’s greatest strength. On the
eve of the twenty-first century. we are called to act with conviction and pledge commitment from
the highest levels of government to the most intimate circles of caring — our families. Citizens

in partnership. we must guarantee that our children are educated in violence-free schools and
communities.



Q

ERIC

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

64

Briefing Page
The National School Safety Center
4165 Thousand Oaks Boulevard, Suite 290
Westlake Village, California 91362
. (805)373-9977

What is the National School Safety Center (NSSC)?

The National School Safety Center is America’s most definitive and focused national effort to promote a safe, welcoming
and violence-free cnvironment in our schools. School Safety is the top concern of parents nationwide. To meet national
education objectives, schools must first be safe and free of intimidation and fear. NSSC accomplishes this task through its
training and technical assistance activities.

How was NSSC established?

The National School Safety Center was created by presidential directive in 1984 to meet the growing need for additional
training and preparation in the area of school crime and violence prevention. NSSC's charge is to help combat the
incidence of crime so that schools can be free to focus on their primary job of educating our nation’s children.

What does the Center do? .

NSSC works with local school districts and communities.in developing customized safe school training and planning
programs. School districts facing major crises or specific school safety problems may call the Center for on-site technical
assistance and training. Since NSSC's inception, more than 1,000 training programs have been conducted nationwide.

NSSC serves as a clearinghouse for current information on school safety issues, maintaining a resource center with more
than 50,000 articles, publications and films.

The School Safety News Service. the definitive and most comprehensive source for school crime and violence prevention
planning available, is published by NSSC. School Safety, the NSSC newsjournal published three times each year, focuses
on specific issues relating to school safety and school violence prevention. School Safety Update, a newsletter published
six times during the school year, provides monthly updates from around the country on the most critical issues facing our
nation’s schools and promising strategies to meet those issues.

In addition to producing books, resource papers and films on school safety related topics, the Center sponsors practicums
and workshops in response to specific school safety issues. NSSC assembles groups of experts and practitioners together to
develop new strategies and model policies to address school crime and violence problems.

Who receives its services?

NSSC’s services and publications are used by school administrators, law enforcement, state and federal legislators, juvenile
and family court judges, journalists and other youth-serving professionals. School safety is disseminated to 50,000 youth-
serving professionals nationwide.

Why is its current support essential?

The work of creating safe schools is not yet complete. School safety is an ongoing process. As long as young people are
compelled to attend school, we must provide a safe and secure environment.

Weapons, gangs and drugs continue to plague our nation’s schools. Forty-three percent of our nation's 7-12 graders avoid
restrooms because of fear. For the past five years, over 175 individuals have been violently killed at school. Fights,
disruption and bullying continues unabated in many of the nation’s 100,000+ schools. We must redouble our efforts
towards school safety and remain focused on this critical mission. ’

NSSC is the only national organization fully dedicated to safe schools. NSSC provides the only nationally certified school
safety leadership training program. NSSC is the definitive service in safe schools keeping abreast of top education issues
and response strategies relating to safe schools. The educational experience, goodwill, productive capacity, networking
contacts and successful track record of NSSC place the Center in the strongest and most strategic position to deliver its
support to the safe schools’ movement. NSSC is without peer and must-be supported for the safety and well-being of all of
America's children.



¢9

| wopsw pampas : _
Zv ‘oo

-8umd v u) ‘gz ‘opuopoy
ooy £Aq ZZ' yumoys 10§ Buppred jooyos 91 ‘vo] jueq =350 10005 YBIH moA 1ISAZ621 01 9
S| ‘zeiq ueng £q pariyw) tooyos Asuoussygy _ X1 ‘vorsnopy
unfiioys woyy potp w8y Sued %005q1{(0H Jo punosBAeyd 91 ‘us3N sy} 100438 YB1H yoosquoN 69501 s
. souvesd
Peay 3y Uy 10ys Bmpeapsoyd 01 Kem uo jooyds : vO ‘wnounsey
‘asyun8 Buwd w yBnes Jo oy w wans Supssasd 91 ‘eM0 eprys 100498 YBIH runowmsey 26/0£/6 )
(pateru . . : _
-Buwf aq 01 paatjaq) pjo _ . VD 'wimuog
-waf-p| Aq oomipoqquis fooys 3 S| ‘oumfjauy 'V jawyxw 190455 YB1H so1m WSS €
11equo0) 1noqe Juaundm soye
‘91 ‘9QNE (FEYOP ‘ISR AN ‘wippoosg
£q 1388ep your " ynm paqqurs Aemijey fooyos $1 ‘siuug vojweg (00438 YB1H as0ys ynos WNUS K]
493 §,pua) 1Y J0 £13qqos jo ¥Bunapend v ‘sin) nueg
NOI IY W) YIBIP ) PIQGEIS 100935 B xomm 81 hopseg ey 190935 Wi xoomMm WL ‘1
. £6-7661 ‘1834 [ooydg

_ AU JSSN 9 S1UR0308 N1pM £Q (ILRI0Q0LI0D B JHIERIOP S 8] PIIY
......8.Ummz3.382#3.&-1;%;:-323.39.8::.83:33&%.&;!:ﬂaaalanl.au.alw.kt!!....t..!zs!z.
o ?»8&.8..38%_555_8..8%88%;5%_58.33&..33.86.3..3263_.33..:?
.§B§§§_J§ei§88§oﬂsl§8§§§o—_¢! (€
) - '|ootds B ¢ons e suoiseas sanBas wauj 10 0) Aem P Uo (2
(5100405 oaizusale Swpnjour) 7§ opwsS ySnosy uoeBsopury 10048 A7epu0as 20 Asmpowya feyyoased 0 ayeatad ‘oqnd Suswonouny e jo Ausdosd ag vo (|
"35585...___53:_9__.;5!53-:3.33.§§§;8§3§3§>SJ§§§< euysg

20)33.1() 2A11N33x7 ‘suagdng ‘q prewoy “1g
LLTGSLE/F08 394 o LLEGCLE/SOR SN o TICIG VD ‘SBumA IqepsIm o 06T NS “PAIG SHOOD PESSROY] $O1P
58383.52!3;3%_.

ANASTUS - 2661 AINE
ANNOD SHAVAQ INZ'T0IA AALVIDOSSV~100HIS

| seLtepaepdpy !

BEST COPY AVAILABLE



CEL - v

1By © 3© [0OYI5 Y| OYM 1UIPrIS : 8034 p7
plo-582£-6 Buin335 3)1ym 1s5040 wafoud Buisnoy Aus ut ._o._ j100ys 18 feduwd AN ‘ufjyoosg
Bued up SlEwIOINBIUIS WW-6 Yumloys  [[BN AU OF Jo WOy W - . 8v *Ajeq wiued looyog Arewswai3 g1 SJTE/LITI Al
07 ‘UL sawef uipjuely
£q sured jjequayseq anSes; anajyie P . S * 14 ‘pusjaa :
yinoK e saye 13y ul paqquss Ajjere : (arew) ‘py %8._ ae»h _8.3 PP WNSIMPROSTEO1/ZH ‘91
UBW JIYIOUE PIPUNOM 7 WIIIA 104S P : :S__om .- :
wAT pass1us oym udw Z Aq jleqiayseq - : : WIoJ) 133415 SSOUSB PAAY) - v, .= ‘ofeaiy) -
"Buikerd ajim SN (839495 tOYS - o wniseswS jooyas - 61 SWERIIIM¥PMIPAY _S_Bm a._a_!o? - TO/EMTL 1
S1 ‘anym ._._uv.o_. £q yoeq UIO0JSSE]D IIUIIIS 200 : (ajew) T owoo_..o )
ut joys Yuawiniilse o) s3pueisiq wC IPISING Kemifey |00Yds ‘§1 ‘uosme] ukpuojag 10042 YBIH UPPE PIeMPITE/OT/LL; . ¥l
1%ou( SN2|E S, WHNA (8335 0} . "
) Suikny sypnok p Aq aseyp e syanok ¢ Aq sseyd Jaye v ‘weyBuiuing
Jaye peay Jo yoeq ul Joys . ) sndurea jooyas uo 91 “Jf ‘uosoer |FeYlN fooyds YRy prouNedT691/1 | ‘th
. . 19ZUaM ENY JO pueqsny _ S
. ajim Buijpy Jaye Jj3s 10ys ‘ap1oIns jooyss 3y 18 paBurnsa 3 s00uBus 551A105 . . .
S Ja1ndinod ‘6¢ ‘19ZUIM AN X\ ‘uoisnoHZE/E1/11 Tl
_ pueqsny ideq 'p3 [e133ds jo Jiey) X1 ‘uoisnoH
paduesniss £q umop pauung (ooyds a3 e *6€ ‘[9zUsM Yosuag euy 100y>s YBiH o) ureyBueze/E1/1t ‘1
awoy wouy .
51 yum Swikeid apym jorsid : ; © 1 te8eny)
LT Yum 135 toys Kjjeiuapiode ~ WooIssEd |00Y3s £1 ‘woqke)) Anm 100yds Areuawa|3 ueuaySZ6/01/11 01
paiejas-8ued Ajqissod 183 $ JUBjIESSE
‘unTyoys yum 1SoYd Ut J0ys w___io__e Ajjeauapidoe 29 10)
taed paddols wouy pajind wnsa Sunyred jooyos Bujaes| Jaye ) X1 ‘uospseysry
‘uateaq Jed ui Juipus puawy ¥ ) m:_ 3PISINO [00YS JeU L1 '33do0) yo1Rg UL 00yss yBiY saupeg 6911 ‘6
185 1y uo Suidwnf wosy synok .8_.:&:.8 pueq Suipuaye 3jim . ’ . s
do1s 01 182 Jo 1no 108 3y uaym 2 1)yBnep J0 183 U1 Buntem (wuapus jo sayiey) v ‘Au) uotun
sus33 jo dnosB Aq paqqms . [00Y9s YB1Y WOJ) 13905 §50138 | p “JYOYUISM * J Sewoyy 100y>s yB1H uwBory sowrerze/L 1/01 '8
100Y3s st
Eoc 133215 $50458 ‘Owoy fooyas 03 Suiyjem spym 1 ‘o8ea1yD
seau asyund Sued ug 10ys 00YdS WoJj 133415 $50.98 L ‘s1aeQ jjanueq (ooyos £ seuswalg 1DuuTE/EI0l L
HIVY32Q 40 IBNVYO ENIAIONI 30 NOIIVOOT SIRIIDIA "TOOHOS aava “ON !




ways £q undpuey Joys-6
S9q1[B3 ZT' YA YRWONS U) Joys

E_g_u Sued u) paqqes

81 ‘uoBaiy ey

£q 3)1ux B 7 JIAUPMAIIS B YNM PIQQEIS
seam witia w3y Suvd o1 sopumsiq e

yesdeuy s, orewsse}d w) paBreydsip ey
wnule LS€ Wwoyy 191jnq Leans 4Q toys

Juapmys Jo1uas ‘L | ‘uoiBuiuuad 110sg
Juapims £q 104S UdY) ‘sSe|d Ynm
a3msoy pjoy uepoisnd pue J3yed)

{meag parejaz-Sued ul 1oys

.A_xr_ P313A0ISIP SIUAPNIS ¢

suray ydnonp jias roys ay *aderuew siy
3o dnyeasq 3340 passasdapapioins

3A0 SUM AP 210J3q WINIIA |[1} PNOM 3y
patseoq 7 Jjey Suo] s, wnd1A 0) padafqo
PRy oym ‘p| ‘esto) Auueq 4q paqquis
83179 15349 w1 A}pareada 1oys

pro-awaf-g
£q rois1d M J04s Ajimuappds

#iZ¥aa 40 ¥BAVD

291JJ0 S JOJISUNOD
2oueping apisino jooyos 12

[00Y2s WOy s50438

{00Y3s Jo Juos) Uy

WOOISSE|D [00YIS

WOOISSE]d [00YIS

o0Yy3s wouy
awoy Kem uo Aemqns uo

playeq Lidwa s, [0oyss

13901 jooyos Aq Buipusis

100Yds JOYE {O0YIS IPISING

1ooyas

INZGIONI 40 NOIEIVWOOT

5 i

v
T

-

L1 'Sy [spuey

(YS iV MUWnS g ON'15)
L) ‘owoy jaejey

§1 “vosuyor (eydIN

91 *2ory smusuiag
UBIPOIS) *| §YIIH UIATRW
4333

8y ‘PIARQIOW BUURSQ

91 ‘sakoy |axy

piend
Kinoas jajoy sefop se'y

‘6€ 'URjON WeW

91 ‘23unep ey
81 ‘vosuiqoy Aosuo)

L} ‘e Aqiomyy

AN ‘Oakinuy
1004oS YBH apafnuy

VD ‘0831 ues

10042S YBiH 13A00H

VO ‘Aeg voissiy

100425 yB1H Aeg voissIN

v ‘spe8uy sor]
1o0yds ySiy xeyneq

AM ‘voskain
100YoS yBiH 398D 1587

AN ‘uosfein
100yos yBiH saue) 158y

VI ‘uosog
100yog ySiH uosog

3N ‘sedap s

428 ySiy Joung O uwey|IM

X1 ‘Avoyiuy
431H Jo1usg-solunf Kuoyiuy

14 ey
10oyas yiH purpsoN

. vd ‘sjon
tooyds iy Logrep sanbog

TOOHOS

L1 *A0Q3N
1Y VA T4
£6/8U! -
£6/TU ‘9T
£6/1U1 $T
£6/81/1 1]
£6/81/1 €T
£6/S1/1 g4
€6/€1/1 1z
£6/T1/1 ‘0T
£6/21/1 61
c6/B/1 81

_£661

!

11




10045 [BALI UI0J) JU3pNIS PjO-1K-9] M
snq uo Jusumise SuLmp 13y Ut Joys

TT Yum pedY Ul Joys tapIoIns

61 ‘euassue) [ondiNy
saquiow Sued Bupysas-oBusaa £q Joys

535588 uns Jo Jied © J9A0 pn3j
Suyuuru-Buo) e ut *g| ‘zanBupoy uyor
sewsse)d Aq 1283ep b Yum paqqers

‘ uoleIuOU0D
BueS o) s3pueisAq Juadouui ‘oys

Ce e
39jsuen oq ‘sdnos3/s3ued 1938 jeAn
Jo szaquaw 3q 03 1yBnoy suapnIs 7

‘S| ‘preal uaqoy AqIsayd Ul YOYs -

10045 34 8 JUIPTYS

8 0s[E ‘PuUaL4j|418 5,0][n5ED JO pudly
-Aoq 1duut0) ‘| Z ‘ojjansy 35531 £q und
-puBY MBWOINBIUIS WL 6 YIIM J0YS

{ooyas 0 1yBnouq pey 3y ayu woos JSNU |00Yds
0£-0€ Yum peay u1 j{as 10ys :3prans Je3U Wo0Ja10s j00YIS
100Yos yBiy

Kiaqqos yuasedde ut 1oys aAnEWN|E 01 ABMIOOP
. 0Joqsauof uy p3ydiem sjuapms
[ooyas dAiewWwa| Y Kiuno) uoile) e Ot se 8uingre asom
WIPNIS L1 ‘PIRYANUIS UolwRQ 1UIPMS SIUapNIs-UoU T 3yl asaym
uoike) YUON-X3 Aq 1539 U} 35UO J0YS’ 101 Supped jooyds
aseyd 29j0d Suunp as58Y9 331j0d SuLinp
peay ur 135 J0ys ‘opidins ‘283 s1y ut jooyos Buraay

3195 10ys ‘apioins
HIV3A 20 aBAvD

=)

O A

{ooyds 03 snq A1j> o

BLIdRJRD [00PS

Keme 53001Q 7
‘looyas 0y uraup

Kemjjsy jooyss

(1ooyas woyy 532019 9)
jooyas wioy awoy Suryjem

100495 JO JOPLLIOD SPISINO -

ZarBAlY (poqezli3 ‘pusy8

plo-1eak-L [ 51y 10] patiem
S8 {00YI5 IPISINO I8 JO Je3s
5,J9AUp Ut Buinis Aym 10ys

‘w'e Og:9 I8 spunosd jooyas uo

INAJIONI 40 ROIIVOOT

91 .g JNUON

. asowoydos
‘S 1°5S0aD) WIBIPM
L| ‘zador] s as0f
(srew)

1 ‘zeusunyf [98uy

(spway)
9] ‘opeSjaq otdoy

L1 *Asjsu3g ueays [eapIN

00Yy2s 12 JuspmIs
‘L1 ‘oj|se) maspuy

1 ‘Adop oug

waprus

I ‘YosRg
loots yBiH waseapnos

VIN ‘m30n0(D
fooy5 YBIH ss30n0D

VD ‘wuy nueg
1ooyds Y81 Amua)
AN “WOA MoN

ST 10049g YBiH soqung

VO ‘upasay
100Y3S Y81} puejaA3)

VO ‘epasay
joops ySiH epasoy

XL ‘see@
{ooyds yBiH frequuy

NN “32A0Y J1PPIIN
10042S 1970y 3iPPIN

2q ‘voiBuiysem

*1T ‘'UOSYIBL M (IAULIY PRIV IS XIg-uoiBuiysem

100yd5 YB1H sojsuUey
*3 upwefuag 1B Juopms
‘g1 *Aepijoy sowsp

L1 ‘soa0] Auoyuy

1 ‘odtusawo] uosep

{8YRIZIOIA

v ‘Auno) uoier)
100495 YBiH uoiker) guoN

VO ‘prmiel
1ooyds YBiH uopg wnop

VA ‘puoupay
[0oyas yBiH Jotung puowpay
TOOHOS

/e
€T

€6OUT

€ATUT

119 2714

€681/

1% /4

€T

tVIT
ava

‘6¢

‘8¢

e

1

g11

-Nn .

]

gls




andsip
1UIpMS 0} J3pURSAQ € 58 301M) J0US

0Z ‘uoiue]g pIemp3 [38YdIIN Aq

uonms Aemqns
100498 Bulaea)

4q ey oy yBroay oys1yBiyisy 10 Sunpred jooyds

wnuBepy £5¢° Bmpjoy 7 153y Ut Joys
tAqsassed Aq pasanoasip Apoq ‘ap1ains

191Inq Aeais £q peay ul Joys
ssaul)l [esusw jo Kiosty pey

[00Y3S WIOJ) SAIW M) B PIAI] OYMm
‘TY “1aquy, piaeq Aq 33msoy pjay

Busaqsaye unBloys yum YoBq Ul 104s

puatyp8
Z3UIUBIA] JO JNSU) §, WNDIA J9A0 L |
‘2aulLB XB AQ PE3Y JO %o8q UY J0YS

ajpusse]> Joy SuINoo] SIAPRAUI 1RO B

yeaiq Buuds Suunp -
paso> Buipjing [ooyds
Krezodwa) € Yreausspun

Jooyds e awed jjeqaseq

Kemijey jooyos

puswyd yum Kemjjey
[oos us Buiyjem ajiym

‘91 'paoy JauEY AQ 1Y YIIM PIGQEIS WOISST]D SIPNIS [B1305 Y

E..m_oﬁ yum tpnok 4q Joys

3J0j3q

W8 3 193w yden Inoqe Juawnie
11e-10§-334 Juapms-g € Buunp ajjuy
Suured uayduy € ynm 1s3yd Ul paqqes

61 ‘UOSYIEBY BpUBMET] PUILAJHS-Xd
4q jorsid qum pe3y jo yasq us 1oys

13 pjo-2A-p| yim

JUIWISAJOAUS S, WO[|IN) JIAO Juswndre
ut woD wekig psempg Japass

«6 PI0-24-G 1 £q 10ys pusLy P WHDIA
HIV32a 40 3ASNVYD

Py |ieqaseq
1ooyos Juoje puatyy yum
53134319 Buryjem apym

E:..:u :o:.__suE
21219J83 J00YIS

jooyos 3 Aemijey

Aemijey j00yDs ,
INZQIONI 40 ROI&VOO1 ¢

€2

(sjpw)

§1 ‘uewjod L)ja1

91'susaIn uslag
. (wuapuodsap

43y payodas sayiey)
£€ ‘Suipsey aumon

(yse02 anBea) spy)
. €p‘uosme pad

(3s1mu j00y3s)
1§ *Aeq ajose)

L\ “a ‘sesspjeq asof

91 ‘uosuiqoy uoser

91 ‘uosuijor YOUPOA

91 ‘suretiiim - Atg

~ (oqew)
L1 ‘lleH Auoy,

§1 ‘uosqiD seaupoy
8)IILOIA

VA ‘vorsog
jeoyds yBjH uosog

ON ‘yBpey
100y>s yS1H yooqyiN

VA Bwode)

© “yoS yBIH ewoyz . wunow

VD ‘omdumses
10043 YB1H wein

VI Ruysnay
00495 PPIN pao]

X1 ‘Buiay)
100yds ySiH ZunN

VI “pnounreq
tooyas Y31H ynounreq

V0 ‘ousuesseg
100Ydg ySiH wesny

X1 ‘uekig
1ooyos Y81y Jewey

ON ‘smois
Jooyos yBiy ssuuing

VD ‘wapey
fooyas yBiH wapey
TOOHDS

VIS

115744

oY

€691/

117974

1154714

11.9/47 4
11.7/7) 4

11527/

E/ST/E

ewBI/E
nva
il

-

‘w

sy

14

glz

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

13




¥

"|O0YIS 18 AR

01 SujuyiBaq ssam upyYd pue

‘Asdoine  s13yoe) $8 "W'e OQ:L I8 [00Ys 1B

Supuad “pesp JO ISNEBd UMOUXUN

SJuopiIs 18 Ajwopuw)
Bunooys saye J[os 10ys ‘apdins

sun@ z Snkares o411y 4q toys

Buipnaj u93q pey WIDIA WOYM QM
wapms Aq unSpury ZZ' @im 104s

s1938u29)
220 T ‘gl ‘Muw) uoser BNA Aq
Bupyaefae> Bupnp 3300 pesq u) Joys

T L] ‘Anuan souem
uyor [t Kjjewsaw £q pedy ut Joys

wapnts £q [orstd W6 YuMm 3w ¢ 10ys

widtA Aq PA1[InQ U3dq pey
oym ‘il |Feyny vosef pjo-24-g|
£q anpwoIne Wk gum pesy ut Joys

so0y

wC WOl Y12ap 51y 0) padwin tap1dins
9 HIVEd 20 35OV

Kemaz33:q u) peap Suik| puno)

PI3Y (12q100) [00YI5
$58]9 WAS

Kemifey jooyds

B11319J8D [0OYIS

jooy3s Kamuawmdp )
2830 PINIOM IS JIIYM
WOIIIISLNN] WIOL) PAINPGE

«Auadoud flooyds] jjo wSy
ax),, 0} J0}25UN0D [00YS
Aq pio1 Bujaq soye ‘uirey 18

alynas psekjooyds ul

ss}d A30(01q j00YOs

100435 JO 200} Wl
INIQIONI 40 NOIIVOOT

9

pooyioqyBiau uj paar]
uRwOM '€ *SIN[ BUIIS

6T .:s-:soz WA
§1 ‘UOWIIN SNOYENI]
§1 ‘30jAB], snasey

(pasn3 Bujssoud joons)
9¥ '4aman | upIYIE)

81 ‘pears|aArL], Uy

S| ‘wepsoQ pieseD

91 ‘uuemg [BYIIN

(401ABY3gsIW J0)

uoisuadsns JoA0 Juapuodssp)
i ‘sadoo) aupuy
(shRxIdIA

VO ‘sajeBuy soy
43§ "U3WI|Y INUIAY UIAIRI £6/TU6 ]
AM ‘UBpUNS
. 100498 IPPIN [BAU)D £6/81/6 £ 2
X1 ‘seieq
100yos ySiH tjaass00y €616 €
VO ‘quepy .
fooyas yiy sodrey £6/1€/8 T
v0 ‘spiduy s0]
jooqas w3 aLuje] £6/6/8 K|
$6-€661 ‘1824 [ooydS
AN ‘uaD Supjmog
10otpS YBIH poomudsn UL s .
V1 ‘suBQ MIN
(oos YBIH spoydIN c6LUS b
vd ‘H Py
“Ya8 YBiH uswoppdg saddn eIvYs ‘€5
" HO ‘pusiaraD
20u3JI§ Jo
100405 ueBIoN naLED tozus L
TTOOHOS 3IVa ‘ON !

o




qfemopis uo Suipuess yinoA £q Joys

. " uondope
10 dn Aqeq ind 10 uoiioqE UB JABY
03 118 apensad 0) patn 3y Laye ‘g1

‘Asjiegy woUNER ‘pudtyyhoq £q paqqers

uswung paysuw Aq Ajpareadas joys

K13qg0: pardwaye Suunp

*61 ‘sauor sew() Aq diy 29 peay w1 10ys
‘9| ‘sauof Aoa] agewssse}s Aq
SIBWICINBIWIS YNM YOBQ Ul J0YS

0£/01 10 67/01 PAN0 Yie3p

‘ueA 1 punoj Apoq ‘pajSuens

Sy

p| ‘aueg ueas: 13adsns £q

ayruuad YuMm 33U Ul paqqeErs

Eu...:.w.a. _8.._3
u1 pjo-14-g Aq paqqers
ssquiIdw
Bue8 £q Ajjmuapaoe joys
TE UM 3195 10ys 13pIoins
* sBuikers vy pasireyo yoq
M ‘7T ‘supmeq ‘g Auopuy P
61 “PImpey) uaAls ‘awred [[eqtoo)

dnydid uoowsaye eg u.__h..v
paumsd0 Suitooys pajej-gued

~
)

15D

4
L
i ‘ofespyd
100y35 0} BulALp Jed Uy 91 ‘opeMOW OPAY|Y  |00YdS YBH [eUYsa] SuB £6/6/11
QueuBaud sym 07) . vd ‘woiig
punosSKeid jooyas §1 ‘14D BunsUYy {00Ydg SUIAI]S SNIPPBY | £6/9/11
: 10 ‘wag moN
100435 ays Jo sdais 81 “3f ‘snsapaq janBiy 100435 YR UG MIN g6/p/1
dn uny yoid
01 Jayy J0g Buprem ajym - 14 "9fliavosxer
(00435 23 3pISMO P |SYIMIN UOSIIYI( PrEYINY 1ooyds yB)H sanred Aua) tevl
A (arow) 71 ‘oBea14D
(00ys apisino $1 ‘saqe4 ney 1ooyds yBiH uealjjng 6NN
jooyds Kreuatualg
SIIIPRO 23y punoy (s3ye) v ‘Aeg anumin
'|00yos woJy paronpqe 6€ “ASPIMEH UAJLYD100YdS ArElUawWR|g BXUNIE6/0E/01
snq }jo 108 aueg A S Vd ‘poomazey
Jaye dois snq jooyas 1 S| ‘1AuoBzoy [2eyMN [00YS PPN AUOISPEIDEE/ST/O1
: . VA ‘voudurey o
{ooyss e " 9] ‘u3||y [eAep 100Yds Y8y ueryBnosoNEe/81/01
doxs snq e 1IN ‘nonag
1ooy3s Jo yuoy S SN g 10045S YBIH PIoJpIAEE/PI01
S1uld [00Ys-ul Jo . 30 ‘pse) MaN
woosyieq jooyds 91 ‘sakopy mne 10048 YBIH 3240Q€6/71/01
(6T '1dog spunom Jo paip) oda ‘voiBuiysem A
prekjooyss (arew3y)'p ‘Yuuig s0une 100UoS “wajg SSIIIPBIM £6/ST6
G . 7 oa eoBuysem .
puekiooyss ! '€ ‘umolg ujA) 10040 "W9F SSILIYPIEIM £6/ST6

. HIVEd 30 IBAVO INIGIONI 30 NOILIVOOT . . TshWIzoIA TOOHD8 arva

i
ot
st
i
il

g4

ol

~ o

glo’ .

15




ol
@ \ o
/ : tad o
sq 1= Suyesm ordood HO ‘PoeoAs)) <L
§ Aq pawoyy 2 padwors ‘paqqurs tooys e dojs snq 18 §1'00MEM INed  PS PIN AU0OK 'Y SHNLD 7/ I 1 —
8uw8 (eAp Jo) Bupyooy Mo - [00yds o juoy W . VO ‘osof ues <
dnos8 £q uue pue peay v Joys 535 poed u) opm ynm T ‘so1y ousefoly Op{EASO 10049S w33 vorduiysem LY ‘L >
81 ‘wnosg phot 4q syswormeruss 38 ‘wqum0) W
19GHE TT' (i SIUM € 104yS Kmmijey 10048 20048 € L1 “deung isswseg 100438 YBIH 5D w3 [0/ I &
_ X1 ‘pauusoy B
M {p1m 138 104 IprIns WOOISSE] |00 L1 ‘oAt uo3g ydosop 100495 YBiH paruua)y iz st %
" 101 up wapns 03 dn oa0sp e Vv ‘BN €pus . o Fra)
1 ug s100dsns £q Yoys 0y Bupyred jooyds LU ‘szeung ujwefuog tooys YBIH sony s 7 I/
-paysyas-Sued Kqyssod (s pap
tws g soys ysuf ‘9| ‘wenHD ooy ‘C6/w/T1 w0 Yous) VD ‘qesusAsg '
wosy £Q S3AJ0A2) 1A JONS JO 5200 jw0S) IPISINO §1 *Auay vossp 10025 YR woeIg LU
] sspunes undag : : : :
+ *s3y583) 20UNIS AQ J0YS (uspusrunsadns) IN ‘235O v
tspunom joysund srdinu Surow gyers 100435 Ly ‘vpased ydasof : 1003pS YBIH LIMNOEVIN/TL k<4
: . VI ‘Asnqxoy
0ys tooyos o) Buryem 91 ‘umoug £ino tooyos yB1H 4siisug 1077 | 2
o)1) spy Joy poBBag mopiag 5o (jedyoupnd “gsse) . 1M ‘TSOmMNEM
11SMOQI °Q peuos] Aqumoppouund * Kemjjey |0OYdS ooy Pu0das 9p ‘MOpNG IRa 10048 YBIH 1M FSOIRMIE M Y AN 4
il yequoxseq Joye ufNod . . O *An) sesury
dn word 03 580 U3 pajIEM ) 5B J04S 10035 JO 1oL Ul £2 ‘weyBng sulemaq 100y3S YBIH 3919D£6/6Z/1 | ‘61
sjekoy K1) vouns pagied
Bued Jo JoqLuaw u3q pey WHNA . Uppiuds
PRy Ul 3NM} J0YS PAIIAOISID (00423 12 }2AIETS JOOPINO Pl ‘111 ‘33ed prosmy tooyos Amuowng Ais8preea/) i/l 81
. HAVEQ 40 SSMNND  INIGIONI JO NOIIVDOT SIMIEDIA TOOHOS RuVd oW !
. . -




W8y e Suump
‘61 ‘Pussumoy °d piewsag £q pogqus

ILIpTIs 3910 Aq pesen Buraq saye
101514 W6 Yum J[asusy Joys ‘apioins

paisjas-8ue3 aq 01 1yBnop
‘Bunooys £q-3Aup g U}
Auamsiw peay aip ut Joys

100yas saye wyBuisy
e Buigotem SpYM peay ut toys

. padduns sy ‘payjnesse
Ajjenxas ‘souni g| poqqeis

uetpoisna Aq punoj Apoq
195 paBusy ‘aplosns

pansaye Suaq sem oym
puawy e Sutpus)sp ajrym
unBpuey g¢° YIM peay ul 1oys

un3 gg e pajind ‘Suipnaj usaq
pey Swig WoyMm Ynm ‘wnaia 1sye
'S1 ¢ M 1D aewsse|d £q 1oys

wn3iA Aq paljnq usaq pey oym
‘p| ‘zopuewsay dijjiug avewsse)d

Aq ajtuy yum Wesy ul paqqers’

183 U1 31y JOYS

13453) uoneINPI
[B130ds 1UISIP 19ULI0) ‘B ‘Y0NS
Key Aure] AQ 8¢° qum oWy ¢ 104s

1ous
HIVEA 40 FSOYO

wAS ap

. 183U 30] Supped jooyds uy

WIOOJESE]I SAPIS (81905
jooyos Y8iH yemory

100425 oy apisino

[ooyas
18- 10 Suppred Jusps

Jooyds Areyuawa|3 soumoq
*IN PIEMPE JO [[PMIIEIS

j0oyds Yy s ‘03

jooyas woy
19w05 punouse dojs snq e

[ooyas 12

10] Sunped jooyos

291J0 SIAW 14 Wt

JO0Y3S 1B PIALLIE S8

[ROEDNS tuiute il et sl 1508
INIQIONI JO NOIL

o

{0y

100495 33 1R JojusS

‘g1 ‘sunjuar afioan

(1usprus pa [e130ds)
S| ‘pesH ueug

100425 1 1u3pHs ‘9|
‘sapuBLIag IISSI,, BSSI[ON

. 81 ‘uuedg vedy jseyoiN
§1 ‘sony w1530

(s100Ydg Jo quapuatuuadng)
29 ‘I3yanen °f yaqoy

L1 ‘uesg uaqoy

St .ma._m utmp3

dols snq [00YS 9 8 | ‘PrEAQNH YLUIEd PEYD

(1uapnys uonreanpa [B123ds)
61 ‘sunjizp UIAANS

(s1004d§ Jo juapuatuniadng)
LS ‘surepy 'y souref

‘1 (7 INOQE 10§ [0OYIS 18

131383} ‘SIDWWNG [BIN
8)RILOIA

VD .o_,__zﬂ_.__.:

amusuj jampeig

VD ‘Yooispoom
looyog ﬁ_: yemorg

VM ‘3ess
looyas yBiH prejreg

I8 ‘uorsapeyd

© 7 [0oyas yBiY yeas) 9s00D

VO ‘oiqeg ues
100yas YStH puotwyory

10 ‘pioysuey
61 121051 [00Yos [euoBay

: VD ‘oss1uR] ueg
_8__85_:».25__5

VD “owjag
1o0yds yBIH wowpe)

VO “fajeA 1uig
SH Jotung M3IA AajjeA

IW ‘no8ag
100435 YB1H Woqs0

. M ‘s19A Moy
14 ‘Aunoy 9o

VA Quess
[00Y2S 2|PPIN uBUDIYM
TOOHOS

v6/0L/E

P6/STE

e/ttt
ve/Si/E
po/sl/e

¥6/0UT

P6/SI/T

vo/vIrT

ve/1T

v6/8/1T

aINVq

.,
7

6€

gg
e .
9¢

€
e
13

K43

Tt




‘Bunwow 1o panee pey WA woym
um ‘9 ‘usityoD eyl £q und
13q1183 ZZ' © YIM PE3Y 3y U1 301M0 J0YS

pnaj jeuossad 3o )jnsas sB
*S1 ‘o9 M Nods £q toys

WA JO PUsLY I3uLO) ‘9¢

100Y3s 3y apisn0

100435 puiyaq
N0 (jeqIo%sSEq UO

‘lIeAcys auewinI ey2asy Aq ysun|

18 s13j00yds34d JO Ju0ly W J0ys

INUNOJUD [BNXIS B .—ocu
unpIA pojSuens ‘Aujiqeisul [euaw Jo
Loy e pey oym ‘g| ‘sprempg uslig

11515 5, Joyenadiad o )jnsuy Suj
- mo{j0) a1B1sSE|d Plo~2A-L | Aq payound
8Buraq saye jinys pasmcey % 113}

spuaty) 0y un3 Suimogs ajiym ‘gl ‘YooY
ouyk] £q 153yd u1 10ys Ajjmuspidde

Ppapeo] sem ssejd
w uny o) passed un8 mouy ), upip

Awasof ‘sypwissed
fPuauy Aq pesy uy toys Kjjmuapiooe
we 0g:¢ 18 punoy £poq ‘1oys

v ouBWOMBIIS 5q)[ed
08¢ YA peay u 195 Joys tapidins

Ausuap

MY % WIDIA PIPUNUI PISSIW JOYS.

‘fowsid ZZ° qum ‘0| ‘uosuBwsQ sawer
‘arewsse]d £Q 185 Ay puIyaq S3U0 J0YS
01 HIVYZJ 40 IBAVO

U A1 PIIYD dourpsy
qino& pajqnon

20§ |0OYIS 2 JIUD JUIUNBAN
JEnuapisas g Jo ued ‘jooyas oy
Jo spunos3 uo punoj Apoq

101 Supyred jooyos

pouad youny
Buump 10 Suped jooyds

Jiseag P Kineag,, Jo 63pIA
Supyorem aiym sse}d ul
{0oYyos jo sdas

ueiaq sass8)d>
2310J2q J00P Ju0Y) 0OLDS 18

punos8£ejd jooyos
INIQIONI 40 ROIIVOO1T

S| ‘udflv sukep Auresaf
© €T ‘suppmey Apuey

(23yoea)
0 ‘asto aumiQ

" [00y3s 9y 38 upMS ©

‘21 ‘mjodd} sejoyoIN

91 ‘yeneq Jreynz

(ns) -

81 zouowy preap3

€1 ‘Aeunjy soueud]

12 “1e3y2] prempg sinoy

Pe/p 10 PP
01 ‘=31 piaeq afhor

rO/EI/p PP
11 *yooyng Awap
~n- WNIIOIA

VI ‘smumno
100438 yB1H emumuO

Vd ‘BRs3pusi
10042 "wA3 sNsAPUBN

vd ‘uowpry
1ooyds YBIH voum samor]

AN “wesesld umopy
{ooyps aBeno) sjjiatuusealy

I “nonaQ
foowds YB1H paywoorg 1S9M

14 ‘1weIN YuoN
100425 yBiH 1weiy quoN

NL ‘SfitayseN
“YOS'PIA 200N poomos] uyof

2a ‘voiBujysem
1ooyds 4BiH sojung s08)3

. VO 'sopduy 50
[ooyds 5_..2_!“_ 0I0S 6

LW ‘onng
49§ "wayg A Biey
T00HI8

~ B

‘"W

voisuL 0
vevuL b
eiuL sy
eliie Ly
voUs o
vorus sy
oymp| weieg
ey

ve6lp  tp
AT A )
v

"N




1t

Kemyjem A

" J1% 10USIPINS | (00y3s PopMOID U 100YIS 18 S1'voyueM uaqoy
Jewooys Ho.mﬂn.!
4q worq ap u) sawj) ¢ soys {00yas je 91 ‘lieH 'V 18y
" swasydoziyes provesed
- pesoulieip e 7 jooyas e Juapns uegpoIsNa
Jauio) ‘Lg ‘528apar] v qay 4q toys 33140 jooyas I ‘Jaydoisuy) Jarag

Armuswa|g uosiayar sewoy)

Pe3Y Ul toys

ssepd e Buimo)joy
Aep wy 133183 wawnise aye .
syInoA ¢ 4q weay u paqqers
L1'voury uotadoy
£q y3au ur saum ¢ paqquis

.. lowd wug
Unm Jjaswiy pajiy uay ‘jediound
WBISISSE PIPUNOM 3 JOYS :3pIdINS

12BN POOy (£30] 18 UIPIIUY
Budwing Jaye pjo-14-97 4q
asuep A1 [[e apisino loys

<1 ‘dquaw Fued £q pesy ut joys

s13qwaw 3ued juaps Lq Joys

HIVIQ 30 IBAVO INIAIONI 30 NOIIYOOT ./.\ 3

12 ||em Aemazaasq e Juay S| ‘aue|ga] eukajaay
[ooyds wosp
$420]q ¢ diysiafeap Jeo 8
jooyds wolj awoy Kem uo S| ‘®aan) ospuefojy
. JIndsip [euosiad saye

{ooyds 1e Kem|jey papmoss L1 ‘uosyoer ajnqays

._..ovam papuadsns
10 Surysed jooyas 9| ‘vosufly sejoyatN
(100y3s saneway sajdieys

12 )uapms aandadsosd)

2JUBp 100y JBau 0] Suryred 81 ‘uedung uoaq [suoq
(yreap oy Joud

"S1y T "435 "4 papuadsns)

[00Yd5 wody Jiw duo 61 ‘UopIO Youwoy,

100435 apspno ume L1 ‘znY opusjoy
(8YRIIOIA

14 Spepsspnery g
yBiH suspren yseag wiey $6/01/% ‘01
24 ‘uoiBujgses
100935 42j} ozopa) s6/s/ ‘6
HO "JB1pim
[00Y9S JPPIA AINNM re/LIL L '8
VO ‘ospureay ueg
100YdS YBIH oupuesy ueg ve/s/1L L
© VO ‘wourayy '
100435 YBIH uedLWYpE/ST/01 9
AN ‘UowdA Iy
10045 YB1H vowssA INPE/SZ/01 Xy
IN ‘ologqsusain
1ooydss yBiH Kajswunpsszi/01 v
VA ‘dqueag
100yds YBIH yseag sajurey v6/EU6 '€
VO ‘ojuswenes
100yas yBiH upoly $6/91/6 T
VO ‘poomAijoy
10093S 434 poomLjjoy ve/LI6 L
S6-P661 ‘184 jooydg
I00HD8 3Iva “oN !




IBWOINT JIGIEI $T” WM ‘7] ‘WORIA]

qeuop Aq pEay b} Jogs KjmyRappade

Suityx pim padreyo ame

*Buiieaq uy ued %00) Oym jmIoAas Suoure
‘81 Sounuag uensuYD P ‘gl ‘SAAN
auy'yreap o) padwors % payound

vew SunoA ¢ ynoqe

jawrenb Suunp L1 ‘proykep sysispy Aq
ajiupeydod € Ynm wesy At uy paqqEls
wpadsassip,, Jo 18 pasajie toj

28uaaas t1 Ajpayndau ‘yepessE UMOUNUN
4q "urd g 1noqe ||nys jo ¥3eq Ul Joys
Sunooys

AQ-2ALIp ut pusyaq woyy umop pauung
juejieSse _§.m=x_,.= £q joys

1 ‘paay Auoyiuy 4q joys

. unSpuey 1aqfjes-[BWIS YNM J0YS

T g1 ‘ophel peyn Aq
1e3p 0} U31E3q 7P PINESSE Ajjenxas

W 3_;_5.2 Aq ‘siaquaw Jued jeau

Buowre ynojooys Suunp Kipareadas toys

unBioys dug-jorsid
28ned-7) jjo-pames Sapioins

et HIVEQ 40 asavO

100425 3% rgez .b \r..w

ssepd> Kioxs1y §°n)
apisino Aemjjey j0oyds

SwBueyd asam sasse|d apym
WOOISSE]I [00YIS JO Juoly U

100Yds woy
awoy 183yds0(] 03 Aem uo

{00Y3s UI04) 33341S SS0108

pauels oy Yorym ul swed

[1eqiaseq wouy awoy Sutaup

awed 133905 jooyds o} Suiyjem

Woonsas JOoY o, J00YIs

1T 'suayig

passtusstp Susaq atom

yanys ysued reau

Kemy[em Joopino uo jJooyds e

INIAIONI 40 NOIIVOOT

a’

1) ‘s23A1Y GI3gez3

L1 ‘q3)puy qaozeyg

L1 ‘wuny esyays

1u3pTyS Jouoy
‘L1 ‘S3uIH-{j9A0] Auoyiuy

S| ‘ounjose) Kjuag

L1 *s12803 aysop

- €1 ‘veulue) sahdoisuy)

L1 ‘Zauannn saep

S14azWS aunsuy)

$35SU]2 SE {00135 JO Juo) LI1ZZ ‘Buno A suteuusar yefijg

Japes8 g3
€1 ‘ejounis uyor

{shazdoIA

X1, ‘opaa
10098 APPIIA S1I0mINY $6678 ‘1
¢
;. 96-S661 ‘182X j00YdY
VO ‘A s0qmy )
100455 yBiH suvoqreN S6/81/8 0T
S ‘sBundg AjjoH .
100y3g ySiH sBunds Aoy S&/ITUY 61
VI ‘uorsog
1ooyos yB1H uorog S6/6T/€ ‘81
" VD ‘uopporg
100yds ySiy uosipg S6/LY/E ‘¢l
i ‘oBedny)
SH oye) [enud) riomy S6)8IT 91’
14 ‘uorey evog
10042S appIy uny 81588077 S6/LIT $1
VO ‘yoeog 8uo
100495 Yy uepuor (14 B .
OWN ‘'sino] g
100435 yBiH yuoN 19niDoW S6/bUN €1
QW ‘uoumeg
100458 Y811 woysoN S6/EUI U
VO ‘spueipay
[00Y2S 1eSH pasdes S&/EUL 1
3
100HOS qva  "ow !

BEST COPY AVAILABLE




" 1043 ua3q IABY O) PUNO) Ja18) INq

* 8319 s, uosdwioy ), wou |8y

€l

Js ‘Alavng

100495 YBIH SPUH-SIARESEZINL

‘WA NOBUB WeaY 3q 03 JyBnotp ssny UMOP WOONHOM SIJOE3] U) ‘9§ ‘uuag sif1kyq
“J34363) IEW PUCIS € PUB )
3 ug ‘gg ‘vosdwoy ) Auuyor 554083 .
yrew Bunooys saye 19ajoAds J0qi1ed woonpom I8 ‘Aapng
TE PAIDIYUI-JAS YUM P31 ‘Op13ins (SI3YOU3) JR3U [[BY 1004OS uf 91 ‘oupdis 'Y 4QoL  1004IS YBIH EPUH-ONIANRIES6/ZI 0!
. uapiouy
WOOISSE)S J3Y8 SANUIW (6 [endsoy " woosssepd uy
818 paIp P pasde]|0d uBwOMm 183y suswudysse o Suyssed
0) sayound pareadai saye ‘aprojwoy Ofiym Juaprs po-seak-¢ 49yoe3) mysqns ON 'sino] 1§
* 858 YI6ap P31 JIULWEXD [BIfpI 4q fyporadas paypound apesB yip ‘i ‘st wpeN 100495 Armiuoutayy {[sRINS6/01/01
Yyuyjo
IPIN PARIN ped Jo ino aeusseyd paysnd
-Sued v uj 9| ‘zapjeA S0y 0Keys 9y se penb [R2u20 5,j00Nds - v ‘Ao
paBajpe £q apejq 4our ¢ yum pagqers 0 38po 12 [00yas 18 paqquIs 1 ‘BRA sOpu) ooPSYBHAomD - seEml
p1 “uosuyor
suaBng yuay £q jo1s1d spewoine 100438 o apisino T4 ‘samAany
“IW3s W 6 B YILM SIS €] AUWOS J0YS wnf Aemazaasq jooyds ug oys €1 ‘[esswumng Lsof (00495 IIPPIN sAseAR) $6/0€/6
*Aoq © 1940 Juawnfe Suunp sew :
-sse(d (418 pio-seah-z| £q youdyoeq woy ng [o0yds o : AN ‘ssnpooy
PaiInd 331Uy Yeais & yum ¥33u up paqqers 108 B se [00ys 2y Jo 1woyy U €1 ‘suaap) suydarg 100495 JPPIN WoRIIYIF S6/1U6
8unooys 0 soud yoom 8 Swed Sujwos ) os3aunuop
. -Wioy 5, 100435 18 WE3) YUON YIOPIIY 2918 YLoN yiel0 UOSIIA JUIPNIS YUON 1810 SN ‘o
PAIRIJOPp Py W3] UOISSIA FOUMBYS  UO PEIP puno) WA J0ysuns Jo u13n0d 6| “somzesq |1ondf 10043 YBiIH yuoN o seivi/6
awed fjeqio0)
100498 Y81 yuoN uoissiy  dnyand Sujudas Aepung seyna
asumeyl; (oAl woy ‘21 ‘SwEIM © Suunp 101 Surypsed (ooyos
Pyl ‘wadsns ‘unSpuey setwojne 100423 ySyy o u1 pasaed SH ape|0 18 uspms ) ‘gmo .
~1wos sBUIULIL SIQIED ZT (M IONS  PMOID B 0JUL JBD WOLJ PAY SIOYS ‘orBaudtuopy vosyim 100495 Y81 QuON ogImI0 s6v1/6
sapes uiu . - NI ‘siyduspy
1 ‘12440D snquunjoD Aq € Y J0ys Juswnire Aemiiey Ul ioys g1 ‘jj9@ 2OUNBH 02uU0L 1004Rs yBiH sorung ssauddy $6/2U6

€1 HINIQ 20 IBOAVD

INEQIONI 40 NOIIVOOT

i (T FE37Y oo v
. . o AY

‘ot

-

gln'

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

g1




vl m.mw

uue sy u paqqers sem i B yorym ut 148y [0oyds e Burass Inoqe 13y

Ajpes dod v 158 w3y v Bu1s9s 1noqe Jay uonsanb 03 uay) swes skoq 1afeid jjeqlanseq ¥ NL ‘siydwapy o
pauopsanb oym sipnok £q 1says ut Joys Jaye JWwoy 12y 3PISINO 10ys anasofew e ‘G| ‘sauof (|amar 1o04og YBIH sesseuB’ 96/61/1 ‘0T
100435 3y} oju1 YinoK Butaayy paseyd aangj e dn yoid 0) awod uo)Buiysem N W jooyds o ‘uoiBuiysem
pey oym 1982Ua3) poxsRW-IHS B KQ 0K pEY 3y 2I3YM O0YIS UCISUIM 1B IIPPII Jodoy 1B uspms spmiB (ooy3s
Su3ayy © Jo peatsuy K|jBIuapIooB Joys  {jamIEls Jo Buipue| Jooly puodds Yysio ‘p] Saydojg uojureq  Aiunwuio) uOSUIM ‘H BYUBN 96/61/1 61
. . vd ‘paud
PB3q 24) U} jjIsuly Joys :Ippns 100425 qBjq Jo [lamIrEs Uy “3praB 01 91 ‘3824 ugor 10093 qBiH psraiD Ul 8l
dojs snq 1 1803 S NBWSSE]D € JO 1203 J0j 3|1yNn3s Buunp Joys oq ‘unBuiysem )
A13qqos Suunp sypnoX paysew £q 1oys ‘looyas soye doissnqie L1 ‘YSIBIN I1HONYD,, SIIBYD tooyds YB3IH [I1H uoxOSe/vITE LI
AN ‘susand [
53U 5, WNIIA punose uieyd pjos oy : [ooyas yBiH
pajuem oym udw Bunok 10 T Yum . jooyas oy e Jojuds e JBNUYII], 3P [BUOIBIOA .
WM UOIITIUOL O3 J3YE (B3P O3 1048 [ooyds Jo juoy ug L1"3jqueD ujuand . uosIpy VvV SBWoYLS6/8T/ 11 ‘91 y
NL ‘SI1IAUUAT _
"1y YiBw ‘6 ‘KduBA (018D fooyos YBIH puRIyUS6/S1/I | ‘s 00
pud1j18 J0j paydreas oy : NLL ‘3jj1Auuk- .
se asnoy Aq pajj1y s1ayto Z ‘pandie pey _ 1uapnis ‘9] ‘suifi0D sueid 100y3S YBIH PuBIYSIYSE/SI/I | vl
Y woym yum .v_._o_.c_.__w SIy 10§ pajuny .
ay se ‘LY ‘asnoy wer JUIpMs ha Jayoeay NL .0—:>..—§J )
Aq ayu Zz B UMM pIjIy PI0YS € Kemjjey jooyds yBiy ut ssaujsnq ‘gg *191504 ukjose) 10049S YB1H puRIYIIISE/S1/1 | €
(‘papunom .
SeMm JOYI0) SWHIIA JO U0 0) Sunnsu)
Kjpsuodind .&8 dea 3peWIOWOY J9A0 [ooyas ) NL .n_iEu_.z
wwswnfse Bulnp pjo-seak-9| £q 10ys Y1 woyy $330{q T 193415 B U0 §1 ‘Kusg xaly fooyds YBiH (1ompeas), $6/9/11 Tl
SINPE ¢ 3 SIUPMIS PI|qESIP
10ds 151n0) €1 YA paj[Y snq PazIds
PII1EJ J9PUALINS JOJ SYIEI UIYM tumesas 18 paddols SHI yum popurBsip sanem 14 ‘yoeag 1weN
satjod £q paj|1 1oys % soys sax3ely snq snq jooyds jo Aemioop ul ‘TP “Bues N, OUI[EIR) snq jooyas Kyuno) speq /] — 1}
vl HIV3d 40 ISAVO INIQIONI 30 NOIIVOO1 SYRIIDIA ‘TOOHOS VG oM !

( | : s . A /




|
“J31130.q 5, UNISIA KQ BY SEM OYM “S081S "aWoY pY $1q {00435 U0
428uno£ 103 u) Bujpumrs °g| “soxjem 32113 3 Jo 1515 Jo8unok 1y
sukemaq opsesoy £q j1uy Sujases oym ‘3a1posq 298unok 1oy ut 100435 o3 3e Jojunf @ QN YQuaD .
B QUM 15340 3 0RQ 2 U1 paqquis  Suppuers ‘owoy 51y wouy 30iq 8 ‘91 a1 ‘auum KD (00405 yBiH yaaas00Y ouesy 11/ S T4
2195 104s 2 zinb Supye 21045 1snf wod apead yig) ON ‘uopuor] moN
oy jorsid wur 6 paj[nd Juapnrs :aptoins ss8)> exqadje uy ‘g1 *Aspiny aturer 1004yds YBIH Ajumis yuoN s/ile  of
"POIP 1978 oy ‘('sow 9) saryBrup 9661 ‘€T WS ‘PoRp ey : .
WOqUN §, WA PUT WHXA Y ‘P asmtewaud ‘sopde) puoumq OW ‘sino 1§ 6
(Pas3A0932 oym )'09°uurwaue] .
PIeYoRY ‘SaApp $nq und asqiped (ooyas “uaprys usuBasd - OW 'smo 1§
8€ {im 104s P Sq PasIud wew Gunok 0 Aem 10 51q {00YdS UO *S1 “J0jAey erunky (ooyds YB1H wowngog 9W/6UT 8T
: ]
siuawnBae/sysy Suto8uo jo skep ¢ '
2910 ‘G| USAID OV PN awoy 53pi2 snq 40j dn pouy VO ‘yeuusavs 7«/
Aq jo1sid SnBWIOINE QBE" UNM JOYS  SIUBPMS 5B SPUROSS [00YIS UO ‘L1 ‘WM 2upa) sukemq {0042 yB1H supyuar WTUT LT
s1uapms ¢ Suunfu) ‘mopuim jooyds PMOID B MEIP 0) MOPUIM JBD JIAJ0AS J2qI|EI 8E° pash .
ySnosyp pauy @ 8oy waswisseyd | woy Aouow pasaneds oy ataym  *3UBWOS P3|1e) 1310 Juapuodsap VI ‘ONV ojeg
Bupunom ‘pmoud ojur. wopues ‘HN03 ||BqIIYNSE] J00PINO OJUO % possandap Ajjeain)d>  [00Yds sapEIISYE uni-Ajateasd
- 1 10ys Apuasedde WA SN 9AOIP WNSIA YOYM ‘SIS Up  JapesB 1| ‘9] ‘Aojpeig seiBnoq  191U3D UONBINPS BINSUIUSY-PI 96/ ‘9T
. VA ‘3YE] S350
W3pNIS ‘p| ‘BIIA [30UBNY (ooyds YB1H sorung sanucag UT s
VM ‘oe] sasoy
‘uapars ‘g ‘24 “4 plowy looyds YBIH sotung sonucag %UT 1
seyexno] Aueq pjo-1eak-gf 4q ypresp 10045 3ys 18 s5e}> ‘jediouisd 231A Jo 3Jim P jooyds 1o VA o%e] s350
O J0yS. 2M SIUIPMIS T W J3408318  yiew dpesB g saueD sa ul 131383) ‘6 ‘su18) " BUOY 1004dS YB1H soiung Jaiuosy Y/ A 1 4
Japanws 32u3ap 15| :paSueyd usdq vy IN ‘nonaq
SW3PNIS Pjo-1834- | T |Ieap O) paqqels Kemjjey Jooy pug e ut 91 ‘uosIpuY snuRwWaQ tooyds yBiH Aquaq 96/0€/1 ‘w
uawom [RsaAas Suouwre 1yBy e sure jjeqioyseq ¢ saye NL ‘stydsapy
8 dn xeasq 01 Jurki Sfjym 15940 UIIOYS  [0OYIS 3P PUIYIQ 1oy Bunyed uy S1 “If‘J0jde) UUdD (004ds yiiH ise3 171 N 14
St HIVIQ 20 EBAVO  INIGIONI 40 NOIZVOOT SIRIZIOIA JOOHOS aavd “on !




+Q

9
“YB1H uepsof pue ‘pazifeadsoy % 104s osfe
pewSg 1S UsOMIaQ SWES [jeqiooj  sBM anok atpoust-urd ) Jaye
© Suimooj 39Keqd jreqroo) jooyds  Ajipioys jooyds yBiH (3rjoyieD)
Y8) uepsof pjo-1ek-L | © £q Joys pIetiog 1§ I8 youn 3 Jedu .81 ‘sewoyy Sy (0B
"phog A3smg
Jo uisnod ‘6] 30D eojey
, ‘phog "|00Y3s Wogy PISSIWSIP 3q 0 © ‘phog
Kasmg jo pueqsny poBuenss ‘sz ‘phog UUP{IYD 33 13Y 30} UISNIOD UIAS JO 3)im poBuenss
U2ANS £q PIYIY PUB 10YS USWOM IOq  J3Y YUIM [00YI5 Apistno Bujitem ‘97 ‘pAog-uoixng Laseig
_ -asoqng
oyu) padming Juapms 8 23 1snf ‘w's 03818 (9q sTEP
Pa1an30 Bupooys ty3om ¥ UBYE $33120)  posad Jsa)) 3) 238 NUITIOW ] sa8aA 9} 20}
00435 JARTULN|E IY) U] PIAHJOIUI URG JAJ0AI JIIE-BE" ® QUM (0043s Jv J24383) gspidua
puq oga ‘9)“ar ‘asoqnq pravq 4q joys 15342 aqy m Ajpaseadas jous ‘6y ‘avBiop 4 3dwI0Y 1Q
‘bl ‘Zowon
UOI3UISY JUIPMIS |00YSS Y3IH uoKoD Spualy oM) M
paljadxs £q peay pue 8af s uj 1oys 100yos woyy swoy Buiyiem v1 ‘onse) sataex
*asnoy Ki015-Z 03Ul snq Bulysesd a10§9q
siuapiaae ¢ Suisnes 3 pooysoqyBiou snq ul Juoje Aeme Fuiaup ! spuany
[enuapisas yBnosy Buipaads ‘snq j00yss pus Y31y ul uapseag OM) JO SIEIP JUIPIIIB JBd
Bunpoefiy soye wnuBe o€ woy eIng JIAUp Bunooys saye U332 39A0 WYBnensip aq 0y

1045 UnB PaLFUI-3{38 JO PILP ‘IPIoINS

‘Jusumise
uz Buimojjo unSroys a3nes-z(

PS2125 3y $NQ (00435 UO-PIIP

‘wrd gQ:¢ Inoqe 18 10]

© (1M UIDIA Joys Waprs plo-seak-9| Bunyred 00ys o Ul 10US

* *SM3U [BUOITRU U0 JwBy

aAd1ye o) Jutodund 18 00Yyds AP Jo

" jonuod 3y o) sK0q Jatpo Z pus uny 4q
10jd & Buimo(oj sopmuw qum paieys

‘g1 ‘paopssyIny udD Auoyluy payse|s
_TEQI 9 oLQ B 2 QN[ YiIM Ud1Eq

91 HIVIQ 20 ABONVO

{ooyas
Jo jonuos 9125 01 Joqd ul
urof 30U PINOM WA PAIBI)

skoq sapo 7 @ 2ping,, ‘yinok

paiqnon Joj jooyds Suipseoq
2458-09| I8 SPOOM UI punoj

INZQIONI 30 NOIIVOOT

wBnotp ‘g| ‘poodjyy unsng
81 “Jf uosiaqoy Aqqog

«IpInB,, e su pjo-reak-g|

B Y}IM JUSPNIS MOU B SB .

pauted usaq pey 114 ‘voley
308 J0 ‘9] ‘3jjannd (1M
S)RILOIA

N

VD Aoy (ap eAeyd
(ooysg yBIH prewg IS

vd ‘qydepeiyd
fooyds Arejuausa|g Lafpowrs

vd ‘eydiapeiiyd
fooyds Arepusuiajg Asjpoug

VO ‘epnods
(0043 JAPVUIIY QIHG

L6-9661 ‘1834 jooyos’

VO ‘uojjod

.1004y2s Y14 uojod

LN ‘sljtassojfey,
100yas 3PPIN ureyBurg

7V ‘eBapsjieL
fooyos yBiH uapajeL

ON ‘uossaned

Awapesy 1sndeg %24 upaunop

TOOHOS

QL

Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

E



LT

“diyssioyos IMI[YIB U Joj
1n0An Judd34 € uj Suimoys Jood 1oy
19A0 125dn 03 anp j]as J0ys ‘op1ons

"op1341104 © e yyEap porars fjod
yBnoys ‘yppeap Jo asnBd pasesjaun

*3u2as ay) 18 ssadoon aets [eao] Aq
paysaure 3uiaq 210J9q SIUIPMS S0
T PApUNOM 79 IIBWSSE]D € PIYYIY
osje Assurey 9| ‘Kaswey veAg

£q unhoys a8ne8-z| yum 104s

Ja1yBy) snareBis

v 3910 )ndsip padajje ue ut
pio-1eak-| © Aq yiBap O3 PaqqEIS
"|PurEY Woy uaxe pey wnuey
yo1em SEPIPY UR 2940 Juswndie ue
Jaye ‘| ‘wn3uepy (eauuos] Aq loys

sgnok ¢ £4q oupe ue uy ( papunom

Anieana 7) 104s suadj € Jo auo

$9ALID) UDAIS 1331350 20tjod BOLISIA

{ooyds Y3 uosu) uiof ursD 4q 10ys

"86/8¢/1 3panwi 3as8ap pug jo
POIIAUOD SBM SBUIOY] LaqUIdY
‘siudhrus [esaads Suowrs 1yBy e

Sunp nok pjo-1eak-gj Aqioys  Joye Aempjey JOOY PUZ S,[00YIS

‘pnay B Jaye snq {OOYIs B U0
‘b1 ‘uosuyor SIJIM Aq 13Aj0AL
19q)(89 TT' 8 YA SN § Joys
HIVAA 40 IBOVD

N

C8

‘Buieyd

19y aaosdilnn 03 moy Inoqe Y3803
19y yum Juounsie Suunp poy
1Iegaseq 313 uo aseq Proas Jeau

*1ooyds 18 paaLue Kay se Apoq
Y MBS UAIP[IYD JO JAqUINY B
fure £ inoge 38 13yoe) 8 £Aq
{ooyds ays o sdans uo peap punoy

soursu »35
Pajied 2akYy Aew so158[Rd

Kep a3 10§ ueBaq sasserd
210J3q 15nf 10095 Jo Aemijey ul

SIIBWISSE]D JO JUOY U [OOYIS

ay1 38 Supjing ans|yie oY) W

juswnde Suinunuod 8 uy
A[BM3PIS UO [00YIS IpIsINO
"w'e Opig 18 15940 31 Ul Joys

sasse]d Bupnp jogds 431q 3y
JPISINO JINOD [|BQIINSEQ & U0

2ured [jeqonseq WD v isye

papus pey sasse} potsad 11y

$NQ {00Y2S © UO PIpUI 1By}
Pnaj & uy Juaprus Y31y Jojuny
J|1AuosYI8( B AQ Y183 O1 10YS
INIQIONI 40 NOILIYOOT

148y @ Ut [00Y3s 3y apisIn0

Ll

~ Jusprys
£10U0Y 7 W) {{BqYOS ANSIBA JO
squisws L | ‘ssiiquiey) essIIN

Ssauppe awioy Jay se uoyeziuefio
A3850ApR SS3]2UI0Y © PaAAS)| %9
ANuUNWWos Ul umouy sem oym
‘udisuen ‘gp ‘aueT] UuY eysiew

121004s JO S1BWISSB]D pUB
atouodos ‘9] ‘sorgejed vnysor

" jooyss jo [edisuud
‘0§ ‘sprempg 3jeQ pjeuoy

[ooyas a8
Jo1uas ‘g| ‘poojqBunop Ksof

J9pea8 Y,
‘b1 ‘roure) andid uyor

Kepanjes uo patp qgnok
‘ajew ‘4a8e-uaay ¢

" KisBans saye | ‘AON palp

tuapmis jooyds yBiy
‘0T ‘Wnoy uosiduer 48z
SIRILOIA

TN sty

.,0— af ‘snisn3ny lweq

uapms 11| ‘sauof uowrey

14 *a((auosydef

looyas yBiH 1580 18414 L6/0TT
Yo d.-2=0>

{ooyag Armudwalg ujosurn L6/0UT
AV ‘Pyeg

1ooyas ySiH [euciBay [oypag L6/6I/T
AV ‘oipeg

tooyds ySiH [euoiBay japag L6/6112

N0 ‘sifed 819q9M _

tooyos yBiy sijed s13qqam Lo/t

14 ‘yoesg wied 159M
10049S 3|PPI UOISIULOD) LeiLen -

AN ‘ufyoosg

100y3s qB1q s1q3ia umos) v LN/

VO ‘ojudwWRISES

1004os Y81 spusiyBiH96/LL/1 |
OW ‘sino 'is

100Yas Y81y sauWNS96/1 €/01
YV ‘poomuys

WIS YSIH J01U3S IYYIAUOSHIBE

TOOHOS

bl

R1

K4

‘ou

‘8

L661

96/6/01
aiva

)

o

gl




b ‘Sewoy j9p xopy ‘vospd

wosjo4 woy snyBneisuew o) sjosed

* . o sonusf pany Aimau £q paysnud (nys

PUB PIYSES 1BOIYL “ORQ 1-Uf paqqers

100Y3S YBIH PIBAOH [BAK P (0045

) woy 8 (uaass Suown 148y v dn
Buppeasq Buimoq(o) yome weay pasagns

“201esd yoRn poysIuY UmOHA
33y® A[uoys suoseal pasojasipun o)
£'91 ‘sonbLUSH 3919d 4q {IEap 03 u3Yeaq

P
-8uvB.2q 01 paaajjaq ‘wnA Buiseyd
‘S1 ¥ 1 s3Be ‘ssoxowu Z jo | Aq r0ys

“53quidw 8uvd © Jou umNA yEnoy
‘poreru-BueB aq 03 parataq!paylin

30U InQ 104S OS[ SPUINY 1Y JO 3u0
‘Bupooys Aq-2Ap © u; e3P 01 104s
dfue3s Jo Yuou puels| A3GPIYA UO Julod
Ausqmeng 18 yd>eaq pare(os) uo oyse
Paysem £poq (apidiwoy paeaniow

- Kirenxas e pajns yreap ‘uonmxAydse

“2apanw. 3 yum poBseyd

a§§_8._s§.:_§8n..§ .

- "0C ‘zenBupoy piaeg

si_gigéogzl_x

‘WONIPUOS [B311L5 Ul P POGQEIS °L | w
.na_aos_#s&e “Aurevey paqqes

'skoq9aqjo | jopuay

. :nxo_.:sus 3 sem ‘paynuaps 1ou
‘pailieyd (pnoA pro-seak-9( tadidpuim
5, WNDIA %01 18D IBOND 341 0) MOjq B

8T HIvEd 40 IBAVO

)

ouson opu ® 1oy s (122

01 auoqd asn o} Juam ous pare]
-n3ods 51 11 3soym “wrd p Inoqe

no..n poom g _8__3 u !:8._ .
201430 01 18 v Supym ofjym 2010

UOJSRASILILPE (00435 IPISING

1%y B W) “We [] Inoqe pasdeyjos

. 'urd g0:6 INOqQE I Wwoos
%001 8£0q 1 Jopusf [0oyds

ap Aq punoj uma spesB ot

P3Y 3y 58 (00S APPIN
Sury Lmg seoY | wWos) 12905
. 9ip ssopoe pasdeyod windta

SPURLY 3y
Yim [00yos wos) swoy Supyjem

Jwoy way $I0(q T [004>s

03 Suijem sjiym paseaddesip

107 Bupped jooyos u

(00495 34 12 [JoMIIEIs B apisut

: 118 Jo. pusny
§ ;8.:283_32

Wam sanok 9 ‘sndwed jooyds
g o wnl pousad ysunp Suunp

IRIGIONT 30 NROIIVOOT

W ueN 220005 -

I01u3s ‘g| ‘eAowol SISy

._oa._.&-aa_o

JOJUIS P INPIEI 2N

‘09 ‘430l ) :vumE] uq

[1Equaxseq $oen Jo Joqiusw
‘9l ‘vosepy esjaIN

yBIH [reysssy 12
wopms ‘L] ‘zonbzeaA ueng

1 ‘uepy |sejoy

JopiB 15| °L ‘auied Yeiogaq

SQWIW 3330) uom._&

HOJI3Q] Z JO UOS 3 (00435 3P 18
upwysay ‘91 ‘weBwineg yuusy

BEpigm __8§ﬁ_._res
- Juapms ‘g| “tojhey Aaxqny

118 2 Koq Jo dnyeasq o1 pareras
1By pauverd pautof oym

Judpmis L] ‘niuey uneys -

S

[ 7SI

v ‘epur] ory
(ooyos yBiH wpury oty

QW wiqunjop

(00Y5s yB1H ax¥7 IpiIm

IN ‘diysumoy pjayseaq saddn
10043G '1H [euorBoy purpaqun) .

v ‘saps8uy 5o
100435 YB1H [feyRIE Uyor

VO 'usiA S

A._s:.!._...bz_s.saz o

7 .3&:,_8,

_8..8 baﬁeu_m JOQIEH RO

_ IW ‘nonag
100425 Y81 Buysiag

TN WRMIN

- (0049S yBiH suuokeg

HN ‘psoduod
(ooyds yBIH paoouo)

"TOOHDS

Lemu/s

reani

La/e

LeTE

Le/Lle

. Lewie -

S H

1T .

ot

61

96




L8

Ll
—
6t [aa]
<C
=
urd wVﬂ
T1:7 12 jo0yds saye pusyed =
wiysy eiojseow . pey sjuopms Jo dnosB asaym , _
) p3auBe Aot 'skep sop ponSre pey  ‘[ooyos yBiy ap Jo 1583 $Yd0Iq 1004498 24fd 18 asowroydos O Ay sesuwy >
WHA WoYM YIM ‘9] “upms Aq Joys 13) 8 “peg Aupy uppsmy vy 'S1 1IPmXEN 'V prempy ‘ 10049S YBIH Wsn L6/t /01 9 m
: ()
‘SIIPNIS JOYIO L PIPUNOM 2 10YS S Hed  —
Ajwopues 3 *L] “maq) ke eipk @ 91 rupsyD Jeou Supyiem ‘L1 *maq akey eipA . looyos ¢8I pead L6/1/01 'S W)
‘39JPUSN LULISUYD PIY|HY B [00Y3S 0F : Ll
JA0IP UIY] ‘IWOY 1B JIYIOW Pjo-3eK . o
-0§ SIY PIYIYY % PIQQEIS ISIL OYM ‘9 POIEP poy 131004s Woym S ‘Hed
"WRYPOOM NI Aq YL (M toYs 100435 Y31y PISING  JUIPMIS ‘9] *JIUIW SUISLYD) 1oops yBiH (reag L6/1/01 A
SPOOM ) Je3u pootpoqyBiou sseja-apprws 1004% 30 saded Burddesm
PIAL] OUm ‘| *IZUBH (anwreS $1Y UIOJJ J8J 10U BIIE PIPOOM pue Apued Juy|j9s wapnis N ‘diysumo ), uosxoer
£q pajBurns % paynesse Kjenxas 8 u) 6T ‘Wag ‘Aepuojy punoy  dpesd 19 ‘|| PWIM pEMPT YOS APPIIN IPINYIW BISUYD LEILUG g
‘s1o%00{uo £q uo paB8a uop J\b7
*WSIA AQ PIIUNE) US3Q PEY OYM ‘Sl b JO PMOID € £Q PasSIuNM ‘PIoY 100495 24 18 Joqun{ © . VO ‘nwsny S
*Aosojy paeysaq Aq 153y sy) u paqqus  3onsrad [{BQ100} 5,10049S 3Y) UO Jupms ‘9| ‘sauleD prevoy (00495 yBIH QRN Iamyinos L6/81/6 ‘T
*SUd3) pAquos) Ljjsuoriomd
40) weaBosd ¢ u) pIpJoaud ginok ‘ws 004 noqe jooy3s ay) I8 s0qunf ¢ v ‘Aapanpaag
PIo-Juak-p) ® q Jaeag uj paqqers 18 (00y3s 4By 3 jo penb uy Syuapais ‘L] ‘Zasag ouIqlY sadwe) 1583 'S'H Lapansag L&/N1I6 ‘1
86-L661 ‘183X (004§
‘apIdIWoy pate|as € Yiesp Y
PR JOUIUEX [BPIW IS LT YIIBN
10 Suy (esstwstp 18 yinoK 9 o ¢ Suowe
Suowre 13y e dn yea1q 01 PaLy 3TN ) .
JIYIOUE 393y USYM SIUN] [BIIAIS JBD auloy YN “noeiq sIY Jojsunod VI ‘iomor]
91 anoqe pdiary 3 punosd o1 paxoouny 12 Supsamoys aiym posduyios  souepind e ‘pg ‘YBnHIW praeg 1004OS APPIN UBAYINS wem st
Py sem
‘wosd Jojuss gt wosd asaym [(ey Bupares Lluno)
Suunp yuiq aaed Juspnis AEWI) PO PINOWUOR Y 1B WOOIYIEQ B U N ‘Aiuno) ueas0
-1eaA-g] ‘YIEap JO ISNBI PUIULSIOPUN  JNURIU0D YSR L) PAINIS PUNO) Koq Aqeq wioq Aimou  jooyds yBiH diysumoy £ooe
61 HIVEd 40 ABNVO  INAGIONI 40 ROIIVOOT S)RIOIA TO0HOS

B
i




0
D

(174
‘wisKanaue Bunsixa-a1d 8 pey WA
PasaA0ISIP SEM 3 uaym “jeyidsoy ul .
1yS1u 3xau palp ‘s1ewWsse|d pjo-reak o VO ‘wiapep ) .
-91 yum yBy Bunnp peay 1y @ (2 100435 343 JO WoOJ 43330] Ul S| ‘BZUBMY OJIAlY leoyds yRIH eaepay " el ‘S)
ju3pms A ‘yeonped 159M
"Pa{I1Y 219M Oym |18 € ay) 0) uonippe ajewdy ‘| “I08a1g 20Ky 10048 YBIH resy L&/ITL vl
U] PapunoMm 3I3M SJUIPNIS [BUCIIPPE ¢
‘wea} {jeqi00) §,]00Y3S AY) SO SIAqUISW . A ‘yeonped 1s9M
aulos se [jam se s1aquaw dnos8 Pa13y1e8 UM sUApMIS O W3pMIs ‘L] ‘sourer edlssaf 1ooyds YBIH yresH 1.9 7/4 NN 2 1]
1akesd 3yt Jo swos Aq sawm e pases) noqe yYaym uj ‘dnosd sakesd - :
u33q 3ABY KB OYM ‘p| ‘TESWBD) [FBYOIN {euuojul Ajiep j00y25-210§3q A ‘yeonped 1s9m .
Aq unBpuey 12q)jed TT' Yiim 104s & Bupnp [ooyas jo Aqqo| ul 3u3pnIs “p§ ‘A3|pEH AOYIN " 100yos YBIH yreoH L&/VTL k4 @O
“JOAOJ-X YlIM 211Bq APOISND plIyd ) ) OO
J511q 0} patejal aq Asw W L100p PIS SISSE]D WIOY PISS|tusIp aq jooyos - :
S J2Aup pauado oym uew Sunok & Aq 03 UIPJIYS Joj Tuntem aiym Iyl 18 1ySnep pjo-1esk-9 ©y) *Auno) olusundeg
(uawopqe ‘Isayd *§33u U1) SAUM P IOYS  [OOYIS JOJUOY W) UBA UI payyred 30 Jayrey Ly ‘uops3o] NN 1o0ydS ARIuaWwalg SPISNINDLE/E /T | 't
‘puarynd souniof Jupooys PuaLIIS Joul0f SIY PN 3Y WA JO pudtiyLoq pade-a3ajjod VO "MjemioN
Jaye yinow ul yjasuiy oys ‘opioins  saye isnl snduwes jooyds ayiuo ‘|z ‘Bueq u3q0y,, dru vOyY leoyds yBiH uu3D uyor L6-TT-01 ‘0l
Si3swiy pajity uay oym ‘yuspms ‘ : Buialj uszq ’ i »
Jsn-xa ‘Sueq M3qoy,, Sy eoyy pey oys woym yim pustijkoq
PI0-1834- | Z ‘puatyyKoq paBe-a8ajjoo uedaq sasse(d 210§9q  pade-333110d Yiim dn %0aq oym T VD “YlemuoN
PaIf AQ dNBWOINBIWIS WILLG (1M JOYS sndwen |00Y2s ay) uo apisIN0 1U3pMs *g] ‘UBLL UMD leoyds Y31H uu3|D UYorL6/TTO! 6
- ‘papunom AJjesnus sem ) . .
- °9| 0S| ‘PUILL JOOYS Y] IPISINO|COYIS IY) SPISING UEA B U VO ‘PuEpRO
“urd g 18 UBA © U1 SuInis 3)1ym J0ys SPUaLY oM} yim Bulis 3)1ym 1uapms ‘9] ‘33e] Ys07] 100495 YBIH SPUOWAIDINLE/OZ/O1 - '8
*awoy S1Y 18 Jjaswiy J0ys pjayug .
31|S97] PUILY JOYB YILOW U0 INOqE ‘wre §0:8 Noqe I8 jooyds 18 X1 ‘pueyen
Pe3Yy 3yi U] Jjaswily 10ys Juapms aploins WiooLisal jooyas e ul 101u3s ‘6] ‘[NUO OPUBULY YIS YBIH [RIUUIUGD MAIAMNETL6/V1/0] L
0z HIVEA 30 #85AVO  INAAIONI 40 ROIIVOOT SIRIIOIA , ‘TOOHO8 siva “on !




68

14

. : (89]
“14983] | *AIUIPIIS T PIPUNOM OSTE OYM 179y sonbueq apisino ‘souvp 85234 £ 20} vd ‘asoquip3 -
IS ‘p| WINM MIIpuY £q 0yS vopenpesS opesB-ig uv 1933433 © ‘B ‘FuAYD Uyor 100438 APPIN Jax1Rgd STy ‘9T M'N
10042% 34} 1k WOO0s . ON “IltH 1y =
PE3Y AU U) JI9%IY 10YS OPIOINS  ~(paq B u) BWSSE]d © Aq puno) ofeus} opesd it pjo-1eak-¢| 10048 PPN Qi) Aup) 86/06/€ . ‘ST AVﬂ
“UONURWIWE (im PIXO0TS (115 sdigo Jaysen L YV ‘osoqsouos ‘ <L
ynm sayu Summy z 2 sunSpuwy 7 ‘TE ‘WBUM uouueys 100495 SPPIIA pISISIM sevl/E 1T b
P340 P Wy papudyadde 201j0d - (a9
$|00YIS 343 JO YAIOU SPOOM 3 U} o uapnts WV ‘osoqsauop - o
wutod 9Bumuea v wouy pauy oym 11'RueA Y Aumug | 0OYIS SPPIN IPIISIM sevUE €T &)
sA0q 3y Aq popunoOm auam 1a4de) .
S0 | PUB SJUIPIIS 13410 6 °1SD . wapnis © ¥V ‘osoqsauof ﬂ
“wrd Q:1 $9® 1Snf oYL 2w IR : 21 ‘vosuyor atusydaig 100425 APPIN IPImISIM sevue T i
| % SIE p ‘papunos £jasye) sem ey _ (a0
A3 © J3YT [00LI5 PIYXI OYM K148 - Juapnis " YV ‘osoqssuof
% SIUIPMS J00YS 01 JEM U) KB] OM) : . 21 “Buidy uuy 3818y 100498 IPPIN IpIsISIM sevuE Iz
s ‘puaiyn8 s1y yum dnyeasq v noqe _ . . \
-KiBum sangy o ‘g ‘vosuyor (YN . wapnis YV ‘as0qsauo0f. . .
PuB ‘[ ‘uopioD) maupuy Aqroys  ‘wAB jooyas seau o} Suppred up 1 ‘syoosg jewN 10049S S{PPIIA OpISISIM T 86bUE 0T
"sdnoaB fooyos yByy 7 usemiaq aindsip W8y poBurireard  jooyds yBIH anAd wipURI4 1B (swoosy swau) v ‘dnyeing M )
Suop-syiuow © 13y Yieap 0 pIqqErs v12 wrd 00:p 3:0j3q AJMOYS  JUIPMIS B L| SUUBYINQ UOIBY | AIBIUDWIS(T SNUIAY [RANID) 86/6/€ ‘61 DO
Sued ynok umsy sjeIsey ’ VA ‘xepred
Aut), jo siaqustu padiage 4q 1ous 100435 3PISINO J83 Uy L1 "Wa3iq1y uolul)) praeq 100428 YBIH (reysiepy seLuT 8l
“§ans 8 pasondeip .
Aiieagpaws you yBuoq) ,‘jeuotsapp,, su _
Ay £qQ paqusIp {238 Y ugor jo anued [FRR@WWOS v N ‘soqol
Susit sig Swpmonio) Ji3s soys Lappins (00438 34 3pmno ‘19 ‘SEXRIIY ‘A AomsyRII) | 100%35 WBi nanoqoH seTIT L '
*2oud %00) apuyye ON J00%s
4314 3 18 22438) NEPSGRS S3mI0)
B ‘SEXEIIY A SPEIT ‘I K1Y i
41ejyu ue Juiavy sem (2385 JyBnoy) .
ORM ‘19 ‘SUXERW ‘A AOW(RRIID £q © T e (T 40) (00428 31 Ju N ‘s1oqoy .
toisyd spumojEnymas 0BC" § qIjm Jous 100425 241 IPSIA0  JIGIEI) ‘gp “af ‘PIIES Y myop . toon3s 4BH soqoy 867TIT 91
866
1£4 HIVId 20 3BAVD  INIAIONT 40 NOIIVOOT BYIZOIA TO0HOS |™va  on !




w
(B8]
=
(aa]
<C
=
. . 86-L2-¥ PIepdn <
1z SHVIA TOOHIS 13 SUVEA HVANITVD =
JA0EY HO4 JA0EY HO4 <C
TYVLOL ANVHO 1V.LOL ANVHD >
(31ep O1) o
66-8661 _ 1 8661 o
(arwp 07) . , (b
9z 86-L661 _ €€ Z L661 b—
’ D
114 16-9661 sz 9661 L
] 88
sg 96-5661 _ 62 5661
0z . $6-0661 _ . 9¢ 661
0s $6-£661 _ 09 o £661
“(5aq - Ajnf- 1eak jesued) | (29 - Ajnf - sedK ferued)
§s £6-2661 Ll 66! QO
. (isn8ny - zaquandag) WVaA
SHLYIA TV.LOL uV3A TOOHIS SHLY3d TV10L WVANITVD : : AN}

403241 Aun2axg ‘suaydals °q pieyoy ad ]
LLT6SLE/SO8 (X8B3 » LL66-CLE/SOR 3U0Ud o TIE16 VD D3BIA MENRSIM ‘067 IS ‘PAIG SO PUSSHOYL S91¥
133837 K135 (004G jeuopEN 3Y) jo Hoday Isnoy-ul

. Sl DSSN U SHUN03I8 Paysiiqnd £q PIJEA0GOLI0D 31k JEIMBIOP SY) U} PANSY]
sqIEaq *ISSN 2W) PIYgaEas aaey sBuiddypd yons [ Jou ey 3jqissod 5} 1) ‘sadpasas Buiddyyd sadedsman uioa) uaxw} s} UOHEWIOJE] 3IULS *AIAINS JYLUIHIS € JON SION 4
Auadosd (00425 10 ABIYIA/SNG [OOYIS YO JO UO JSYISYM ‘SIANSE JO S/UOHISUNY ‘SALIPIIU [OOYIS JO 1RSI 1P SNOIAQO SE (p
“1u9A2 Pa105uods-|OOYIS [BISLJO UR WO 10 03 Kem Ay UO sBm 10 Suypuane sem uosiad sjiym (g
. . 100Y9s B Yons J8 suoissas seynBas woyy so 0) Kem g uo (Z
Y(sooyas aanewaye Sutpnjow) ‘71 apess ySnonp uaueiopur) ‘ooyss Anepuodds 1o Arewawald reiysosed Jo meaud a1jqgnd Suiuonsuny 8 jo Auadosd ap uo (|
:pauns0 Anfuy {B1e) 3y YIYM Ul SN AU YD 1) YIESP JUI0JA Patejar-suodesm 10 ‘SPIdINS *IPIILOY AUB 51 YIBIP IUSJOIA PIBIOOSTE-{00YIE Y (UONIUNAQ

JuIsILJ 3Y) 03 661 AIf
UVIA TOOHIS 0 pue YVIA YVANIATVD 0} Buipaory

: INNOD SHLVAA LNTTOIA AALVIDOSSV-T00HIS TVLOL
[44 HIVEQ 40 3BOVO  INAAIONT J0 ROIIVOOT (STRIISIA TOOHDS VA ON




16

€T
86-LT¥ _.3._..5
T SHLVYAATVLOL ALVIS-8E _ nt SGOHLAW 11V | 11T SWILLDIA
m i A SWILOIA TVIOL TVLIOL
| _ m
ERREREE uEEo»B 8¢ _ ARRRRRERREEE puejlAmp ‘61 _ g NMONMNN
| I UISUOISIM LE | g "BUlOJBD) YUON ‘8] . !
'RETEREPRRR yun ‘9¢ precene euljosE) YInoS 7| | . STERR NOILVIXAHASV
— ...... ﬂEoﬁ—xo .Wﬂ w o .......... gﬂ BUZ...@— ) A8=0_°_> 8 Buw—av
_.. .2-—&5: Ez Qn “ 0 ............ hﬂu-.-—:u! .ﬁ— ¢ _ ...... ¥U<.—n—.< .—.¢<m= .
proecee gz MM " [ BEASEEEEERE SESURY ‘Pl m i m
— ....... sgz .NM m . F ............ :&_——0_2 .m— ” . — ............ oz—°z<—.—
| R BIOSOUUIN CI€ ; B1quInjo) jo insiq ‘zl |
— ------- “5_“_-5\— -°n M “ ----------- %————0-—- -— — , — --------- AU‘_U_-WV mz:q .
— ---------- “g— -ON W “ -------- §§z °— _. , —- . m“—uoz—g o.—. BO\—m
Preeeees a5mmepPq ‘8z | grrr e souqyy 6 . g ONITONVULS
EERTIE suozuy 17 | 6 MOA MIN 8 AR QaLVIAY-ATING |
N ........ a-:-&.-> ON ﬁ O ............ —.—-—Omm—z h H n ...... Hvz_..—\—<n—\=nv§& f
N ......... asx nN O ............. ﬂ_m.—go 0 N-— ....... Q“h-(\—mzénm °
RRERE NNIBUUOY) pT o1 - eluejsuudd ‘g S AR ONIMOIN/LVEE m
PATRERES BWRQRIY €T - (o1m15) uojBuiysemy  p L " $3aINs - 0§ =SITVWI4
rARRARERRE eNselY ‘7T [ D epuoj4 ‘¢ | £ DNIHSVTS/aVvis .
o oo ‘1z 4 ERRRREERERERE sexay ‘¢ 9z QNP(JN&-QZGGU 191 = SIATVIN
i .ll..'l.l.lﬂl.. H..(.)“I_IQQQ'_M@.“WM_!EHQN; ov ......... Q_Ech:—“o .— . NW— ......... cz-—.gzm :
(wasaud o) 7e/L (1uasaxd 01 Z6/L (1uasag o1 T6/L : 958.& o} Z6/L i
‘sy1eap |B103 Jo N0 ‘SYIe3p [E103 3O N0 ‘SyIBap {810} JO N0 ‘sy1eap [e101 Jo no A108a1ed _
aters Jad SyIBap Jo saquinN) a1eis Jad syresp Jo saquinN) ~ Ki108a182 13d syieap Josaquiny) 1ad syieap jo saquiny) ,
aiLvisyad - : dLvisSuid ) SIONVLSHWNDUID : ! X3as
SHLVAQ YAGWNN i SHLVIA HIAGWNN ' TYNOLLIGaV ; GOHLINW i SHILIIA
o 1033341 2A1IN33x7 ‘suaydas ‘q pjeuoy 1q
LLT6CLE/SO08 X8 o LLOG6-ELE/SOB :3U0Ud » T9E16 VD IBEINA IMENIM ‘062 ‘9IS ‘PAIE SHEQ puesnoyy s91p
49)ua) L33)eg jooyds [suonBN A Jo J0day Isnop-uf
Juasasg 3y 03 2661 Angp
SHLV3d INITOIA GA1LVIDOSSV-TOOHDS 1V1OL 4O Z?Oﬁu—ﬁmu_ﬂ TVORODALVD - ,

HAIV3AA 40 ABNYD SNIQIONI H0 NOIIVOOT (SYRIID "TOOHD8 arva ‘ON

- ’ . ..4 . :




APPENDIX B — WRITTEN STATEMENT OF JOANNE CANTOR, COMMUNICATION
ARTS DEPARTMENT, UNIVERSITY OF WISCONSIN

e




Statement of Joanne Cantor, Ph.D.
University of Wisconsin-Madison
before the
United States House of Representatives
Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Families
Washington, D.C.
April 28, 1998

Joanne Cantor
Professor of Communication Arts
6150 Vilas Hall
821 University Avenue
University of Wisconsin
Madison, WI 53706
(608) 262-2285

91)




92

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, I am pleased to appear before
you to present my views on the causes of violence in children. For the past 23 years, |
have been a professor at the University of Wisconsin, focusing my teaching and research
on the effects of the mass media on children. Recently, I have participated in the National
Television Violence Study. research that explores the television landscape and the harm
done to children by exposure to television violence. I have a book due out in September
titled “Mommy I'm Scared.” which helps parents protect their children from the effects of
media violence. Finally. and not the least important, | am the mother of a nine-year-old
son, so I can address these issues as a parent as well as a researcher and author.

As you will hear today. there are many factors that contribute to children behaving
violently. Having done research on this issue myself, and having reviewed the vast and
growing literature on this topic. | can say without hesitation that media violence is a
substantial contributor to our children becoming violent, becoming desensitized to the
consequences of violence. and becoming fearful of being a victim. Media images of
violence make their contributions both in the short-term, immediately after viewing, and
in the long-term, as a cumulative effect of repeated exposure to violent images throughout
childhood. There is an overwhelming consensus on this point among researchers and
among public health organizations. Our youngest children are the most vulnerable, both
because they are in the process of forming their own sense of right and wrong, and
because they are not yet adept at distinguishing fantasy from reality. A recent meta-
analysis of more than 200 studies involving more than 1,000 comparisons showed that
viewing violence in programs of a wide range of types consistently contributes to a wide
array of violent behaviors -- ranging from stated intentions to commit violence to actual
criminal violence.

Research shows that the way violence is portrayed can make it more or less likely
that a child will adopt violent attitudes or become violent. For example, violence that is
committed by “good guys.” that is shown as justified, and that shows little visible pain or
harm is more likely to be imitated than violence committed by evil characters or violence
that brings pain or punishment. The National Television Violence Study, which recently
released its Year Three report on the most representative and extensive sample of
television programs ever studied. showed that not only has violence remained at a high
level on television (3 out of every 5 programs contain violence), the way most violence is
portrayed is destined to promote children’s aggression. For example, in more than 40%
of programs with violence. the “bad" violent characters are never punished; and only 4%
of violent programs portray a theme that promotes nonviolence. Moreover, more than
half of the violent interactions on television show no pain, and almost 40% of violent
interactions show good guys behaving violently. Ifsomeone set out to design an ad
campaign to promote violence by making it seem glamorous, effective, risk-free, and
painless, they could hardly do better if they tried.

.
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When we see children commit unspeakable and unexplainable acts of violence, it
is natural to ask whether repeated exposure to media violence that is glamorized,
sanitized, and trivialized contributed to their behavior. There is no doubt that each
tragedy is the result of many unhealthy influences working together. But when a child
resorts to gunfire to correct what he sees as an injustice, is it unreasonable to think that
repeated exposure to violent incidents on television -- 25% of which involve guns --
might have provided encouragement to act that way? In many of these well-publicized
incidents, the young perpetrators seem surprised at the severity of the consequences to
themselves and their victims. Maybe the fact that violence on television usually
underplays violence’s negative effects has something to do with this.

Although television violence is not the strongest contributor to children’s violent
behavior, it is the one over which we may have the most control. Producers and
distributors of television programs make choices of what to show, and it is in their power
to provide programming that is more or less likely to produce harm.

What else can we do. besides urging the media to be more responsible?

We need better parent education about the effects of media violence on children.
When parents understand the harmful effects, they will be motivated to act in protective
ways. We also need to promote media literacy education for children. Teaching children
about the effects of television and teaching them the ways in which television distorts the
reality of violence can help reduce many of the negative effects of what they see.

Speaking personally as a parent who has a TV, a major problem is that TV
automatically makes availablée in my home thousands of programs I would never select if
[ were making the choice. Rather than having the option of selecting what I want my
child to see, everything is accessible at the touch of a remote, and I only have the option
of playing defense -- actively working to shield my child from what I consider the worst
of it. Given that I must play defense, [ need accurate information about the content of
programs. TV ratings can help, but only if ail stations (including NBC)' use ratings that
at least point to where the violence is; and the ratings will need to be assigned accurately
and consistently. Blocking technologies like the V-chip, that will permit parents to keep
the most harmful programs from entering our homes, will need to be effective and user-
friendly.

'NBC refuses to go along with the amended TV rating system, implemented in October,
1997, which adds content letters, including a V for violence, to the original age-based TV
Parental Guidelines. The Year 3 research of the National Television Violence Study showed that
without the content letters, the age-based ratings of TVG, TVPG, TV 14, and TVMA are
unrelated to the presence of violence in programs.
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If all of us want to help parents socialize their children well, it will be important
that research be continued to monitor the TV landscape and to keep tabs on how
appropriately television programs are being rated, whether the existing rating system
needs to be modified further, and how well the V-chip and other blocking devices are
working. We need to ensure that these new tools really heip parents reduce TV’s
negative influences and help promote children’s healthy development. In spite of the
enormity and complexity of the problem of child violence and the fact that aggression-
promoting images seem firmly intrenched in the television landscape, I believe that media
education for parents and children, better labeling of programs, and effective blocking
tools can really make a difference.
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NEW STUDY REVEALS GLAMORIZED VIOLENCE CONTINUES TO PERVADE
AMERICAN TELEVISION

Research finds more prime time shows with violence and children at high risk; age-based ratings
» not enough

Washington, DC - Despite continued public concem, the final report of the three-year National
Television Violence Study finds TV violence continues to pose a serious risk of harm to children.
The study released today also concluded that the proportion of prime-time broadcast and basic cable
shows with violence has increased since 1994. The researchers determined that the way TV
violence is portrayed encourages children to leam aggressive behavior, among other risks. The
study also found that most age-based ratings do not provide information about the presence of
violence in programs, affirming the TV industry’s declsmn to add content descriptors, such as “vV”
for violence, to the new TV rating system.

The study focused on key features of violent portrayals that either increase or diminish the risk of
harmful effects on viewers. especially children. Previous research has established that exposure to

TV violence can contribute to aggressive attitudes and behaviors, to desensitization to real-world
violence, and to increased fear in viewers. However, said Dr. Ed Donnerstein, study senior

researcher and dean of social sciences at the University of California, Santa Barbara (UCSB), “the .
effect of violent content depends on how it is portrayed, and not all violent deplcuons pose the same
degree of risk for viewers.’

" The study found that most violence is glamorized and sanitized. Across the three years of the study,
nearly 40% of the violent incidents on television are initiated by “good” characters who are likely to
~ be perceived as attractive role models. The long-term negative consequences of violence are
portrayed in only 15% of programs. when averaged over the three years. “These patterns teach
children that violence is desirable. necessary, and painiess,” said Dr. Dale Kunkel, assoclate
pmfessor of communication at UCSB, and a senior researcher for the study.’

Nearly three-quarters of violent scenes contain no remorse, cnuclsm, of penalty for violence, and
“bad” characters go unpunished in 40% of programs. Programs that employ a strong anti-violence
theme remain extremely rare. averaging 4% of all violent shows. Overall, the percentage of
programs on television that contain some violence is virtually unchanged at 61%, compared to 61%
last year and 58% in 1994-95.
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However. programs containing violent content have become more frequent in prime time, rising by
14% (from 53% to 67%) on the broadcast networks and 10% (from 54% to 64%) on basic cable
since 1994, “‘For those who think the TV violence problem is solved, it is not,” said Dr. Daniel Linz,
study senior researcher and chair of the law and society program at UCSB. “This increase in
prevalence is problematic since the portrayal of most TV violence poses risks, and prime time also
attracts the. largest number of viewers.” During the three-year study period, premium cable networks
consistently have contained the highest percentage of programs with violence, averaging 92% since
1994,

Researchers at UCSB examined the largest and most representative sample of television content
ever evaluated.in a single study. For three years, programs on.23 TV channels were selected over a
nine-month period to create a composite week of programming. Since 1994, more than 6,000 hours
of programming have been analyzed.

The report highlights portrayals of violence that pose a high risk for children. These portrayals
include a cluster of plot elements that increase the risk that children who watch will learn aggressive
attitudes and behaviors. A high-risk portrayal includes all of the following elements: (Da
perpetrator who is attractive; (2) violence that seems justified; (3) violence that goes unpunished;
(4) minimal consequences to the victim; and (5) violence that seems realistic to the viewer.

The study found that violent incidents that qualify as high risk for children under 7 are found most
often in cartoons. “Younger children have difficulty distinguishing televised fantasy from reality,
and are therefore at increased risk of imitating cartoon violence,” said Dr. Barbara J. Wilson, a
study senior researcher and professor of communication at UCSB. The average American
preschooler who watches mostly cartoons is exposed to over 500 high-risk portrayals of violence
each year.

The study was undertaken at four research universities, each of which conducted independent
studies--the University of California, Santa Barbara; the University of Texas, Austin; the University
of North Carolina, Chapel Hill; and the University of Wisconsin, Madison.

Ratin eficient Without Content Deécrinto

The study also involved the first systematic investigation of the TV Parental Guidelines, the
industry's rating system, which was implemented in January, 1997. There are six rating levels: TVY
and TVY?7 for children's programs, and TVG, TVPG, TV14, and TVMA for general audience
programs. The study’s sample of programs was collected before the industry added content
descriptors, such as “V” for Violence, to the ratings. . . .

The report showed that for most programs, the rating a program received was completely unrelated
to whether or not the program contained violence, Although the ratings of children's programs in the
sample distinguish between programs with vs, without violence, the ratings of general audience
programs do not. Specifically, among programs designated as TVY (All Children) or TVY7
(Directed to Older Children), a higher proportion of violent than nonviolent programs are rated
TVY7. In contrast, among gencral audience programs, the distribution of ratings is virtually
identical for programs with and without violence.
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These findings show that the agreement by most networks and cable channels to add content labels
including a V for violence was necessary for the identification of violence in programs. "If the
purpose of the V-chip is to help parents shield their children from violent programs, it will not be
able to do its job unless all networks adopt the amended system with content labels," remarked Dr.
Joanne Cantor, the University of Wisconsin professor who led the ratings research. The report's
recommendations urge NBC, which has refused to adopt the amended system, to join the other
networks in using the more informative ratings.

Showing Consequences of Violence Changes Adolescent Beliefs: University of North Carolina.
Chapel Hill

After testing prototype anti-violence public service announcements (PSAs) with adolescent
audiences, researchers at the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill (UNC), found that PSAs that
depict negative consequences of violent behavior are more effective at influencing youth beliefs
about handgun violence than those that do not. Many recent anti-violence public service messages
analyzed by the researchers portray violence with no depiction of negative consequences.

"This research shows that any effort to combat the overwhelming number of violent images with
anti-violence messages must make.clear that violent behavior can be personally harmful,” said UNC
senior researcher Jay M. Bernhardt.

“Violence in Reality Programs: University of Texas, Austin

The overall level of violence in nonfictional “reality” programming remained stable across the three
years of the study, with just under two-fifths of all reality programs displaying at least one instance
of violence (39% in Year 3. 37% in Year 2, 39% in Year 1). This level is below the level of :
violence in programming overall. In all three years, however, there are important differences in
violent presentations by reality program sub-genre. “Police reality shows invariably contain
violence in all three years. and tabloid news programs are more violent than most other reality
shows,” noted Dr. Ellen Wartella. dean of the college of communication at University of Texas at
Austin. “At the same time. talk shows feature relatively little visual violence,” she said. Across the
three years of the study. violent reality programming is typically found during the evening.

Project Background

The project was commissioned for three years by the National Cable Television Association. An
advisory council oversees the research and ensures its independence and scientific integrity. Chaired
by Dr. Donald Roberts of Stanford University, it includes representatives from such organizations
as the American Medical Assn., the National Education Assn., the National PTA, and the American
Academy of Pediatrics, as well as the writers’, directors’, and producers’ guilds. The study is
coordinated by the Center for Communication and Social Policy at UCSB.

Further information about the study can be obtained on the Center’s Web site,
http://research.ucsb.edu/cori/ccsp.htmi. ’
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My name s Dr. Scott Polund and | am the Director of Psychological Services for the Cypress-
Fairbanks Independcrt Schoo! District in Houston, Texas. [ have been a school psychologist for
iwenty years aad crisis intervention and prevention has been the highest professional priority in
my school system. | have authored scveral books und chapters on this subject and have provided

training sessions tor school personnel around the country. | am here today representing the
National Association of School Psychologists (NASP), an oryanization of 20 300 school
psychnlogists who promote cduc.nmnally and psychologically heéalthy envnronmcms for all
children and youth. | serve as the Chairman of the National Emergency Assistance Teum
(NEAT) for NASP. | ami‘ilso on the National Adv:sory Board for the National Associauon for
Victims Assistance (NOVA). NASP'ind NOVA have fonmed a very rewarding professional
alliance. | work with schooi children, teachers and parents every day.

[ also served as the team leader of the National Crisis. 'i‘cams sent to Paducah, Kentucky and
Jonesboro, Arkansas. lullowing recent school shootings. Thesc two communities asked NOVA

to provide assistance. The purpose of the National Crisis Tcams in those two communities were
the following-

. To identiiyv those most affected by the crisis and to provide them assistance.

. Ta provide guidance, support and tvaining to local caregivers who would be providing
long-term assistance in their community.

4 To provide an open forum-and public meeting (or all residents ol the community to

release emational steam and to receive immediate assistance and information about long-
term assistance.

The initial NOV A teams only stay i communities for 3 to 4 days and then leave ongoing care in

the hands of local carcgivers. Addit:onal assistance can be requesled from the national office of
AOVA .

[ have personally scen the pain and intense emotionality in Paducah and lonesboro. { faced a
crowd of uver SO0 parents und studetits 1n Jonesboro the day afler the shooting, angry that the
laws in Arkansas do not allow a lengthy iiicarceration for the youthtul petpetrators. They were
also tortured by the questions abuut why and how the shooting accumed. and why children are
Killing children. The NOVA team i:et with students, teachers and parents of the familics of the
deceased and injured. We provided processing sessions not only at the school but at the hospital,

police stations and in the churches It is clear that the path of the commwnities of Joneshoro and
Paducah hay e changed and things wiil never be the same.

We must focus on the prevention of youth violence in our country. [ had the opportunity last
Friday to present some of my ideas to the President of tho United States, the Attomncy General
and the Secretary of Educution. [ was one of a group of national experts on youth violence who
sat around a table 1n the cabinet room: and shared idcas with the leaders of our country.

I have been asked many times why these school shootings have occurred and why there seems to
be an increase in the probiems with youth violence. The answer is a complex one, but [ believe
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that we must recognize some things about young people today and make some very dramatie
..h.mges lwould like to outline seversl points.

l. Many young people do 1ot understand the finality of death. Psychological theorists have
outlined that by about uge ! 3, children arc in the advanced stages of intellectual development and
should understand the pennancace of death, and that death is a biological process yet. twenty
tive years of working with ctuldren have taught me that most children and even many
adolescents do not understand the finality of death.

2. Young people are very :nflucnced by the extreme violence that is portrayed on television, in
mnovics and video games. | belicve that many times children who commit violent acts are simply
carrying out what they see on tclevision or at the movies, Our society glamorizes violence.
Many children also sce violent acts in their homes and neighbothoods and believe that through
vinlence you cun get your way We must reduce violent behavior that is modeled for young
people not only through the imedia but in our homes, schools and communities.

3. We also must reduce yun availability to children. There are approximately 5,000 gun deaths
to children under the age of i8 cach year in America. There is a gun in every third home and
almust every child can ob1ain a gun in a few hours. We are all very aware of the dramauc rise in
the homicide and suicide rate over the last several deudes

I raise the following questions: arc children loday that much more aagry than children 30 years
ago, and were the members of this commuttee concerned about another child or teenayer shooting
others out-of unger when you were in school? | think we all know that arguments between
children used to be sentled with fists. | do not condone that, but it was very rare to have a serious
injury! The trigger pulls-the finger' An angry child who has access 1o a4 gun will use it because
i is there and in their hands. | krow that gun control is a complex issue in our country. but | also
know that guns represent the single yreatest threat o education and school children. [ am very
suddened by the shooting at a school in Edinboro. Pennsylivania just a few days ago. On behalf
of NASP this past weekend 1 provided school consultation services to personnel in Edinboro who
are dealing with the attermath of that tragic shooting.

1 have personally counseled the victims of youth vinlence and youth suicide. I have had many
conversations with parents where { pleaded with them Lo remove guns from the home of their
homicidal or suicidal child. Onc father in the aftermath of his daughter’s suicide with his pistol
said, “buf | thought that | taught all my children never to touch the pistol that | kept loaded on the
dresser in my bedroom.” Unlortunately she used it 1o commit suicide. The goodbye note to her
parcnts said, “why did you make this so easy and muke this gun so available to me?"' The youth
suicide rate is at or near an all time high; approximstely 60% of youth suicides involve & gun.

| present crisis intervention information to school personnel regularly and { raise questions about
the need for guns in every third home in America and share statistics that show that a gun is more
likely to kill a loved one through accidents, homicides or suicides than to be used to defend a
home from an intruder. At one prescntation, during the break I heard from two school
custodians. The first one did not like my cautionary message about gans. The second one
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showed me three fingers he lost and a scar on the side of his face from where his ex-wife shot
him in a iroment of unger. He went on to comment that he did not own & gun anymore. | also

support |egislation that prosecutes adults when their gun was used by a child to injure or kill
wimself or someone else. . . :

4. My experience after cvery school crisis hag been that students always had many reasons to
suspect homicidal ur suicidal behavior. Many times frieads or classmates were told very definite -
plans about homicidal or suicidal behavior. We must end the conspirucy of silence that atlows
guns, drugs and other weapons i our schools. There acc cstimates that as many as 270,000 guns
80 0 school in America. We must begin at an early age and teach children that if they are -
teeling unsafe and especially it somcone is talking about homicide or suicide that they must get
adult help right away. We must ensure that every adolescent also knows where to get adult help.

This is an ambitious goal becausc to end the silence will involve many changes in churches,
schools and our families. :

5. Lalso belicve that 30 minutes of every school day needs 10 be set asidc to teach children skills
such as problem solving, anger management impulse control, how to get along with others and
how to teet good aboul themselves. There are many excellent curriculum programs available,
but they will not be used in many classtooms without legislative mandates.

The American Psychological Association (APA) and NASP have vutlined the following
predictive factors of youth violence.

child abuse

violence in the home
Aneffective parcnting
media violence

Bun access
‘prejudice

poverty

substance abuse

| have had the chance to ask many school personnel what we can do about youth violence and
schuol safety. Their answer is that we must put children first, provide funding for children first,
and provide funding for prevention and mental health programs for children and their famities.
This needs to include funding for more positions in the schools for mental health professionals
such as counselors und school psychologists. Our society spends hillions of dollars on
incarceration and very little on prevention. [ believe that prevention programs could reduce and
eliminate the tragedies that we experience in places like Paducah and Jonesboro.

I do not have time 1o autline all the ideas that { have on prevention. Many of them will require
substantial funding allotments. My belicf is that the publie schools in Ameriea are doing s good
job with the limited resources that they have, Our schools are safer-than our communities, but
obviously not perfectly safe. We must increase funding for prevention programs and provide
after-schuol supervised activities 1o all children not just those who are gifted enough to make the
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varsity sports team. Supervised after-school programs provide the opportunity for young people
1o be menipred and have positive rolc models outside of their own family.

i uppnciate the opportunity to fatk with you today. | know that incidents like Joneshoro and
Paducah could huppen anywhere and that all schools in America must work on prevention and
intervention. Schoo! safety is an attainable goal that involves a committed student body, faculty

and community. [ wonld !ike to close with the lollowing quote, ““The future is the past in
preparation.” :

Finally, I would like 10 ask if we have a rationale to predict fewer school crisis situations and less
schuol violence for the 1998-1999 school year than we had in 1997-1998? Whal has changed
about our society? You have the power 1o work tnward nationally legislaied changes 10 reduce
youth violence. I hope that my comments help you in that imporiant work. A crisis is an
opportunity to make needed changes and we have had stiggering school crises. If we do not
make changes, then our past will determine our future and we will continue to.have a severe

= problem with youth violence.

Sincerely,
- Scott Poland, E4.D

Director-of Psychalogicai Services
Cypress-Fairbanks intermediate School District
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Good afternoon Mr. Chairman. I am Dr. Rodney Hammond, Director of the Division of Violence
Prevcntion of the National Center for Inju.ry. Prevention and Contml._ Centers for Disease Control
and Prevention. I am very pleased to be here todny to discuss the pubhc health perspecuvc on
violcace an children. I will (1) provide data about yomhvnolmee in our communities and schools; -
2) d:scuss somec ways we can intervene now to prevent violence, highlighting some specific
prevention programs that work; and (3) discuss how the pnbiic health approach can contribute to the

prevention of violence.

WHAT WE KNOW

Two main objectives in youth violence prevention m 'to-reduce the frequency with which youth use
force or resort to violence, and to reduce the lcfhality of youth violence which does occur. While
any violence ‘among children is disturbing, we should all. be particularly concerncd when that
violence becomes lethal. Homicide remains the second leadmg tause of dqnh for young Amcricans
between the ages of 15 and 24 and the lcading cause of death for Afncan Amcncans in this age
group. For children ages 10-14 years, homicide is- thie ‘third Ieadmg cause of death. What has
changed mosl dramatically over thc past 20 yeaxs has been lhc aucrgencc of fatal youth violence --
children lnllmg chlldrm. Althcugh there has becn 2 shglu decrease in national youth homicide ratcs
since 1993, the number of young people who dic violently remizins unaccoptably high, and the recent
multiple shootings in schools underscores the importance of addressing youth violence. There was
once @ time when parents felt confident ﬂmt their children were safe at school, but now lethal

violence has begun to appear in schools -- 2 place where children unquestionably ought to be safe.



111

. In the past several months, violence in schools has dominated the news and produced fear and uncasc
in individual citizens and communitics. Also in recent months, many have been shocked at the
profile of those involved. In the Jonesboro, Arkansas, Paducsh, Kentucky, and Pearl, Mississippi
shootings, all of the perpetrators were white males of an median age of 13.5; all of the fatalities were
white female of an median age of 14.5; and all of the perpetrators and victims knew each other. Just
this past weekend, the ncws highlighted another tragedy, this time in Edinboro, Pennsylvania, where

a 14 year-old-boy ft.atally shot a teacher and injured tbhree others st a school dance.

We have analyzed the data relali;:g to the recent events in Jonesboro, Paducah._ and Pearl, and we
also have compiled statistics from all other incidents of lcthal violence in schools where multiple
deaths occurred since 1992. Our analysis shows that whereas there were only 2 rocorded multiple-
death shooting ovents in schools between 1992 and 1995 (cach involving 2 deaths), there were 9
multiple homicide cvents in schools between September 1995 and the present. In addition to the
cases of Jonesboro, Paducah, and Peurl, 6 other schools have experienced violence involving 2 or

3 deaths,

Our snapshot analysis to date is based on proliminary findings from rescarch that tﬁe Centers fot
Discase Control and Prevention (CDC) has underway, in collaboration with the National School
Safety Center and the Departinents of Bducation and Justice. In conjunction with the U.S.
Dcpartment of Education, we are cxtcnding our monitoring of violent, schonl-associated deaths in

order to document whether multiple-death incidents represent an increasing trend.
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Will prevention strategies that show prormise in high-risk urban areas be spplicablo to suburbon and
small-town America? While we do not yet have all of the answers nceded to prevent all incidents
of school or community youth viclence, we do krow enougk 10 act now. This is what we know
about the problem of youth violence: '

This is 2 problem of children killing children. What is so shocking sbout recent events is the age
of the perpetrators and the victims. In recent years thc"a'vernge age of homicide offenders and
victims has grown younger and younger, a@ﬁng to statistics from the Departments of Justice and
Health and Human Services. More and more, instead of settling disputes with a fisi-fight in the
school yard children are taking l;utthCil' frustrations in far more aggressive ways. Data suggest that
youth violence has become worse -- not because children are ﬁghnng a lot more -- but because their

ﬁghtmg has beeomc more lethal.

The problem is not lmited to lp_nier cities. The Mt school shootings m small towns have
countered the stcreotype of youth violence us an inner-city, gang-related problem. In fact, while
youl.h hormcxde rates in major urban areas have dmpped n recent years, rates in mid-sized urban.
areasmconstmnorwmumrcasmglnsomem mspmanmaympresemdlespradofyouth
violence from our cities to rural America or this may be a totally different problem. There arc

enough diﬁ'en:nces in thie circumstances of thesc incidents to warrant a closer look.

Violence in schools occurs more than any of us would Hke to believe. Bven a singlc killing in

or around a school is a devastating event. We need to be assured that schools are safe for our
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children  Although violence in school settings represents only a tiny fraction of all youth violence
ommnuommwmnmmmm&]mgm1mdﬁmwm
lMMlMoawndmwmundnhools).ﬂnmmb«of multiple killings in the past 3 years
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well as in our schools. Schools and communities are linked in so many ways thst it is virmally
impossiblc to consider the problern and possible solutions in isolation. What happens inside andon .
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Homicides sre ouly the tip of the fcsberg fn terms of yosth violesce. Understandably, stiention
focuses on the terriblc tragedy of viokent deaths. But thero is an undertying layer of non-fatal violent
AMMMMumfciﬁmmm;ambwm Wedonot
have all of the information we need 1 quansify the impuct of non-fatal vicleace. We do know,
scconding to the CDC’s Youth Risk Behavier Survey (YRBS).- & national survey of high school

" students, that in 1995, mam@mmwmhawm'mm.uh :
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. than 7% had carried a gun. mmmummmeumjwwu'
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individual school settings. In at lcast two of the recent school shooting cvents, verbal threats
repcrtedlypmeded the killings. Thc threats were not reported to school officials, who might have
intervened.

The majority of school violence occurs among fricnds or acquaintances-not strangers. A study
of 1992-1994 school-associated violence found that 85 of the 105 deaths resulted from interpersonal
disputes -- not random violence inflicted by a stranger. In other wonds, the young person’s inability
to manage anger, resolve inevitable adolescent conflicts, or' rebound from a failed romance or '
rojection by friends too often fuels a violent, often Icthal response. “As Witi'l 8o many adult
homicides, these school-related killings can be scen in the context of personal relationshipe. In each
of the 3 recent multiple school shootings, all of the pérpetrators knew the victims. 'In 2 cases, the -
motivation appears to have been revenge for pen:ai\.red ‘romantic rejection; in thé other, the young
man apparently had mocked his pecrs who were part of a regular prayer circle, Many promising -
provention stratcgies focus on teaching young people how to improve their skills in managing anger
and interpersonal conflict.

Schools and our society in general are ill-prepared to deal with-the probletn of school violence.
We need more information to'dévelop response plans, policies, and trainitig to prevent vicience in -
schools. As a society, we haven't yet developed the capacity to respond to the problem of kids
killing kids, and we aré ot yet' equipped to réspond to the phenomenon of younger children
beeommgmvolved.aspapetmms and-as victims, in homicides. Inshnpmganeﬁ‘echvcresponse,

we must focus on prevention.
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WHAT CAN WE DO ASOUT Tins PROBLEM NOW?
I’rwumion-la possible-andwedon't- have to understand all the reasons why children commit
violence before we take action. We know enough now to invest in solutions that can prevent future
tragedies — in schools and communities. Violence prevention efforts focus on changing individuals®
 attitudes, beliofs, and behaviors; improving the social environment of familiés, peers, and the
community; or changing the physical mvimnmuﬂ.suchuaddruﬁngmofyoungpeq)leto
alcohol andothadﬁp.uweuasunéupwvisedm'lo'we@om. We can’t expect any single
- action (o solve the problems of youth violence, but over time, thesc approaches can make a

difference.

Research undertaken by CDC and other respected researchers in the field show that there are throo
actions we can take now that could have a tremendous impact on our ability to prevent school
violence: (1) increase efforts to reduce the propensity of young people to use anger or to resort to
uny kind of violence as a response to interpersonsl problems; (2) mmey to gencrate
better information about the nature and scope of the problem and to detiver tools to parents teachers,

and other community members; and (3) prevent the escalation of violent behavior into lethal actions.

BT ERIE CLHION] 10 Iediite 1N RIQRERSNY 1L YOUNE DEODIE £0 tB DY L 10 FCEOKT 10 AN 4!:'
of violence as a response to interpersonsl problems. Many sﬁatesies have promise, such as
puuﬂingpmmslhntfommonpamumdymngchildmnmduhobl-baaedﬂainingﬂmtmhmm
students’ social and problem-solving skills. Recent evaluations of such programs confirm that they

do have an impact on reducing aggressive behavior and/or violsnt acts. A number of youth violence
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prevention projects supported by CDC have shown cncouraging results. v These projects have
targeted pr;domina!ely udjan. high-risk youth and may be applicable to other arcas of the country;
however, these projects have not been evaluated in rural scttings. Ongoing, follow-up studics on
these programs will look to sce if these results are appropriate fortephcahon and continuc to show

promise over time. Here are some specific examples:

» Peace Builders in Tucson, Arizona, and Salinas, California, work in clementary schools to reduce
physical and verbal aggression by creating a “culturc of peace* within the school. Throughout
the school year, counsclors or other specially trained instructors, using vﬁom methods such as
modeling, role play, and sel f-monitpring teach students to interact socially in a positive way.
The main messages are (o praise others, avoid insults, scck advice, and speak up about hurt
feelings. The intervention hes achieved significant behavioral improvement. Teachers reported
an overall decline in individual problcm behaviors such as fighting and destruction of property
belonging to others. The foltow up study will look to sce if these results cuntinue to hold up

over time as the students progress through middic school.

» The University of Michigan is evaluating a three-level intervention to prevent aggressive and
violent interpersonal behavior among high-risk urban youth, ages 7-13, residing in high-violence
areas of Chicago and Aurora, Illinois. The first level consists of classroom-based training to
iwuummd_hwldgéamwonﬂminﬂumemandoﬂmm
relaticnships. The next level mlmmwﬁammMMpMMWw

small groups and peer relationships for high-risk children. And the third level adds a family
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intervention for the high-ﬁsk children and their familics. The results show that a combination
of clas;r;om. smwall group and family interventions significantly reduccd aggressive behavior
among study participants who had demonstrated higher levels of aggression.

» In l‘lich;nond. Virginia, the Youth Violence Prevention Program is a school-based project to
reduce aggressive behaviors smong 6% graders. The 16-session curriculum teaches studmts how
to use altemative methods to deal with violcnce and how to use adaptive methods to deal with |
anger. The program also has a peer mediation program that uses a problem-solving approach
to reinforce the skills students leam in the curriculum. The results show significant reductions
in fight-related injurics requiring medical attention, a lower frequency of threats to hurt a teacher,
and significont improvements in sclf-csteamn. Students in the program had fewer suspensions

for fighting, bringing weapons to school, disruptive behavior, and defiance of school authority.

» A study of a vxolence prevention curriculum for elementary school students in Seatile,

Wuhhgmmshwedapggiﬁveimpadinmdmingagg:miwphyﬁcduwmhaudngpm-

" social behavior. The effect was modest, but combined with a growing body of evidence from

other evaluated interventions, slnuldgivenshopethn.juﬂuviolmisalc_amedbchavior.it
can be unlearned.

wehavepnlhphcememmsmnwoﬁ.uﬂmkmmmﬁufumhgm
violence. However, we need a more complete response to this problem. Parents, teachers, school
administrators and othars need to have ready access to the best, most current, scienco-based
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mﬁ:rmancn. Tbeyneedtheshllstondeaufymdhelpchlldmnunsklothnlhemednsotm
lmcmumdthetngedluoﬂonubm Paducah and Pearl aren’t repeated.

Alﬁo\lgh we have bocn able to

gather some information on recent school shootings, we lack comprehinsive data on violent injuries
that are cansistently collected over time. It is not enough just to count cases of deaths amoug young
people. Descriptive information about the violent cvents is needed, such as the demographic
charactetistics.of the people involved, the relationship between the victim and the petpetntor and
.theuventyandeonofﬂxenuu-y A surveillance system that collects, mlym,mtupmu.and i
disseminates such data would provide valuable information for ‘'school administrators, law
enforcement officials, and other policy-makers. Experience with sound surveillance systems shows
ummmammen'eeﬁw}opu for guiding future provention efforts. For example, the Fatality _
Analysis Reporting System (FARS) has provided vital information about automobile crashes and
helped guide prevention efforts in tlm area of injury control.. Wc aiko need to provide technical
assistance and state-of-the-art information about what works to parents, tcachers, and other

community members who need to be involved in violence prevention.

Whilc fist fights and playground scuffles are
hnmﬁﬂ.weneedmembukonsconsmnvigjlmpnvmtﬂluehdmﬁumbewmingfdd Over
85% of all violent deaths among children 10-14 years of age involve the use of a weapon. Between
1993 and 1995, |f10-l4yearoldch|ldrmd1dnothsvemsuperwudmtnlethalwupom. 1,112
children might be alive today and thousands of other children may hwebeensparedsenons injury.
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Although homicide rates have begun to decrease, the recent school fatalities illustrate the potential-
for tragedy when young people have unsupervised access to lethal weapons. Children’s
unsupervised access to lethal weapons increases the likelihood that young people’s disputes will

result in death, rather than a black cyc or injured pride.-

lnpatﬁx_:ulnr, firearms were used in 90% of the deaths resulting from the violent use of a weapon for
10-14 year old victims in 1993-1995. Firearm-related injuries that did not result in death arc even
more numerous. For cxample, more than 21,000 sch.ool-aged children were treated in emergency
depamnem_s for fircarm-related injuries in 1995. We know that the lethalily of violence among

children has increased over time, and statistics show that the increase is associated with fircarms.

Public health can make an important contribution to preventing youth violence. We all wish '
there were onc simple solution to this problem of school violcnee. The realily is that there's no such-
thing. The problem is complex and the response needs to draw on the best that all sectors have to
offer: education, psychology, sacial work, criminology, public health, medicine, and others. It is
critical to provide lcadership and mobilize these diverse disciplines to seek creative solutions to the
problem o_f _\(_iglcncc. and to translate what we know from science into sound prevention programs,

Public health strategics can contribute significantly..

In public health, we are approaching the problem of youth violerice by.asking four questions:
® What is the problem? (Surveillance)
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*  What are the causes? (Research) .
. m&&ummppmmmepmwm?(mmmmevM)

* How do you do it? (Pmmnn implementation)

AtCDC.wemdteuingthcptoblofymnhviolam&mghthelmofmhoﬁhmﬂqc.
We are supporting reseatch to identify some of the risk factors for violence amang young people,
. such as the impact of economic and neighborhood charactcristics, access 1o fethal weapons, and the
influence of ethnic identity on young males. w-mme 14 youth violence
thmw«mﬁﬁMMdeMm
to be effective. Wehvebﬁeﬁydmihedﬂnomhgmhﬂimofmmm
L ‘romate positive social cnvironments for young chikdren and thir fumifi. Wo aiso bave produced
' » manual 1o belp communities develop prevention activities — Preventiow of Youth Violencs: 4
meam-mmmmmdmmﬁ-w
m’uwmmmm We also are pursuing projects

in the following areas:

* Schoul-bused Vishenee Prevestion. Schools newd 1o know sbout cffective vioknos prevention
-can help. ,Mpd-whamb_mm&wwm
systematically, including the Best Practices documont, when it becomes availsble. Mazry schools
mmuuuumummmuummw

" a3 designed. hmmmworm-ammmm
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Sdmolswithgddmeinselncﬁngviolampmmﬁon programs. But we are just beginning to.
fill the needs of the schools.

¢ Comprehensive School Health Education. Young people must acquire the skills needed to
prevent future injuries and'violence. To help state and local educational agencics and schools
promote safety and teach students the skills noeded to prevent future injuries and violence, CDC,
in collaboration with other federal and nationsl non-governmental organizations, has recently
begun the process of developing evidence-based injmy and violence prevention gmdelmes The -
guidelines development process has been successfully employed for the topics of tobacco use
prevention, HTV infection preveption, nutrition, and physical uﬁvity. It includes an extensive
review and synthesis of the literature on effective program components and the creation of an

expert panel to guide the process.

¢ Communication Skills Between Parents and Schools. Parents nced to see schools as a
resource fot help with children who exhibit problem behavior. The schools can tink parents to
programs in the community, but there is a gap in gotting knowledge to the parents. Schools can
help bridge this gap. .

e Parenting Skills. Parcating programs are important because the behavior of adults in the home

can have an enormous influence on children. Parenting skills training can make a difference in

preventing violence and anti-social behavior in children. Many parents need assistance to

12.
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develop structured environments, and they necd learn how to talk with their children about the risks

ofweapon; md fighting.

e  QOutreach to high-risk yooth. Many youth are not accessiblo m traditional settings such as
schools. We need to support the implementation of efforts to idontify and recruit high-risk youth
into programs intended to reduce the risk of violence.

These are but a few of the approaches that our society can take to reduce youth violence, including
violence in and mnmduh@ls. Our job as parents and citizens is to give children the chance to
grow up in safe communities and safe schools. Our job as public health practitioners is to use
science to help understand the patterns, couses, and prevention of violence among young people.

. The nced to prevent these deaths is urgent, and we have the tools to beyin to craft a response.

mﬁmr.toukzactioq‘isnow.. We must tum our efforis to proventing future injury and loss of lifc
to our young people. Along with our partners in other federal agencies, such as the Departments of
Justice and Hducation, the public health community can make a substantial contribution to

preventing violence among children.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my testimony. 1am happy to answer any questions you or other

members of the Subcommittec may have.

13
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Statement of
the Honorable Matthew G. Martinez -
Ranking Member, Subcommittee on Early Childhood, Youth and Famlhu
Hearing on Violence and Children
April 28, 1998

Good Aftemoon, I am pleased to join Chairman Riggs and my other colleagues at this
very important hearing. I know all of us are looking forward to the testimony from the
expert panel of witnesses in attendance today.

Violent behavior by children and youth has always been a concern for educators, parents,
and families. However, recent incidents in Jonesboro, Arkansas and West Paducah,
Kentucky and now Edinboro, Pennsylvania have brought extreme scrutiny to the causal
factors of violent acts by children and youth. Regardless of whether the violent behavior
involved guns, knives or other weapons, happened during the school day, or as in
Edinboro, at a school function, all such acts leave many in society, this Member of
Congress included, confused and saddened.

What causes children to act so violently often inflicting enormous physical harm with the
cunning thought to only be possessed by those much older. While research has shown
that a history of family violence and abuse of drugs and alcohol can contribute to violent
behavior, to what extent do other factors play a role. And most importantly, what can we
as legislators, but even more importantly, as fathers, mothers and concemed citizens, do
to limit acts of violence.

Earlier this Congress, the House, on a bipartisan basis, approved a Juvenile Justice bill
which was the culmination of many hours of work between myself, Representative Scott,
Chairman Riggs, and Representative Greenwood. This bill centered heavily on
prevention rather than punishment - reinforcing the family and community structure
rather than tearing it apart. Unfortunately, the House also passed another Juvenile Justice
bill. This bill, sponsored by Representative McCollum focuses entirely on the
‘punishment side of the delinquency equation.

Clearly, there are differences in opinion as to which focus to take in reducing violent
behavior among our children. No more so is this obvious, than in our debate on the two
pieces of legislation which I have described. I am a strong supporter of prevention éfforts
- early intervention, at a young age, can save a child from a lifetime of misery. While
there are efforts we can undertake at the Federal level which will lessen the frequency and
impact of violent behavior by youth and children, I believe all of us need to start by
looking at ourselves and asking “What am I doing as a parent, as a teacher, as a mentor or
role model to positively influence a child’s life? How does my behavior and my actions
affect my children?

Nearly all violent acts by children and youth are connected to some causal factor - sexual
molestation, violent family life, family history of alcohol and drug abuse, and many

a2z7



128

others. All of us need to do all we can to ensure that the foundation which we give our
children in our homes is nurturing and positive. We all need to remember that the apple
does not fall far from the tree.

Thank you Mr. Chairman.
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